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1

SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA

2

3
4

FRIDAY, APRIL 22, 2005
-

10:00 A.M.

-000--

(Call to the order of the Court.)
THE CLERK:

Number one on calendar r 2004CV656,

5 Cooper versus Brown for court trial.
6

THE COURT:

7

MR. HILE:

State your appearances for the record.
Good morning, your Honor.

Norman Hile

8 of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe for the Petitioner.
9

MR. ALEXANDER:

Good morning r your Honor.

David

10 Alexander for the Petitioner.
11

MR. KAZEMI:

Good morning, your Honor.

Ali Kazemi

12 for the Petitioner.
13

MS. WILKENS:

Good morning r your Honor.

Holly

14 Wilkens, Deputy Attorney General on behalf of the
15 Respondent.
16

MS. DENAULT:

Good morning r your Honor.

Deputy

·17 Attorney General Adrianne Denault on behalf of Respondent.
18

THE COURT:

Thank you and welcome again.

I do

19 want to compliment the parties on the briefs that have been
20 submitted to the Court.

They are voluminous r and I have

21 read all of them.
22

The Court has issued an order this morning and

23 would like sometime during today for the Petitioner to
24 contact Doctor Ballard's office just on a computation issue.
25 He expresses the ETA concentration in nanograms per
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1 milliliter, and we want confirmation that that's what he
2 intended, and to convert the ETA concentration results into
3 nanograms per microliter.
4 given.

And there's an order that we've

So if you could sometime during today take -- try

5 to -- he can either say yes or no.
6

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, we'll try to reach him

7 during -- excuse me, your Honor -- try to reach him during,
8 I guess, a break.
9
10

THE COURT:

If you can.

MR. ALEXANDER:

If not, I think the order said

11 Monday.
12

THE COURT:

Then we said -- but then you have the

13 whole -- then by Monday at 4:30.
14

MR. ALEXANDER:

15

THE COURT:

16 may proceed.
17

Thank you, your Honor.

All right.

Thank you.

The Petitioner

We've given an allocated time.

MR. HILE:

May it please the Court, counsel.

It's

18 been a little over a year since the petition was filed in
19 this case, and a lot has happened and a lot has been
20 presented to this Court by way of not only the pleadings and
21 the exhibits to those pleadings, including the exhibits to
22 the traverse that we filed, but also through a number of
23 days of evidentiary hearing.
24

And the Petitioner has, in those evidentiary

25 hearings and through those exhibits, presented evidence that
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1 establishes, we feel, the Brady claims that we alleged in
2 the petition.

Also significant evidence to prove our claim

3 of actual innocence.

And by the process of showing what

4 could have been developed and could have been investigated
5 and discovered and then presented at the trial level, claims
6 that establish ineffective assistance of counsel.
7

And your Honor, in order to present our oral

8 argument with respect to that, of course supplementing what
9 we've already provided in our briefs, we've divided up the
10 presentation among the three of us.

And perhaps before I

11 start in, I'll give you just an idea of where we're going to

12 go so that you'll have an idea as we go along.
13

I'm going to give an introduction overview to the

14 Petitioner's case, and then I'm going to start with the
15 first of the Brady claims.

And that will be the claim that

16 dealt with the tennis shoes and the testimony of the former
17 warden, Midge Carroll.

Then Mr. Alexander will deal with

18 the remaining Brady claims, including the coveralls, the
19 Canyon Corral Bar, 'the blue shirt, A-41 and the cigarettes.
20

Then we will go to the testing issues.

And Mr.

21 Kazemi from our firm will be presenting discussion with
22 respect to the status and the importance of the testing that
23 has occurred.
24

I will then briefly discuss the ineffective

25 assistance of counsel claims, and then Mr. Alexander will
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1 conclude our presentation with a discussion of actual
2 innocence, the areas where it's the Petitioner's contention
3 that there is still need for further evidentiary hearing and
4 some closing remarks.
5

We are, of course, willing to respond to any

6 questions that the Court may have at any time, and if the
7 presentation gets off kilter, we'll try to make sure that we
B get the facts within the 90 minutes to where we finish.

9

THE COURT:

What I'll try to do is let you have

10 your opportunity to say and try not to interrupt.
11

MR. HILE:

All right.

Thank you, your Honor.

12

Before starting with the evidence that has been

13 presented here, I want to make at least a few remarks
14 regarding where we are with respect to this petition as a
15 whole.

We have, of course, responded to the Court's orders

16 that we brief the merits of the petition, and we have done
17 so.

However, from the Petitioner's standpoint, there are a

18 number of things that have prevented us from completing what
19 might otherwise have been here.
20

First of all, as the Court is aware, we have not

21 been given discovery with respect to the files that have
22 been not turned over to the Petitioner and that we don't
23 have copies of.

And I think the best way to explain the

24 significance and the importance of that is to remark upon
25 something that the Respondent did produce at an evidentiary
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1 hearing in the hopes that it would help with their
2 presentation.
3

The Court may recall early on that the Respondent

4 produced a document UUU that was a daily log for the day
5 prior to the day of and the day after the Ryen/Hughes
6 murder,s.

And the reason that the Respondent wanted to put

7 that into evidence and have somebody testify about it was in
8 order to show that there was not any log of a call from the
9 Canyon Corral Bar the night of the murders.
10

That's a document that we contend the Defense had

11 never had a chance to see.

And in fact, what it showed,

12 even though it was not our document, when we had a chance 'to
13 review it, were two very significant things.

And I want to

14 point out what those are in order to show the importance of
15 discovery in this case and our need for it.
16

Your Honor, this is a page from the exhibit that

17 the Respondent introduced into evidence in hopes of showing
18 that there had been no report of a call from the Canyon
19 Corral Bar the night of the murders.

And what we found as

20 Petitioner's counsel when we reviewed it was that, in fact,
21 it showed significant evidence that goes to one of our
22 claims relating to innocence and to the fact that other
23 people were the perpetrators of this crime.
24

As the Court will see, this entry shows on 12 --

25 48 hours of the Sunday that the murders were discovered.
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1 The report put in by the sheriff's deputy logging reports
2 and it was typed up after the fact, and we had testimony
3 from the officer who was there.

And the significance, of

4 course, is that this reflects the discovery of the murders
5 and also one juvenile air-lifted to Lorna Linda -- that would
6 be the Ryen boy -- and a description of the vehicle, a 1977
7 Buick stationwagon, white in color, wood sides, fog lights
8 on front with the license plate.

And then the most

9 significant thing, occupied by three young males.
10

That's why we needed discovery in this case,

11 because documents like this which were produced only in
12 hopes that they would help the Respondent's side actually
13 establish a very significant fact for this case.

Jqshua

14 Ryen testified at trial that he only saw one figure, but
15 there is evidence which we have put forward in our brief
16 that shows that the earliest discussions that he had where
17 he was describing what had happened were that it was three
18 males who perpetrated the crimes.
19

And this document, which we saw for the first time

20 during this hearing, reflects evidence -- further evidence
21 that it was not one perpetrator, but rather three young
22 males, and that the sheriff's office was in the process of
23 looking for three young males at the time that Joshua Ryen
24 was being taken to the hospital.
25

This is just one of the documents which shows what
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1 we might have found, had we been entitled to and received
2 discovery.
3 entry.

The second was in the same document, a later

And I apologize for the quality of this, but it's

4 the -- the quality was given to us as the exhibit at trial
5 when we were presented with this evidence and were allowed
6 to cross-examine.

7 found property.

And the significant item is here for
It's this entry here.

And it's ·the entry

8 that sets forth that on June 6th, 1983, the blue shirt was
9 found by Laurel Epler.

And we've had testimony from Laurel

10 Epler with respect to that shirt.
11

And it is a piece of evidence that possibly has

12 blood on it, and in our request for discovery, we would have
13 been able to find, one would have expected, the property tag
14 that would have been assigned to this shirt, as we've now
15 established was the sheriff's office method of dealing with
16 such things.

We would have found a log that showed the

17 custody of this, and we would have found something with
18 respect to a disposition report.
19

And the Court will, of course, appreciate the

20 significance of that in terms of a disposition report
21 because it was the disposition report for the bloody
22 coveralls that uncovered that rather than what Deputy Eckley
23 testified at trial, that he was the only person who had
24 anything to do with the destruction of the coveralls, but in
25 fact, one and maybe two other people signed off on the
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1 disposition report at the sheriff's office before the bloody
2 coveralls were destroyed.
3

And I highlight this simply to show the Court that

4 in order for us to have completed what we set out to do with
5 respect to the petition that's before the Court, Petitioner
6 needed to have the discovery of these documents not only to
7 establish his Brady violations, but also to establish the
8 innocence claim that we have before the Court.
9

There was another document that we received when

10 the prosecution
11 SSSS, S as in Sam.

sorry -- the Respondent presented Exhibit
And this is a document from the west end

12 substation June 5th of 1983.

And this one has an additional

13 piece of information on it about who they were looking for.
14 Remember the last one just said three males.
15 "Suspects, three young white males."
"16

This one says,

White males.

And that again reflects information which

17 contradicts the testimony at trial with respect to who the
18 perpetrator was, and it contradicts what Joshua Ryen's
19 testimony was at trial.
20 that

~eflects

And this is the type of evidence

again on our innocence claim as well as our

21 Brady claims.
22

Another example of why the discovery was so

23 necessary is the disposition report which Petitioner put in
24 evidence as Exhibit 40.

And it shows, as your Honor will

25 recall from the testimony just this last -- 1st of April,
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1 some very significant information.

First it shows initials

2 at the top that relate to someone who is not yet identified
3 but who Detective Eckley speculated was the sergeant in
4 charge at the time.

We haven't been able to uncover that

5 person yet, but that's why having discovery would help to
6 solve that mystery.
7

Second, we learned about the OPT, the official

8 property tag for the bloody coveralls.

And we first learned

9 that there was such an item, and we have never seen that
10 official property tag.
11 produced at trial.

It has not been produced.

It wasn't

It hasn't been produced to us yet.

And

12 there is also no chain of custody log with respect to the
13 bloody coveralls that's been produced.

And that's why we

14 need discovery and we need to recover these items.

If it

15 turns out that they are gone, they're missing or something
16 like that, we'll deal with that when we come to it.

But

17 from Petitioner's standpoint, we're entitled to that.
18

And then, of course, the most -- other significant

19 part is the initials, as your Honor will remember, of K.S.
20 for Kenneth Schreckengost, who was the superior for Deputy
21 Eckley and who was here on the stand, and although he tried
22 to deny it, had told our investigator that there was no
23 doubt about it, these were his initials approvi.ng the
24 destruction of the coveralls.
25

Let me next deal with an area where there is
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1 further work to be done with respect to the petition from
2 Petitioner's standpoint.

And that is the testing.

And Mr.

3 Kazemi will talk about at length the necessity that we had
4 for having some person from our forensic team be available
5 and allowed to work on the protocol for testing the T-shirt.
6 From our perspective or Petitioner's perspective, because of
7 the way in which the protocol was developed and because we
8 were not permitted to have someone to give input into that,
9 we were not able to get testing results that were of
10 significance.
11

THE COURT:

That's not correct.

I said I wouldn't

12 interrupt, but that's not correct.
13

MR. HILE:

I'll respectfully disagree with the

14 Court on that, and the record will reflect what it is.
15 Our -16

THE COURT:

17 the testing protocol.

There was a three-month development of
The Court ordered Petitioner to come

18 up with a proposed protocol.

Respondent relied --

19 Petitioner, get a revised protocol.
20 protocol.

The Court issued a

The selected expert from Petitioner then decided

21 he wouldn't proceed under that.

The parties agreed to a

22 substitute extraction individual, and then we proceeded with
23 the testing.
24

MR. HILE:

Yes, your Honor.

And you will recall

25 that we wanted to have a forensic person from our team look
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1 at the T-shirt and make a determination of not only which
2 particular stain should be the subject of testing, but how
3 the testing should be gone about for purposes of developing
4 a series of tests that would give as most likely chance of
5 getting something significant.
6

And Doctor DeForest was not permitted to be part

7 of that.

No one from our group was allowed to be part of

8 that.

And the only place that we actually -- we did have

9 input, the Court said you could write a protocol, but
10 without the benefit of having a forensic person from our
11 side to be able to help us do that, we were forced to do it
12 as lawyers.

And we did our best, and the result was that,

13 first of all, the stain was chosen by the Respondent, and
14 that was G.

And it turned out that that didn't actually

15 exist anymore, so they chose another stain.

Another stain

16 was chosen, and that was one chosen by the Court.
17

THE COURT:

Respondent didn't choose G.

18 for a very good reason.

I chose G

So anyway, I'll let you make your

19 presentation, and then the record will reflect the actual
20 procedure here.
21

MR. HILE:

Yes, your Honor.

22

Again, when we were doing the mitochondrial

23 testing of the hair evidence, the Court will recall that
24 Doctor Blake testified that there were a series of groups of
25 hairs that had not been completely reviewed, and the Court
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1 decided to have a sample of one group -- three different
2 groups done.

There were other groups that the Court said

3 without prejudice we would decide whether we were going to
4 look for those.

And it's our position that those again

5 should be tested as well.
6

THE COURT:

7

MR. HILE:

That would exceed your budget.
Yes, your Honor.

The last part of this

8 is we have had a number of requests for evidentiary
9 hearings, one of which, of course, is still pending that we
10 still have not had a chance to present.

And a very

11 important witness that we would like to have here to testify
12 before the Court before these proceedings are over is Daniel
13 Gregonis, who was one of the experts for the prosecution at
14 the time dealing with the tennis shoes.
15

And we also, of course, have in front of the

16 Court, among other things, the request for testimony from
17 Deputies Stodelle and Roper with respect to the manual and
18 the procedures that were in place for testing items of
19 evidence in a murder investigation that had blood on them.
20

Finally, your Honor, it's still our position that

21 we have put forward evidence to establish with startling
22 results some of the evidence that relates to not only the
23 Brady claims, but the actual innocence.

And what I would

24 like to do at this point, then, is to start with a
2S description of what has been presented for the tennis shoes
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1 issue, which is one of our Brady claims.
2

Your Honor, the Supreme Court case of Brady vs.

3 Maryland establishes that anytime the prosecution has failed
4 to produce evidence that is favorable to the accused and
5 that could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in a
6 different light, such as to undermine confidence in the
7 verdict, that there is a Brady violation, and therefore the
8 conviction violates our constitution.
9

The Court will recall that we cited to the opening

10 statement of the prosecutor in the trial in this case where,
11 in discussing the tennis shoes, the prosecutor said that the
12 tennis shoes, he would show, were supplied strictly for
13 prison use -- that's a quote from his language -- and that
14 they're unavailable for retail stores in California.
15

And what we have shown now through the testimony

16 and the exhibits that we've presented is that that is flatly
17 untrue.

The fact of the matter is that the shoes that were

18 at issue, the Pro Ked Dude tennis shoes, were not made
19 strictly for prison use.

In fact, they were made for anyone

20 who wanted to buy them, and they were available in retail
21 stores within the United States and, in fact, were part of
22 the catalogue for Pro Keds during the period of time.

And

23 the most significant piece of evidence with respect to that
24 is Exhibit 15.
25

Exhibit 15, as your Honor will recall, is the Pro
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1 Keds catalogue for 1981, spring of 1981.

And in it, this

2 catalogue or anybody who would like to buy them has the Pro
3 Ked Dude line of tennis shoes.

And therefore, what we have

4 found, consistent with what the former warden at ClM
5 testified, Midge Carroll, these tennis shoes were available
6 elsewhere.

And when Don Luck was here to testify, he could

7 not deny that it's possible they were actually available in
8 retail stores in this area.
9

The fact of the matter is that that was a central

10 part of the prosecution's case because they had to somehow
11 tie the footprints that were found in the Lease house and at
12 the Ryen residence to Petitioner.

And the only way to do

13 that was to prove that they must have come from tennis shoes
14 that could only have been found and were only handed out at
15 the prison.
16

And in his closing remarks, the prosecutor said,

17 IIA tennis shoe you can't purchase in a store anywhere in
18 this country. II
19 to be true.

That turned out, as we have seen it now, not

"And a tennis shoe that is manufactured only

20 for institutions."

And again, Exhibit 15 shows that's not

21 the case.
22

But the significance here, of course, is the fact

23 that the prosecution was told this was not true by Midge
24 Carroll.

And it is unrefuted in the record at this point

25 that Midge Carroll called the prosecution --
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That's a credibility issue.

That's

2 not -- that's not accurate to say it's unrefuted.

It's a

1

THE COURT:

3 credibility issue.
4

MR. HILE:

There has been nothing adduced to show

5 that it did not happen.
6

THE COURT:

7

MR. HILE:

8

THE COURT:

Here's -- do you see these volumes?
Well-Midge Carroll's notes?

I don't see

9 there's memos upon memos upon memos, duplicates of memos.
10 There's no memo about any phone call to San Bernardino, but
11 there are all of these volumes of her notes and memoranda on
12 this issue.
13

MR. HILE:

Yes, your Honor.

And you will recall

14 that Detective Pacifico came in here to testify that he had
15 reviewed all of the files of this case to see whether he
16 could find some reference, as you'll recall, and he said
17 that he couldn't find one in that.
18
19 that.

And there are two points I want to make about
First, when somebody comes into court and says, "I'm

20 going to testify that there'S a lack of something because I
21 reviewed all these records,

II

in fundamental fairness, we

22 should have a chance to look at those records to see what
23 they are too.

And that's all we asked for, and we haven't

24 been given that opportunity.
25

Second, the fact that nobody wrote it down, just
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1 as the fact that Midge Carroll didn't write down a phone
2 conversation, is not remarkable in any way.
3

THE COURT:

Isn't it remarkable, though, when

4 you've got all of these volumes of her documenting, because
5 of the problems at the same time, everything else?
MR. HILE:

6

7 reason.

I would argue no, your Honor, for this

What you are pointing to and what is in there is

8 Midge Carroll's records with respect to her duties as the
9 warden at CIM and her
10

THE COURT:

She had nothing to do with the

11 newspaper articles.
12

MR. HILE:

No, but -- and that was the

13 significance of the testimony that she gave with respect to
14 that.

Midge Carroll was under an incredible amount of

15 public outrage and pressure because the suspect for this
16 case, Kevin Cooper, had escaped from the prison.
17

And one can imagine that being a person in her

18 position who had asked, as she testified, for more fencing,
19 who had said to her superiors, there is a problem here of
20 security and we need to address it, and then suddenly with
21 the -- with the Ryen murders and the suspect being Kevin
22 Cooper, she was under a tremendous amount of public
23 pressure.

It does not surprise me and it should not

24 surprise anyone that she would have gathered all sorts of
25 documentation with respect to what she was doing and how she
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1 was doing it at the prison..
2

THE COURT:

Well, there's a bigger issue, not just

3 her asking for more security.

She's the warden.

They have

4 a detainer in their file,. a warrant for -- notifying them
5 that he is a convicted rapist making terrorist threats, that
6 he is -- and then their own institution, not relating to
7 lack of security or anything else, they missed it.

They put

8 him in minimum security.
9

MR. HILE:

And that is what she was collecting

10 these documents for, not with respect to saying, "Well,
11 every time I call somebody, I'm going to write something
12 down.

I'm going to write down the fact that I made a phone

13 call to somebody."
somebody. 11
14

And what she -- her testimony was that she made

15 the phone call.

She didn't testify that she had written

16 lengthy notes about it.

Her testimony was simply that she

17 called and that she was rebuffed.

And that's the

18 significant testimony for our purposes.
19

THE COURT:

You may have a point on the -- whether

20 you make a memo of a phone call, but the records do reflect
21 that she did call the Defense.
22

MR. HILE:

I'll have to check that, your Honor.

23 I'm not aware of that.
24

THE COURT:

25

MR. HILE:

That's a surprise to me.
81.

Okay.

Exhibit 81.
That she called the Defense back
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1 in 1983?
2

THE COURT:

, 83 .

3 nobody is hiding anything.

So that there's no -- I mean,
She called the Defense, and the

4 Defense then said, "We're going to subpoena her.
5

MR. HILE:

I'll confirm that.

II

I'm not aware that

6 she had made that phone call, your Honor.
7

THE COURT:

It's right in the exhibits to the

8 answer to the petition.

They're from the defense trial

9 notes.
10

MR. HILE:

I want to also discuss for a minute the

11 testimony of Michael Newberry.

From Petitioner's

12 perspective, the testimony from Don Luck showed that Mr.
13 Newberry's statements at trial had overstated what had
14 actually been the case with respect to the sale of the
15 shoes.

And we submitted at the Court's request some

16 questions to be asked because Mr. Newberry was in Hong Kong.
17 And they've never been sent, and we would again renew our
18 request that we get that information from Mr. Newberry.

19

Finally with respect to this claim -- and this

20 goes not only to the Brady claim, but to the actual
21 innocence claim -- we have the testimony of James Taylor.
22 What we've been able to show now is that Mr. Taylor will say
23 whatever somebody asks him to say at any time.
24 best you could say about what he has to say.

That's the
And therefore,

25 his testimony at trial with respect to having given this
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1 particular type of shoe to the Petitioner a few days before
2 he escaped is not only incredible, but highly unlikely to
3 have happened.

4

And let me say that when we talk about a claim

5 like this, obviously when Mr. Taylor then receives letters
6 of commendation and expressing things about how his sentence
7 should be carried out afterwards from the prosecutor, one
8 can assume that he did testify in a way that was favorable
9 to the prosecution, but that nobody had made sure that what
10 he was saying was actually accurate.
11

THE COURT:

That goes to Mr. Forbush coming -- I

12 mean the newspaper article from Midge Carroll is December
13 12th, if that's the one, but it's the only one in her book.
14 And then by the next Monday, Rob Forbush is at the
15 institution as the Defense investigator talking to somebody
16 about the shoes.

And then that person is called by the

17 Defense to rebut Mr. Taylor's statement.
18

So as far as whether there's a Brady violation,

19 the Defense has total access to the information that would
20 help the Defense.
21

MR. HILE:

Well, I don't think that Mr. Forbush

22 certainly talked to Midge Carroll.

And the fact that that

23 phone call had been made to the prosecution or to the
24 sheriff was not something that was disclosed.
25

Your Honor, with respect to the tennis shoe claim,
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1 as I say, there is additional evidence that we would like to
2 present to the Court from Mr. Newberry, but we have the
3 essentials of a Brady claim with respect to what has been
4 testified by Midge Carroll and what the prosecution was told
5 by her.
6

And given that the tennis shoe issue was a central

7 theme for the prosecution in order to tie Petitioner to the
8 Lease house and the Ryen house, it is certainly -- meets the
9 standard that there was a reasonable probability of a
10 different result, had the Defense been able to impeach what
11 the prosecution and his witnesses said or the prosecution
12 had decided they couldn't even put that evidence on because
13 it would be overstating the facts.
14

I'll now turn over the podium to Mr. Alexander to

15 discuss the rest of our Brady claims.
16

THE COURT:

Thank you.

You didn't get a shoe size

17 from Mr. Furrow's cousins?
18

MR. ALEXANDER:

No, but we'll try.

We'd like to

19 get it from Mr. Furrow, your Honor, which is another matter
20 we would like to pursue.
21

Good morning, your Honor.

22

THE COURT:

23

MR. ALEXANDER:

Good morning.
Before I start on my comments I'd

24 like to make, I just want to follow up on one item that you
25 just raised which, I'll be candid, comes as a surprise, and
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1 that is with regard to Trial Exhibit 81.
2

THE COURT:

It's not Trial Exhibit 81.

3 the answer to your petition, Exhibit 81/
81,

4 Court.

You're counsel of record.

5

MR. ALEXANDER:

6

THE COURT:

7

MR. ALEXANDER:

8 where this is.

It's in

filed with this

It's there.

All right.

So it'·s not Trial Exhibit 81.
That's what I wanted to clarify,

And we didn't bring down all of those

9 exhibits because of their sheer bulk.

I didn't note it

10 see it referenced in -- I may be wrong -- in the opposition
11 memorandum.
12

THE COURT:

1'11
I'll show it to Mr. Kazemi and --

13

MR. ALEXANDER:

14 concerned the gym shoes.

There was a call and that the call
II know there were telephone calls

15 relating to Ms. Eddings and Krupp.

And all I would ask is,

16 if appropriate, that we be given the opportunity to look at
17 that and address that to you in some subsequent very short
18 submission.

19

THE COURT:

Since it's part -- it's been part of

20 this record -- I know the record is voluminous, but it is
21 clearly a part of this record.
22 everything.

As II said, rI read

So it's there for everybody's review.

23

MR. ALEXANDER:

All right.

Thank you.

24

rI would like to start off essentially where we

25 left off at the hearings on April 1st, and that is to
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1 address the coveralls.

It is undisputed that the

2 disposition record was not provided to Petitioner at trial.
3 And this is not some obscure document, but it is a" well4 known document among all in the San Bernardino Sheriff's
5 Department that when you destroy property, you must fill out
6 a disposition record.
7
8

Now, Mr. Eckley -- and there's very little one can
believ~

about what he testified frankly anytime he

9 testified, and I'll address that.

But incredibly, nobody,

10 nor did he, raise the fact of a disposition report at any
11 time in connection with his preparation for his testimony
12 either pretrial or trial.

That's what he did.

It was never

13 raised with him.
14

Now, he sent his 6-10-83 report to Detective

15 Arthur, Sergeant Arthur, Willy Arthur I believe is his first
"16 name, and
17

THE COURT:

Who is deceased.

18

MR. ALEXANDER:

19

THE COURT:

Who is deceased.

I mean, we would have liked to have

20 brought him in, but he's deceased.
21

MR. ALEXANDER:

We should would.

22 probably would prefer it too.
23

THE COURT:

24

MR. ALEXANDER:

I think he

And also --

That's a metaphysical question.
Also -- I apologize.

Also to the

25 prosecution, as is evidenced on 6-10-83 and the box checked
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1 off on the bottom.

And as we are told by Mr. Eckley,

2 through his test·imony, absolutely nothing was done until the
3 shirt had been destroyed -- the coveralls had been
4 destroyed.
5

Now, I would submit to you that nobody paid

6 attention to .those coveralls, just as -- and I'll address
7 it -- nobody paid attention to the blue shirt and nobody
8 paid attention to other evidence in the case, including the
9 comment that Ms. Carroll did testify to, that when she
10 called and said -- she's read the testimony and said it was
11 wrong about the gym shoes, they said, "Don't worry, we have
12 our person already."
13

And the reason why all of this was ignored is

14 because from Thursday, June the 9th of 1983, the arrest
15 warrant went out for Mr. Cooper, and from that day on,
16 little, if anything -- I'm not sure I can think of anything
17 other than perhaps in May of 1984 when they spoke to Ms.
18 Roper and the like

nothing that didn't relate to Mr.

19 Cooper and proving his -- him to be the perpetrator was
20 pursued.
21

Now, Mr. Eckley had filled out this disposition

22 report before on many, many occasions.

And as the other

23 side has pointed out, we did have K.S.'s initials.

Not us,

24 but prior counsel had his initials in 1998 and tried to talk
25 to Mr. Ingels -- to.Mr. -- I'm sorry -- to Mr. Shreckengoss.
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1 Mr. Ingels tried to do that.

Mr. Ingels, who the Respondent

2 called to trial -- to this hearing.

And he refused to talk.

3 We couldn't even identify whether those were his initials.
4 We had no information at that time.
5

Finally, when we were able to talk to him in

6 February of this year, and before he spoke with Mr. Kochis
7 and Ms. Wilkens, he told us -- and it's in -- both on the
8 recording and in the transcript
9 were his initials.

that yes, indeed, those

In fact, if you see, he says, "Those are

10 sure my initials" before he's even asked.

And then when he

11 got on the stand here, he said, "Well, they sure look like
12 them.
13

I'm not sure."
But more importantly, he said he never would have

14 signed that disposition report with a pending homicide case,
15 particularly he highlighted the Ryen/Hughes murders because
16 of its notoriety and its high profile at the time, until it
17 was completed.

And given the blood stains -- and we've

18 submitted to your Honor the manual -- he never would have
19 authorized destruction until it was sent to the laboratory.
20

Now, the issues here are several-fold, but the

21 main one relates to the impeachment of Mr. Eckley.

I feel

22 comfortable in saying to your Honor that having heard Mr.
23 Eckley and observed his demeanor, I would not trust a word
24 out of his mouth.

No reasonable fact-finder could believe

25 him.
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1

And that's not just -- I guess I would say that is

2 not just shown -- that is shown, actually, clearly and
3 convincingly and I believe beyond any reasonable doubt.

If

4 the evidence to impeach him was available at trial or even
5 at the pretrial hearing where there was a question of
6 whether he acted in good faith where the Defense had nothing
7 to contradict his statement that he, acting alone, without
8 talking to anybody, destroyed these coveralls, if that
9 evidence were available, his explanation would have been
10 rendered wholly unreliable and raised serious question about
11 the real motivation for destroying the coveralls, frankly
12 whether or not they'd been destroyed, and questions about
13 whether they were sent to the lab or not.
14

Now, the I.D. tag that Mr. Rile mentioned, we

15 still do not have regarding the coveralls, is not all that
16 was withheld.

We don't have the I.D. tag.

17 the coveralls, of course.

We don't have

We don't have what he described

18 as an evidence ledger or an evidence book.
19

Moreover -- so all of this that we have asked

20 for -- and the property tag, I thought, frankly, that it was
21 just like a little ring that maybe you get when you go put
22 your coat at an event or something like that and it just has
23 a number on it.

As we've shown in our brief -- and I won't

24 go back to our brief -- there's extensive information on
25 that tag.

I think "tag" is somewhat of a misnomer.

The
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1 evidence ledger, the handling of it, none of that.
2

And all of this only became possible when we were

3 finally able -- despite the due diligence that were
4 exercised in 1998 and '99, we were finally able to get Mr.
5 Shreckengoss to talk to us so we could authenticate what
6 this document was, and then we could follow up.

I believe

7 that under the test of Brady violation and the continuing
8 obligation on the part of the prosecution to produce· this
9 information and not having it produced today is a clear
10 violation of Brady vs. Maryland.
11

Now, the other point I'll make to the coveralls --

12 and it will tie into other evidence -- is it's not just the
13 coveralls alone and in none of what we're presenting or have
14 presented to your Honor is that anyone item alone that we
15 ask you to look at.

But these items tie together.

The

16 coveralls tie to testimony relating to the Canyon Corral
17 Bar.

The coveralls tie to the consideration of

18 there was certainly testimony that the men were

well,
one of

19 the men at least was wearing coveralls at that time.
20

THE COURT:

But then look -- see, I think it's

21 very good lawyering on your part, but then you have to not
22 just use the label "coveralls," to then go to the actual
23 description of what they said.

Because I could say you're

24 wearing a tie and Mr. Hile is wearing a tie, but your tie is
25 a bow tie and his tie is a traditional tie.

I

gu~ss

yours
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1 is traditional too.

But theY're two different ties.

But I

2 could say you two are wearing ties, but they're not the same
3 kind of ties.
4

So I think -- I urge you to go back to the

5 testimony and see how people described -- for example, Mr.
6 Stark, I believe, theY're blue jeans, bib blue jeans.
7 That's not anything similar to the green zippy coveralls
8 that Mr. Eckley described.

So I just want to -- don't

9 necessarily rely on the label ".c0verallsll and then say, ah:...
10 ha, theY're all tied together.

So far, nobody has -- maybe

11 some witness will come forward like Mr. Ward and say that he
12 saw a coverall that's similar to what was described there.
13 So far, nobody has described them the same way.
14

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, there's certainly been a

15 description, perhaps more importantly, that in both
16 instances

and I'll get to the Canyon Corral Bar and why

17 it's hard to sort of compartmentalize it too much -- is
18 why -- that there was blood on the coveralls in both
19 instances, at the bar and on the coveralls that were turned
20 in by Ms. Roper.

21

THE COURT:

Well, if you have blue jean bar fight

22 versus zip-up ones, theY're still apples and oranges.
23

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, you know, I suppose that's

24 for the jury at that -- the evidence and Mr. Eckley's
25 statements, for the jurors to decide.

SOl you know -- let
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1 me, if I

might, your Honor, hold off and I'll address this

2 and the Canyon Corral Bar.
3

That's what I'd like to do.

But I do think that the coveralls -- the coveralls

4 turned in by Ms. Roper, who Mr. Arthur -- I'm sorry -- Mr.
5 Eckley encouraged and sent to Mr. Arthur his report and

6 said, "She has more to talk to you about."

They never spoke

7 to the woman until after the coveralls were destroyed in May
8 of 1984.

And what was their motivation?

9 is, "Oh, my God, Eckley.
10 "What did you talk about?

Their motivation

What did you say now?"

You know,

When you were interviewed, you

11 were interviewed by yourself.

We've got to make sure

12 exactly what did you tell Mr. Forbush at the time."

That's

13 why they originally went to go talk to Mr. -- to Mr. Eckley
14 or Detective Eckley.

That's what the record shows.

And

15 that was the very first interview that was done with him.
16

Now, let me, if I might, return to the blue -- to

17 the blue shirt.

The blue shirt was recovered on June the

18 6th by Deputy Fields.

And he's the same individual who was

19 identified as recovering the T-shirt.

And in fact, the blue

20 shirt was found the day before the T-shirt was found.

The

21 blue shirt was found on the 6th, the T-shirt on the 7th.
22

Just to tie it in, Ms. Killian often told a

23 different story.

And she testified quite a bit.

But she

24 said she recalled one of the men there that came into the
25 bar wearing a blue shirt.

It might have been a blue shirt.
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1 That was her best recollection.

I think she said blue, your

2 Honor, but we can check the record on that.
3
4 log.

Now, the record of this blue shirt is in a daily
And this is property, the blue shirt.

5 evidence.

I call it

Ms. Wilkens wants me to call it property.

6 call it property.
7 evidence?

Where is the property?

And if it was destroyed?

I'll

Where is the

Where is the

8 disposition report?
9
10 record.

Now, the daily log, which is NNNN, is a business
It's maintained by the San Bernardino Sheriff's

11 Department.

It was introduced into evidence and

12 authenticated by the Attorney General.

The fact that that

13 shirt existed and was picked up by Detective Fields is
14 established.
15

THE COURT:

Detective Fields is also deceased.

16

MR. ALEXANDER:

He is.

Keep a list of -- he is

17 also deceased.
18

However, as to that point, Ms. Epler -- and

19 there's much to say about what she said -- she described Mr.
20 Fields as to what his physical appearance was, and
21 apparently she did it accurately because we never heard
22 anything from the other side disagreeing with that
23 description of Deputy or Detective Fields.
24

Now

25

THE COURT:

Let me say the flip side, though.
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1 Where is the tan shirt?
2

MR. ALEXANDER:

3

THE COURT:

4

MR. ALEXANDER:

5

THE COURT:

Where is the tan shirt?

Yeah.
The beige T-shirt?

Where is the daily log on the tan

6 shirt?

MR. ALEXANDER:

7
8 sub

Being picked up.

It exists on the

--

9

10

THE COURT:

Where?

MR. ALEXANDER:

I don't have the daily log right

11 here with me.
12

THE COURT:

13 haven't found that.
14

15 Honor.

Maybe you could show me, because I
I mean l you can do it later.

MR. ALEXANDER:

Yes.

Okay.

Thank you, your

Although that does raise an interesting point about

16 the daily logs.
17

In any event, we not only have the daily log, but

18 Ms. Epler, who the prosecution tried to persuade the
19 Court -- because she's at the advanced age of 62,
20 apparently, and shouldn't be troubled to come out here -- I
21 say that tongue in cheek -- could not have been more
22 steadfast in her testimony.
23

THE COURT:

I thought it was brilliant examination

24 on your part and should be a classic for how to get the best
25 out of a witness.

And maybe on the other side, the longer
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1 it went, the more antagonistic she got to the other side.
2 So it was actually very -- it was very interesting to
3 observe.
4

MR. ALEXANDER:

5 objective criteria.

WeIll let me -- let me go to

Coming from your Honor, I will take

6 that compliment and appreciate it.
7

When the prosecution showed her a picture of where

8 the beige T-shirt was in hopes that maybe she would say,
9 "Yeah, that's it, that's the spot where I found it" and then
10 they could come in and say, "See, you're all wrong.
11 mixing up the two.

II

You're

She immediately -- I mean -- you know,

12 I think we all remember here said,

II

No , no, no," and she

13 explained that where she found the blue shirt was on the
14 other side of the road with a barrier or island in the
15 middle.

She was quite clear in describing that.

16 described, as I said, what Mr. Fields looked like.

She
The

17 prosecution didn't contest that.
18

Now, the response -- the only response that we

19 have had regarding the blue shirt -- I guess there are two.
20 One is Mr. Kochis got on the stand very briefly and said he
21 didn't think, quote, there ever existed a blue shirt.
22 That's at page 198 on the 13th of August.
23

The log and Ms. Epler corroborates that it did

24 exist and that it was picked up.

What the Defense argues is

25 that we knew about it because it was in the log.

The log
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1 was not produced in the case by the District Attorney.

It

2 was, according to Mr. Kochis, because it has no production
3 numbers at all on it, produced by the sheriff.

4

Mr. Kochis doesn't know what the sheriff produced.

5 The prosecution could easily have produced a person to say

6 from the sheriff's office that this is among the items that
7 were produced.

NOw, Mr. Negus says

and this is a

8 point -- that he said he got everything.

9 know if he got everything?

But how does he

How does he know he got all the

10 logs
11

THE COURT:

12

MR. ALEXANDER:

13

THE COURT:

14 that day.
15

But he says that he got the daily -all the pages?

But he says he got the daily log from

So
MR. ALEXANDER:

The exhibit -- if you notice, the

16 exhibit that we were given -- and I believe it's 0000 --

17 I'll confirm that -- is a version of the log that stopped
18 I think it's at page seven or eight.

There is no page nine

19 where the entry is.
20

THE COURT:

What do you mean?

I'm not following

21 that.

22

MR. ALEXANDER:

If you look at Exhibit 0000, all

23 right, the pages that were produced as part of -- as a
24 better, cleaner copy by the other side

and it was

25 actually produced to be able to read some earlier entries
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1 does not have the entry of the blue shirt on it.

There is

2 another version that has an entry of a blue shirt on it.
3

THE COURT:

I have a question.

This will go to

4Ms. Wilkens, but the one that was produced appeared to be a
5 microfiche copy.

Wasn't that the microfiche that in 1998

6 the Defense went and looked at?
7

MR. HILE:

No, your Honor.

It was

the first

8 time we'd ever seen that microfiche was when it was brought
9 into court as an exhibit in this proceeding.

10

THE COURT:

No, I'm not talking about you.

I'm

11 talking about -- remember K.S., that document -12

MR. HILE:

13

THE COURT:

Yes, right.
from the microfiche?

There's, I

14 believe -- and maybe the Attorney General can clarify this
15 for the Court.

I think that there's only one microfiche,

16 and if you review all the microfiche, this is in there, and
17 this has been in there since 1998.
18

MR. ALEXANDER:

19 in this proceeding, that
20

THE COURT:

21

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, there's
there'S no evidence to that
there's evidence now --

There is evidence that in 199That there's
there'S a microfiche, yes.

22 And that Mr. Ingels went and looked at it.

But it has

23 nothing to do with the daily log being on that microfiche or
24

25

not being on it.
THE COURT:

Well, II think we can have some
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1 clarification on that.
2

MR. ALEXANDER:

3

THE COURT:

Now--

So are you suggesting that because

4 page one through eight were a clean copy -- what are you
5 suggesting about that?
6

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, my further point is, they

7 and I'm anticipating the argument and an argument they've
8 made at the hearing at least, that Negus says he got
9 everything.

I

don't "know how one would know.

10 on all the time in litigation.

And this goes

How do you know if the other

11 side, you know, has produced everything?
12

THE COURT:

But what if he tells the trial judge?

13

MR. ALEXANDER:

But we were not permitted -- well,

14 he told the discovery -- well, maybe it was the trial judge.
15 I can't recall.
16 Negus.

But we were not permitted to bring Mr.

And having spoken with him, my offer of proof would

17 be that he will tell you he has no recollection of anything
18 about a blue shirt.
19

THE COURT:

That's a little bit different than

20 saying that he hasn't seen the daily log or that he didn't
21 tell you about
22

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, when I asked him the

23 question, he said, "I don't remember anything about it.
24 doesn't sound familiar, none of that."
25 he told me.

It·

I mean, that's what

That's why I'm relating that to the Court.
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1

THE COURT:

Well, I've had this case for a

2 considerable period of time, and I will say that then
3 reviewing the warden's records, there were things in those

4 records that I said, I have no recollection of that until I
5 now saw that.

So whether he can remember and whether the

6 Court considers bringing him in to clarify that point, the
7 Court will take under submission.
8

MR. ALEXANDER:

Thank you, your Honor.

9

But your Honor, I guess that needs to be

10 considered in the context of Mr. Kochis, one of the
11 prosecutors saying, "I don't think it ever existed."
12 didn't know about the log entry.
13 about the blue shirt.

He

He didn't know anything

So it's hard -- you know, it's by no

14 means unusual to suspect that Mr. Negus didn't know about it
15 either because it wasn't produced.
16

They didn't bring that log in to show that there

17 was a blue shirt.

They brought the log in for the other

18 entry to show -- oh, I'm sorry.

They brought it in to show

19 the absence of an entry about a police call from the Canyon
20 Corral Bar on the night of the 5th.
21

THE COURT:

Unless the blue shirt is the

22 equivalent of the tan shirt and some dispatcher got it wrong
23 and Laurel Epler, when she was first contacted, before your
24 brilliant cross -- or direct examination of her, didn't
25 remember anything about a blue shirt until she was asked by
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1 representatives of Petitioner, IIDon't you remember.the blue
2 shirt?"
3
4 unfair.

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, your Honor, I think that's

What she was -- first of all, what the other

5 side -- what the prosecution tried to do, and I think was
6 wholly improper, is to send her something to mislead her in
7 thinking that it was the beige shirt.

And she

8 immediately -- when she got here, she immediately said, when
9 they tried to do it here,

II

Huh-uh, that's not me.

I found

10 it on the other side of the road, and here's how I know. II
11 So
12

THE COURT:

It's there -- what we're trying to do

13 is struggle back many, many, many years ago and figure
14 out -15

MR. ALEXANDER:

16

THE COURT:

No question about it.
who knew what when and where.

And

17 then even further, evaluating of the many witnesses who have
18 come forward, what is the truth, what is credible.

It's a

19 difficult task.
20

MR. ALEXANDER:

21 this case, your Honor.

That is a great under-statement in
There's no question about that.

I

22 mean that in all sincerity.
23

Now, I would suggest to you that the blue shirt

24 doesn't fit the Kevin Cooper sole perpetrator theory.

It

25 does fit Ms. Killian's statement that one of the men was
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1 wearing a blue shirt or maybe it's a dark shirt.
2 her saying it was a blue shirt.

I recall

And it does fit the theory

3 of more than one perpetrator because you have supposedly a
4 beige shirt, and now you have a blue one.
5

Well, let me now then turn

and I'm not going to

6 spend a lot of time on this because Mr. Kazemi will address
7 most of the issues relating to the T-shirt.

But I want to

8 highlight some other issues about that T-shirt and say
9 again, to reiterate what Mr. Hile said, that once again,
10 we've gone about as far as we've been allowed to go without
11 discovery and without having the key laboratory witness in
12 the case, Mr. Gregonis, testify.
13

THE COURT:

But he testified in the State Court

14 post-conviction proceeding, which is actually quite
15 important.
16

MR. ALEXANDER:

17

THE COURT:

18

MR. ALEXANDER:

19

THE COURT:

He did.

He did.

And

He did.
Judge Kennedy, a very well-

20 respected trial judge, who is not known at all -- he's known
21 for calling it like it is.

He made factual findings.

And

22 so the parties can brief and evaluate whether the Court
23 needs to then duplicate what's been done in post-conviction
24 proceedings very recently with a respected trial judge and
25 do it allover again.
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1

MR. ALEXANDER:

2 your Honor.

No, we don't want to duplicate;

What we do want to do is a$k Mr. Gregonis --

3 and I think this ties into the ineffective assistance of
4 counsel, and I can tell you also, related to our getting

5 involved in the case, Mr. Amidon did not appear at that
6 proceeding.

Mr. McGuigan did.

And I can only say that I

7 was astounded that some of the questions were not asked
8 relating particularly to the custody of the T-shirt.
9

THE COURT:

But Mr. McGuigan is a very skilled

10 examiner, and actually, in the examination of Mr. Negus did
11 an excellent job in the first proceeding where we had the
12 evidentiary hearing.
13

MR. ALEXANDER:

I don't want to

in the context

14 of an -- assistance of counsel comment on the questions that
15 we were saying, well, what did they say?
16 the question, and we shook our head.

Oh, we never asked

But maybe it's

17 hindsight is 20/20.
18

As to the T-shirt, it was picked up by Deputy

19 Fields on June the 7th, although it's not entirely clear
20 whether he picked it up or maybe Sergeant Arthur gave it to
21 him.

It doesn't -- it's not really important.

And it was

22 not far from the Canyon Corral Bar, just as the blue shirt
23 was not far from the Canyon Corral Bar.
24

He prepares a report, and he describes the T-shirt

25 as containing a single blood stain -- not stains -- on the
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1 front middle near the bottom edge:
2 report, which I have with me.

And that's in his

There is no mention of other

3 things of which ultimately there were numerous.

There is no

4 photos taken except the black and white one in the ditch,

5 which is frankly of no value.

Although all the other photos

6 taken are color, this one was black and white, et cetera.
7 But it's of very little value.
8

The shirt is checked out on November the 28th t

·9 1983 by Detective Woods for a preliminary hearing at which
10 it was not used and not checked back until May of 1984.

We

11 have gone as far as we can without discovery and without
12 Detective Woods to determine where that T-shirt was during
13 that period of time.
14

THE COURT:

In your initial -- I meant obviously

15 you knew of this information in your initial request for the
16 evidentiary hearing.

Was Detective Woods. included in that

17 list?
18

MR. ALEXANDER:

I don't know that he was.

But

19 certainly we have raised the issue of the custody of the
20 T-shirt in numerous occasions.

Whether we specifically

21 identified him and whether hets the only appropriate person,
22 I can't
23

I can't say.
Let me -- I think I can handle A-41 and the

24 cigarettes pretty quickly.

Your Honor has made a

25 determination with which we very respectfully disagree
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1 vehemently, that where you are dealing with the single drop
2 of blood, a mixture of Mr. Cooper's blood and that of Mr.
3 Ryen, the only drop of blood that is attributed to Mr.
4 Cooper in the Ryens' home

that to ignore and not to

5 exhaust every avenue with regard to that drop of blood,
6 including -- I think you may recall Mr. Epstein, who we have
7 presented, who is a blood spattering expert to provide
8 evidence at the directions of that -- and also your Honor's

9 conclusion that there's simply nQt enough A-41 to t.est.
10

Now, I have to respectfully disagree because I

11 don't believe without getting some expert input, that that
12 determination can be made by the Court.

And the reason I

13 say it, particularly with·regard to A-41, is because A-41
14 was consumed and reappeared on numerous occasions, as the
15 chronology we set forth in our petition relates.
16

And many times they said "No, there's no more

17 A-41," and then 10 and behold, A-41 appears.

And I think

18 that occurred on at least two occasions, but I won't repeat
19 what's in the petition.
20

It's laid out there.

So I would, at a minimum, request that we be

21 allowed to look at A-41 and allow somebody to make a
22 determination, some expert, as to whether or not it can be
23 tested.

And the nanoseconds, nanograms, the nano world that

24 we're in and the like,

I

continue to be amazed,

25 flabbergasted at the small quantity that people think are

Echo Reporting, Inc.

41
1 more than adequate.
2

I don't have any more to add on A-41.

Obviously,

3 we believe that's an area in which we should be entitled to
4 further evidentiary hearing.
5

Let me address the cigarettes, again very briefly.

6 The simple statement is, we have not been allowed to have an
7 evidentiary hearing with regard to a very important fact
8 regarding the cigarettes.

And if I get this right, my

9 understanding of the situation with regard to the cigarettes
10 is that there were originally cigarettes found in the Lease
11 house, I believe in the bedroom, that Mr. Cooper supposedly
12 slept in and may have had cigarettes in.

Those cigarettes

13 are unaccounted for subsequently.
14

You have two separate let's say groups of

15 detectives -- we're talking about inventorying cigarettes.
16 First you have Detective Paul.

Now, Detective Paul sees

17 cigarettes in the ashtray of the car when he goes there, and
18 he talked about how thorough his inventory was.

He sees no

19 cigarettes where Stockwell -- and I can't remember offhand
20 the other fellow he was with -- who also inspected the car
21 some days after found the cigarettes, and they didn't find
22 any in the ashtray.
23

Now, those were marked -- the two that were found

24 in the car by Stockwell -- or yes, by Stockwell -- were V-12
25 and V-17, I believe.

One of the two ends up being consumed
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1

2

in some tobacco testing.
In 1983, Mr. Gregonis does an examination of those

3 and measures the cigarette butt to be four
4 millimeters? -- millimeters.

In 2001, Mr. Wraxall, who we

5 would like to have come to testify as part of this, does an
6 additional test, because at the time in 1983, the testing
7 that could be done was very limited.

The saliva that was

8 done -- saliva testing that was done really couldn't
9 distinguish Mr. Cooper, who they were looking for, from a
10 very large part of the population.
11

So by the time I think 2001 comes around and Mr.

12 Wraxall is asked to do the testing again, he measures the
13 cigarette that supposedly was tested back in 1983, and it's

14 now seven millimeters, and remarkably it's sort of folded
15 back up again.
16

We believe that there is a factual issue as to

17 whether or not the cigarette that he tested in 2001 was the
18 same cigarette that was tested in 1983.

And given that

19 factual -- factual issue, we believe we are entitled to an
20 evidentiary hearing under the Siripongs case.
21

Now, I'm sure I'm running on, and I don't want to

22 jeopardize -23

THE COURT:

You've cut into Mr. Kazemi's time.

24

MR. ALEXANDER:

25

Let me -- let me talk about the Canyon Corral Bar,

Well, I don't want to do that.
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1 and if I'm not -- real quickly.

A-41, the cigarettes, we've

2 covered.

The blue shirt, the T-shirt and the coveralls.

3

Most of the testimony in this proceeding was about

4 that Canyon Corral Bar incident.

And the testimony at trial

5 essentially from various people who worked there that
6 night -- maybe there was a patron -- I don't recall -- I
7 think there was just people who worked there -- is that
8 there were three men who came into the bar on two occasions
9 that night, no blood on them at all.

And then whether they

10 were escorted out or not escorted out, they left in any
11 event, the second incident.

And that was quite late at

12 night.
13

What we have shown -- and I think it's quite

14 remarkable -- is that four people who had no contact with
15 each other testified, in my view

and I believe in a

16 reasonable finder of fact's view

as to the material

17 elements of that episode.

Yes, it's not every detail.

18 Where the booths were, the colors of the officer's uniform,
19 which I still think was brown.

Somebody else said it was

20 forest green.
21

But the key evidence that was provided

22 independently by Ms. Slonaker, Ms. Wolfe and Mr. Stark, none
23 of whom -- Slonaker and Wolfe knew each other, hadn't spoken
24 in eight years and certainly hadn't spoken about this.

But

25 then when Mr. Stark came along, in my mind, that laid to
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1 rest any doubt that anyone could have that three men came
2 into that barr came up to three women at the barr two of
3 whom testified r two of whom were -- those two being the ones
4 closest to the three men or at least two of the men.

Stark

5 said the closest he got was 20 feet away, but he certainly
6 recalled those men coming up to those women at the bar and
7 the one woman who was wearing an American flag shirt and who
8 they were, I think he said hitting on or something.
9

Ms. Slonaker, who is a phlebotomist by -- was a

10 phlebotomist by training, no doubt in her mind that there
11 was blood on the clothing

coveralls, overalls, but the

12 clothing of those three men.
13 effect.

And Ms. Wolfe to the same

They didn't describe the amount the same.

There

14 were some -- there. were some differences.
15

THE COURT:

I'll say dramatic -- dramatic

16 differences.
17

18 fact.

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, okay, 20 years after the

But when you put that information together on that

19 bar and then you have Mr. Stark, and then you have Mr.
20 Wilson at least hearing about that and telling Arthur about
21 it, or at least if he was aware of that information -- he
22 doesn't recall where it came from -- he would have told
23 Arthur.

He doesn't have a specific recollection of telling

24 Mr. Arthur, but he -- you know, he says that's the kind of
25 information, obviously.

And I don't think that was expected
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1 'when Mr. Wilson was called as a witness here.
2

THE COURT:

What about the fact that the Defense

3 had Mr. Stark's name?
MR. ALEXANDER:

4

Your Honor, that piece of paper,

5 okay, nobody has authenticated what that is.
6

that nobody knew.

It had a name

And you have a piece of paper that says

7 Mr. Stark on it with, you know, whoever.

Nobody has shown

8

that that document -- or when it was provided to the

9

Defense.

Nobody has authenticated what that is.

That

10 document remains a mystery in that case.

11

THE COURT:

What about Mr. Stark's belief that if

12 Randy and Larry were there -- and we know that if Randy and
13 Larry were there, that it wouldn't have been Saturday night,
14 and Mr. Ward saying, well, he was there, and he can only be
15 there Friday night?
16

MR. ALEXANDER:

17 Ward's testimony.
18 for.
19

Okay.

I have to discount, frankly, Mr.
He is not the word we are looking

You know, I don't know
THE COURT:

Is he -- take a look at your

20 evidentiary -- your requested evidentiary hearing.

You

21 mentioned both Al Ward, which we brought in, and Al Warren.
22 Al Warren also is deceased.
23

MR. ALEXANDER:

Now

More recently, yes.

24 the person that we thought we were getting.
25

THE COURT:

And that's
But

But you asked for both.
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1

MR. ALEXANDER:

But there can be no doubt, your

2 Honor, that from Ms. Slonaker, Ms. Wolfe and Mr. stark -3 because he said -- I guess he heard about the murders the
4 day after he was in the bar.
5

THE COURT:

But if Randy

~-

if Larry and Randy

6 were there, then it's not that night.
7

MR. ALEXANDER:

Well, it could have been very late

8 that night, and I think that may pave been -- was the case.
9 But I don't - - I mean, if the suggestion is that .Mr. Stark
10 is wrong and these three men actually came in another night
11 and did the same thing that night that Slonaker and Wolfe
12 said happened the night of the crime, that would be more
13 coincidence than I think a trier of fact could accept.
14

THE COURT:

Well, isn't that what -- isn't that

15 what Randy also said, that there was a blood guy in a
16 different day when he came in to testify?

17

MR. ALEXANDER:

18 about one person.

I

don't

--

he may have talked

I have some recollection of that.

But

19 certainly not the circumstances of the men coming in from

20 behind the door and then approaching these three women at
21 the bar.

None of the other employees at trial, okay,

22 testified as to any of that.

None of them testified that

23 they were really close enough to observe whether there was
24 blood or not.

But you've got Ms. Slonaker and Ms. Wolfe who

25 were right there.
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1

THE COURT:

2 law enforcement.

But they didn't identify themselves to

So what's the claim?

3 ineffective assistance of counsel?
4

MR. ALEXANDER:

No.

Is the claim

Is the claim Brady?

The claim goes to the

5 innocence claim, number one.

And the Wilson comments that

6 he told Arthur about this incident, which was never related
7 to the Defense, is a Brady claim.

He never knew about that.

8 That was never related to him.
9

I would like to conclude with some fancy language

10 and the like, but I think I'll turn it over to Mr. Kazemi to
11 address the testing issue.
12 address

And if possible, I will then

and I think it's really a matter of law, but I

13 think that your Honor's conclusion that you have discretion
14 as to whether or not to add evidentiary hearings overstates
15 the law when a factual disputed issue is underlying a claim,
16 and I would simply relate to the Siripongs case as just one
17 example of that.
18

Thank you very much, your Honor.

THE COURT:

Thank you.

Let's check our time.

19 What is the remaining time?
20

THE CLERK:

They expire at 11:38 for 90 minutes.

21

THE COURT:

Okay.

22

MR. HILE:

Your Honor, could I ask for a

23 clarification on time?
24 clicking.
25

So how much time do they have?

We have a timer here that's

That has nothing to do with it?
THE COURT:

The timer has nothing to do with it.
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1

MR. HILE:

Okay.

2

THE COURT:

You've got 13 minutes.

Plus your 45

3 in rebuttal.
4

MR. HILE:

Yes, your Honor.

5

MR. KAZEMI:

Good morning, your Honor.

I better

6 talk fast.
7

I just wanted to clarify something with regard to

8 Exhibit 81 to the answer.

I was aware of Exhibit 81.

The

9 three of us work in different offices, so we don't all share
10 the same information.
11

Midge Carroll was known to the Defense at the time

12 of trial, according to Respondent's answer, page 74, and
13 that there are phone message from her to Defense counsel in
14 the Defense file.

However, we don't actually know what

15 information was exchanged between Midge Carroll and Defense
16 counsel.

We don't know the extent to which they even spoke.

17

And in any event, if they had spoken, it doesn't

18 absolve the prosecution of its duty under Brady to turn over
19 potentially exculpatory evidence.

It was their duty,

20 regardless of whether she did speak with us.

Particularly,

21 we're not aware of -- we're not aware of the conversation
22 that they mayor may not have had.

So I just wanted to set

23 that straight.
24

THE COURT:

The next page then talks about

25 exaggeration on the prison contracts.
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1

MR. KAZEMI:

2

THE COURT:

3

MR. KAZEMI:

The next page of the answer.
Part of Exhibit 81 on the sheet.
That's correct.

But the page, it's

4 just a couple of notes that were -- sorry -- a few notes
5 that were jotted down.
6 information

We simply don't know.

And that

there is no foundation for that document.

If

7 they'd like to call -- we'd be willing to call Midge Carroll

8 to testify about the extent to which she mayor may not have
9 spoken with Mr. Negus.

But in any event, regardless of what

10 the conversation was, they still have a duty under Brady to
11 disclose any information that she provided to them.
12

Setting that aside, my job here is to discuss the

13 examination

test~ng

of the biological evidence in this case.

14 I thought it might make sense to address the teacher-related
15 issues first, since that's been a focal point of the
16 proceedings to date.

And then at the end, however much time

17 I do have left, I can address A-41, DV-2 and the hair
18 testing that's been conducted, although Mr. Alexander did
19 address A-41 and the cigarette butts.

20

II am prepared to discuss a Daubert issue as well

21 as the actual testing that's been conducted.

If your Honor

22 is willing to hear a Daubert argument, I can do that at this
23 time or II can skip straight to the actual test results.
24

THE COURT:

It's your time, so you can allocate it

25 however you want, but there is a viable Daubert challenge to
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1 the admission of the ETA testing.
MR. KAZEMI:

2

3

lS

Okay.

What I'll probably do, then,

I'll address the Daubert issues now and save discussion

4 of the matters of the actual testing for rebuttal.
5

Starting with Daubert, the Court's duty under

6 Daubert is simply to be a gatekeeper.

Under Daubert, the

7 relevancy -- there are two -- there are two factors we need
8 to consider, relevance and reliability of the test results,
9 of the test in this case.
10
11 extensive.

The relevancy inquiry under Daubert is not
It's been extensively briefed in our Daubert

12 brief and our reply.
13 clotting agent testing

All that is required is that antiback off - - okay

is that anti-

14 clotting agent testing assists the trier of fact in
15 determining the ultimate issue, which in this case is

16 whether tampering has occurred.
17

THE COURT:

Is it not true that there's, to date,

18 only two places where it's been admitted, to your knowledge,
19 the O.J. Simpson case and the Pompey case?

20

MR. KAZEMI:

21

THE COURT:

That's true.
And there's no case where your request

22 for other anti-clotting agent testing has been received?
23

MR. KAZEMI:

Well, it's only been -- to the best

24 of my knowledge in speaking with Doctor Ballard, Doctor
25 Ballard has performed 14 tests for anti-clotting agents.

In
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1 12 of those tests, the results did not support the defense,
2 and so they weren't admitted.
3

THE COURT:

Well, on polygraph, it's very common

4 to do polygraph tests, but they're not admissible.

So

5 you're mixing apples and oranges as to whether it's done, as
6 to whether it's admissible.

Has

to your knowledge, even

7 since we've done it now, can you tell me any instance of
8 whether the other anti-clotting agent matters have ever been
9 admitted in court?
10

MR.' KAZEMI:

Well, as your Honor stated, the O.J.

11 case is one.
12

THE COURT:

No, not on -- that's only on ADTA.

13

MR. KAZEMI:

Oh, oh, citric and oxalic acids.

14 the best of our knowledge, no.

To

But this is a new

15 technology, and Daubert recognizes that -- well, the·
16 underlying -- the scientific technique underlying anti17 clotting agent testing is old, and Respondent has
18 acknowledged that the technique itself is not a problematic
19 technique.

It's generally accepted.

It's been around for

20 years.
21

The application to the tampering context is a

22 relatively novel application.

However, Daubert recognizes

23 that well-established scientific techniques can be applied
24 in a new context, and the fact that a number of courts have
25 not admitted it as evidence, given the new nature of the
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1 test application, does not bar it under Daubert.

The Court

2 is also aware that that's only one of a number of factors
3 that the Court is considering in determining whether a test
4 is admissible under Daubert.
5

What Respondent continues to assert is that the

6 test is inadmissible unless it can prove the actual source
7 of the anti-clotting agent test -- of the actual anti8 clotting agent.

However,· this is not the Daubert standard.

9 The standard that Respondent is setting forth essentially
10 requires an anti-clotting agent test to conclusively prove
11 the ultimate issue of whether tampering has occurred.
12

But Daubert recognizes there are not absolutes in

13 science.

What is required is that it assists in proving

14 this ultimate issue.

The operative word is lIassist."

15 case law is clear on this.

The

In Respondent's Daubert brief,

16 they don't cite any case law stating that for a scientific
17 test such as the anti-clotting agent test in this case to be
18 admissible, they must ultimately prove the issue.

They also

19 don't even cite any analogous situations where a similar
20 test was not admitted under Daubert.
21

THE COURT:

Could you then briefly address the

22 results of the EDTA testing?
23

MR. KAZEMI:

Sure.

The merits, the actual

24 results?
25

THE COURT:

And if -- or maybe you could defer
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1 that and then confirm over the lunch hour the units.
2

MR. KAZEMI:

Okay.

I can address the results now.

3 As the Court is aware, Petitioner's objection to the EDTA
4 testing process since the beginning, on June 4, when
5 Petitioner submitted his first ,-- suggested his first
6 suggested testing protocol, it clearly stated that Doctor
7 DeForest, who was our expert at that time, should be
8 permitted to examine the T-shirt and select appropriate
9 stains for testing.
10

Doctor DeForest has worked regularly with Doctor

11 Ballard.

They respect each other's scientific judgment as

12 to how this sort of test should proceed.

And Doctor

13 DeForest was never permitted to actually view the T-shirt.
14 I understand what the Court stated before.

Doctor DeForest

15 stated in a letter to the Court that he felt it was
16 inappropriate to select stains for testing before an expert
17 actually had the opportunity to examine the T-shirt.
18

THE COURT:

Here's one of the issues, is that on

19 your theory of -- I mean, I would agree with you if we were
20 dealing with a different factual situation.

But

21 Petitioner's theory is that any blood anywhere on that shirt
22 that turned out to be Kevin Cooper's blood must have been
23 planted.

It's not that you're saying that as to -- you

24 would agree with me on that?

25

MR. KAZEMI:

That's correct.

Any blood --
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1

THE COURT:

2

MR. KAZEMI:

Any blood.
Any of Kevin Cooper's blood on the

3 shirt.
THE COURT:

4

So if we test any area where there is

5 Kevin Cooper's blood, then if the EDTA testing is valid,
6 that should show spiked levels of EDTA and confirm your
7 theory.

So it really -- now, Doctor DeForest wanted to

8 examine every possible thing and then reduplicate all of the
9 DNA testing, which would be an undue consumption of time.
10 So what I thought is, let's start with a known area, which
11 turned out to be a problem.
12

MR. KAZEMI:

13

THE COURT:

6-G.
So -- but known to both sides as a

14 problem, constructive knowledge.
15 the same information as Mr. Myers.

Because Doctor Blake had
Nevertheless, had Mr.

16 DeForest not quit, he would have been there and then he
17 would have been the one with Mr. Myers picking the area to
18 test.
19

So we could get sort of on a -- we could get off

20 to a side issue which is really irrelevant about the little
21 problems on the procedures, and instead focus on we did test
22 one area.

And so on that area, Respondent says it doesn't

23 prove it.

And what is your response?

24

25 first.

MR. KAZEMI:

Well, I'd like to address two issues

Doctor DeForest did not quit.

Doctor DeForest did
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1 not quit.

He suggested that the Court -- that an expert be

2 permitted to examine the substrate before a testing protocol
3 was established.
4

THE COURT:

5 Court order.

He said he refuses to comply with the

One can

he says that, if this is the way

6 we're going to do it, then he respectfully -- while he's
7 still interested in it, he doesn't want to participate.
8

Now, recognize that he doesn't get to pick.

It is

9 a process where we started out with the proposal.
10 Respondent said, no, that's way overbroad.
11 agreed, it was way overbroad.
12 elected to pick an area.

The Court

We narrowed it again and

And then he -- you can read the

13 part where he says, "I'm not going to proceed under this
14 Court's protocol."
15

MR. KAZEMI:

Well, the letter is in the record,

16 and I can quote from the letter.

Obviously, we have a

17 disagreement as to whether he quit or whether he was forced
18 out.
19

In any event
THE COURT:

You do agree he does say that he's not

20 going to go -- he's not going to participate in the protocol
21 that we set.
22

MR. KAZEMI:

At the end of page two he says,

23 quote, "If I may be of any further assistance in
24 articulating my concern, please let me know."
25 states, quote,

He also

"Although I am very busy, I am interested in
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1 this case.

II

And I can continue to read from the letter.

2 He's clearly interested, and I think the Court could have
3 given him an opportunity to express his concerns and then
4 decide whether he should have been permitted to continue
5 participating in the testing process.
6

But leaving the issue of Doctor

7

THE COURT:

Before he wrote that letter, from

8 Thursday and Friday we were trying to get his point.

And

9 the Court did accommodate his schedule and so resolved the
10 scheduling issue and was willing to give him additional
11 time.

But he's not in a position to disagree with a court

12 order and then -- so we had a substitute, Selmark, well
13 respected, nationally recognized.

And had Doctor DeForest

14 not said what he said, he would have been the one that would
15 have been there.
16

MR. KAZEMI:

Leaving the issue of Doctor DeForest

17 aside, I'd like to address another issue very quickly.

The

18 Court asked Steven Myers to investigate what remained of
19 6-G.

We had notes on 6-G.

The Respondent had notes on 6-G.

20 But Steven Myers went back and affirmatively represented to
21 the Court that 6-G remained.

We based our assumptions

22 regarding 6-G on Mr. Myers' affirmative representation.

So

23 I just want to set -24

THE COURT:

25

MR. KAZEMI:

Which was wrong.
His representation was incorrect, and
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1 he acknowledged that.
2

Now, with regard to the actual test results, first

3 of all, we don't know if the substrate stain that was tested
4 is even blood because a presumptive blood testing has never
5 been completed.
6

THE COURT:

Now, wait.

On this presumptive blood

7 testing, where does it say in your proposed protocol,. number
8 one or number two, that as to the control areas, the parties
9 should do presumptive blood testing?
10

MR. KAZEMI:

You said talk into this microphone.

11

Well, as a preliminary matter, Mark Taylor and

12 Doctor Ballard have both indicated that it is common
13 knowledge that before testing such as this would occur,
14 presumptive blood testing would be completed.
15

THE COURT:

You didn't answer the Court's

16 question.
17

MR. KAZEMI:

18

THE COURT:

Okay.
Is that the Court in June said -- the

19 Court before said, design a proposal, let me see it, we'll
20 have Respondent respond.
21 areas.

The proposal incorporate control

A proposal is developed.

22 about presumptive blood testing.

It doesn't say anywhere
So the answer is, it's not

23 there.
24

MR. KAZEMI:

The answer is this.

Mr. Hile

25 addressed this very briefly in his introduction.

First of
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1 all, we never had an expert examine the T-shirt.

What

2 happened was, a bunch of lawyers designed a scientific
3 testing protocol without getting adequate input from the
4 scientists who do this type of work for a living.
5
6 Alexander.

THE COURT:

That wasn't the representation of Mr.

He said that he had consulted with, I believe,

7 Doctor Blake, who provided a very good protocol.
8 DeForest then said it was unusually detailed.

And Doctor

We disagreed

9 about whether there should be an open-ended testing process
10 or whether we should proceed first on a directed area.
11

So your time is up.

You can reserve that for the

12 end, and we'll begin with Respondent.
13
14 Adrianne.
15

MS. WILKENS:

Thank you.

Thank you, your Honor.

Ignore

She's just going to work on the Power Point.
I'd like to begin by addressing the actual

16 innocence claim.

One thing that the United States Supreme

17 Court has made clear is, if, in fact, such a claim were to
18 be cognizable, it's very clear that the standard to be shown
19 would be extraordinarily high, of necessity.

Because when

20 you corne into litigation and it's successive litigation,
21 it's an entirely different posture than trial.
22

And one thing I couldn't help but notice in

23 counsel's brief on the merits was, in discussing the actual
24 innocence claim, the heading says, "Respondent has failed to
25 defeat Petitioner's actual innocence claim."

And this is
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1 very indicative of the problem with how Cooper approaches
2 this kind of litigation.

It is not incumbent upon the State

3 to disprove whatever Mr. Cooper's counsel thinks up.

They

4 have an affirmative obligation.
5

When we come before this Court after having

6 completed a trial, a direct appeal and a full round of a
7 federal habeas, it's very clear every presumption 'favors the
8 State.

All burdens rest squarely on Mr. Cooper.

And so

9 when you look at the arguments and you look at the
10 allegations, it's very clear that it's backwards.
11 my duty to. disprove.

It is not

It is their burden to affirmatively

12 produce evidence that shows innocence.
13

And in doing so, they have to rely on new

14 evidence, and it must be reliable evidence.

These are the

15 two key points about any evidence to support an actual
16 innocence claim.

New evidence is defined as evidence that

17 was not presented at trial.

And so much of what Cooper

18 presents was already heard by the jury and understandably
19 rejected.
20

Now, the sheer volume and consistency of the

21 evidence in this case is absolutely overwhelming.

And one

22 of the problems that I have perceived from the argument, the
23 allegations and just the general approach to this case is
24 they ignore all of the overwhelming evidence of Mr. Cooper's
25 guilt.

The proximity of Mr. Cooper to the murders is
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1 evidence of his guilt.
2

Now, up on the slides, that's a photograph that

3 shows the relative distance, the Ryen home up on the hill,
4 and just below it the hideout house.
5 126 yards.

It is a distance of

We know that Kevin Cooper escaped from CIM in

6 Chino at around 3:00 o'clock on Thursday.

By midnight, he

7 had reached the hideout house, which is the home nearest to
8 the Ryen residence.
9

He didn't waste any time getting onto the

10 telephone, trying to get help to get out of the area.

By

11 Friday morning around 11:00 o'clock, Cooper figured out that
12 he was not holed up in a vacant house because Virginia Lang
13 went into the hideout house for about two minutes to
14 retrieve her sweater.

We know from telephone records that

15 Kevin Cooper was inside the hideout house for at least 44
16 hours.
17

You want to tell me how to advance the slides?

18 I'm sorry, your Honor.

Which button?

I apologize, your

19 Honor.
20

Now, we know that Kevin Cooper had 44 hours to

21 observe the Ryen home and the Ryen family while he tried to
22 figure out how he was going to get out of the area.

Now,

23 this is a photograph that shows the Ryen home up on the
24 hill.

This is the viewpoint from the hideout house.

25 is the viewpoint -- no, we were there.

This

That is the
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1 viewpoint that Kevin Cooper had for no less than 44 hours.
2

We know that on Friday night at 8:28 p.m., Kevin

3 Cooper -- we know that Kevin Cooper hung up the phone at
4 8:28 on Friday night, after finding out that he was not
5 going to get any help getting out of the area.
6 with certainty because the two former

We .know this

gir~friends

he

7 telephoned requesting help declined assistance.
8

Now, Cooper was in a rural area.

Cooper was in a

9 rural area and was not getting any assistance to get out of
10 the area.

He knew that at a minimum he would not be

11 going -- he knew that he would not be going back to a
12 minimum facility, and it extended beyond simply the fact
13 that he had escaped.

He had used an alias when he was taken

14 into custody for burglary, and the paperwork had not caught
15 up with him yet.

But Kevin Cooper knew that he had an

16 outstanding warrant because he had fled a kidnapping and
17 rape charge in relation to a teenager.

18

So we turn from the proximity to the murders, to

19 the timing of the murders, which is, again, evidence of his
20 guilt.

The Ryen family was attending a friend's annual

21 barbecue a few miles away from their home.
22 family friend, Christopher Hughes.

They had taken a

We know they left the

23 barbecue around 9:00 p.m. that Friday night.

All but Josh

24 were never seen alive again.
25

We know that the Ryen truck was seen pulling up to
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1 the Ryen home sometime between 9:00 and 9:30.

We know from

2 the autopsy and the testimony of the pathologist that, based
3 on stomach content, the victims died sometime between 9:00
4 p.m. and midnight.

In other words, they died shortly after

5 Cooper found out he wasn't going to get any help to get out
6 of this rural area as a wanted fugitive holed up in a
7 hideout house where someone had already come in to retrieve
8 a sweater.
9

Now, as the California Supreme Court aptly

10 observed, it is utterly unreasonable to suppose that, by
11 coincidence, some hypothetical real killer chose this
12 particular night and this particular location to kill.
13 Putting it politely, it is simply implausible that someone
14 other than Kevin Cooper entered the Ryen home, viciously
15 attacking a father, a mother and three children with a
16 hatchet before stealing their stationwagon.

And all of this

17 occurs a mere 126 yards from where an escaped convict is
18 holed up trying to figure out how to get out of the area,
19 finding out just shortly before the murders that no one is
20 going to help him in that regard.
21

Now, the Ninth Circuit, in discussing the concept

22 of actual innocence, has observed that one of the things you
23 might do to show actual innocence is to produce new and
24 reliable evidence that you were somewhere else at the time
25 of the crime.

So what has Cooper produced on the subject of
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1 his being elsewhere?

Well, the only thing he's produced is

2 his trial testimony.

So it's not new, and it's certainly

3 not reliable.
4

Now, what we're asked to believe by Mr. Cooper in

5 his trial testimony is that he set out on foot
6 coincidentally shortly before the murders.

And as a

7 stranger in this rural area, walking out, he would stop and
8 ask people directions to Mexico.

And it's very curious to

9 me that after a family is found brutally slain and a
10 community is terrified and outraged, that no one comes
11 'forward and mentions that some stranger asked them for
12 directions to Mexico on the night of the murders.
13

So Kevin Cooper testifies to walking around in the

14 dark, approaching strangers for directions to Mexico.
15 surprisingly, the jury rejected his testimony.

Not

So even if

16 this Court could consider it as evidence, it's certainly not
17 reliable.
18

Now, Kevin Cooper argues that we should believe

19 him when he says he didn't go to the Ryen home, he didn't go
20 in their car, and the reason we should believe him is
21 because he testified, "Yes, I was in the hideout house."
22 Well, he didn't admit to being in the hideout house until he
23 knew that his footprint had been found on a shower sill in
24 the bathroom, he knew his fingerprint was on a Coffee Mate
25 jar inside the kitchen cabinet.
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1

He also knew there were telephone records of four

2 phone calls to two former girlfriends, and he knew those
3 girlfriends had told the police, "Yes, Kevin called, he
4 asked for help, and I declined."

He also had his semen on a

5 blanket inside the closet where he slept.

Only in the face

6 of all of that evidence did Kevin Cooper admit to being in
7 .the hideout house.
8

Now, one of the frustrations I have in listening

9 to the argument of counsel and reading the papers that they
10 present is they identify two pieces of evidence as
11 connecting Kevin Cooper to the Ryen home.

That is not

12 remotely a fair characterization of the evidence.
13 drop of blood inside the Cooper home
14 excuse me.

Yes, the

in the Ryen home --

The drop of blood on the wall at the crime scene

15 is very damning evidence.

And so is the partial shoe print

16 in blood on the bedding sheet in the Ryen bedroom.

But

17 every piece of evidence in this case is circumstantial.
18 There is no direct evidence versus circumstantial.
19

And as your Honor knows, circumstantial evidence

20 is of good quality.
21 direct evidence.

It simply isn't direct.

There is no

Counsel frequently refers to Josh's

22 identification of assailants, but there is no direct
23 evidence.

And so if all circumstantial evidence is

24 appropriately considered, every piece of evidence that
25 connects Cooper to the hideout house, including his own
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1 admission, also connects him to the Ryen home.

We know this

2 because the killer took the weapon from the hideout house.
3 So we are ·drawing a connection between the hideout house and
4 the Ryen home with circumstantial evidence.
5

Now, the hatchet.

It was known at trial that this

6 hatchet was the murder weapon.

It was thrown to the side of

7 the road on the only paved road leaving the Ryen home.

It

8 was consistent with the victims' wounds, and it had the
9 blood of Joshua Ryen, and it had the hair of Doug Ryen.
10 owners of the hideout house identified this hatchet.
11 kept inside the hideout house by the fireplace.

The

It was

Cooper's

12 own forensic expert at trial identified this as the murder
13 weapon.
14

Now, Cooper asks that we believe that someone

15 actually came into the home close in time to his departure
16 and chose the hatchet.

But they didn't just take the

17 hatchet from the fireplace,

they went into the bedroom that

18 Cooper used and they unsheathed the hatchet in that room.
19 Because the hatchet sheath was found in Cooper's bedroom,
20 not by the fireplace.
21

Additionally, a hunting knife was taken from the

22 hideout house.

It was taken from a closet where Kevin

23 Cooper stole clothing.

Because the clothing from that

24 closet was in his possession when he was arrested.

So Kevin

25 Cooper asks us to believe the implausible scenario where he
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1 walks out of the house shortly before the murder, and
2 someone else comes inside and chooses the hatchet,
3 unsheathes it in the bedroom he uses and takes a hunting
4 knife from a closet where he stole clothes.
5

We also know that the killer took a beer from the

6 Ryen refrigerator.

And we know the killer was in the

7 refrigerator to get a beer because one of the cans that
8 remained in the refrigerator had Joshua Ryen's blood on it.
9 NOw,
Now, the killer then left the beer can.
10 it?

Where did he leave

Halfway between the Ryen home and the hideout house.

11 So again, continuing connections between the killer and the
12 hideout house, all conveniently overlooked in Cooper's
13 actual innocence argument.
14

We also know there's a connection between the

15 hideout house, the Ryen home, Jessica's murder and the theft
16 of the stationwagon because there was unique vegetation.

In

17 the upper left-hand corner, these are the burs, the plant
18 burs that were found on the blanket in the closet that was
19 used by Kevin Cooper.

In the middle, we have a sample of

20 the vegetation that was collected halfway between the Ryen
21 home and the hideout house.

In the lower right-hand corner,

22 there is the vegetation, the burs that were recovered from
23 the Ryen stationwagon.
24

Now, Jessica lay on the floor in the doorway to

25 the master bedroom.

Her killer, after she was dead, carved
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1 on her chest.
2 up.

In order to do so, he lifted her nightgown

He then carved on her chest post-mortem wounds and then

3 once again lowered her nightgown.

We know the nightgown was

4 raised because otherwise it would have been necessary to
5 inflict the carving through her garment.

Inside her

6 nightgown were burs that matched those that were found in
7 the blanket that Cooper slept with similar to the vegetation
8 between the two houses and similar to the plant burs found
9 in the car.
10

Now, we also know that the killer returned to the

11 hideout house after the murders because the killer cleaned
12 up at the hideout house afterwards.

We know that luminal in

13 the shower was positive for a three-foot radius around the
14 shower showing that someone had showered off blood.

This is

15 the same shower where Cooper's footprint was found on the
16 sill.
17

We also know the killer used the bathroom that was

18 connected to the bedroom that Cooper used in the hideout
19 house because not only do we have his footprint on the
20 shower sill and not only do we have the luminal readings,
21 but we also have hair recovered from the traps in the drain
22 sink and the shower.

And that hair is consistent with

23 Jessica and Doug Ryen.
24

We also have a button that was found with Doug

25 Ryen's blood on it.

It came from a prison-issued jacket,
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1 the same kind that Kevin Cooper wore when he escaped.

And

2 since it has blood on it, it's deposited after the killing.
3

We also know that the closet in which Cooper slept

4 contained a rope.

And on that rope was Doug Ryen's blood.

S There was rope found on the driveway outside the Ryen's home
6 which contained victims' blood.

It was the same type of

7 rope that was found inside the closet where Cooper had
8 slept.
9

We know that the killer took the Ryens'

10 stationwagon.

We know it was the killer because the

11 victims' blood was inside the stationwagon.

We also know

12 that Cooper was inside the Ryens' stationwagon.

We know

13 that because a pubic hair was found inside the stat ionwagon ,
14 Item V-19.

It has the same texture,buckling, medulla, the

15 same pigment, the same form, the same pigment color and the
16 same pigment distribution as Kevin Cooper.
17

We also know that a hand-rolled cigarette, a butt

18 of a hand-rolled cigarette made from a very unique prison19 issued tobacco that Kevin Cooper admitted he had in his
20 possession when he escaped, the same tobacco that's found in
21 the closet where he slept.

Now, the ciga;rette butt was

22 determined to have been smoked by someone who fell within

23 20-percent of the population who are nonsecreters.

Saliva

24 analysis determined that.
25

There was also a second cigarette butt.

This was
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1 a manufactured cigarette butt, and it was the same brand as
2 the ones that-were missing from the hideout house.

Now,

3 what we're asked is -- and again, that was also smoked by a
4 nonsecreter.
5 trial.

This was the level of science at the time of

So Kevin Cooper asks us to believe the implausible.

6 We're asked to believe that someone who is also a smoker and
7 fell within only 20-percent of the population had smoked a
8 hand-rolled cigarette with prison-issued tobacco as well as
9 another that matched the brand missing from the hideout
10 house.
11

We're also asked to believe that this hypothetical

12 killer drove the Ryen stationwagon in the same direction
13 that Cooper followed en route to Mexico.

And we also know

14 that Cooper was in need of transportation out of the area.
15 So we are asked to ignore what is plainly implausible and
16 what is plainly overwhelming evidence of guilt.

This is

17 never addressed, it's never refuted.
18

And it's interesting because when you read the

19 case law on actual innocence, it's

a~ways

emphasized that

20 you can't merely cast doubt on evidence presented at trial.
21 That's insufficient for the extraordinarily high showing
22 that's required.

Well, Kevin Cooper doesn't even do that.

23 There's no doubt being cast on all of the circumstantial
24 evidence that ties him to the Ryen home and to the killings.
25

It's not simply A-41, the drop of blood in the
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1 hallway, or the partial shoe print.
2 together.

It's all of it

Because· just at ,trial, it's extremely import to

3 consider the totality of the evidence.

And the United

4 States Supreme Court made that clear in Thompson.
5 cannot decide an innocence claim in a vacuum.

You

You must

6 decide it in reference to all the evidence of guilt that was
7 presented at trial.
8

As -- the drop of blood is clearly extremely

9 damning evidence.
10 body lay.

It's just across from where Jessica's

The partial print in blood, extremely damning

11 evidence, but clearly not the only evidence.
12

Now, the serology at the time disclosed that the

13 drop of blood across the hallway, directly leading into the
14 master bedroom where Jessica lay on the floor, Cooper
15 couldn't be excluded as the source of that drop, even by the
16 technology of the day.

And extensive serology testing

17 disclosed what really were very astronomical numbers for
18 that time.
19

Cooper could not be excluded when only 11 out of

20 10 million persons of black heritage would be included
21 within the serology results.

One out of every million in

22 the population at that time were of black heritage.

This is

23 extremely damning evidence.
24

THE COURT:

25 for our break.

I think this is an appropriate time

We'll take a one-hour break, and then we'll
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1 be back at 1:00 o'clock.
2

(Proceedings were recessed to 1:00 p.m.)

3

4
5

6

7
8

9

10
11
12
13
14
15

16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23
24

25
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AFTERNOON SESSION

1

2

THE COURT:

We're back on the record.

All parties

3 are present.
4

You may proceed when you're ready.

5

MS. WILKENS:

Thank you, your Honor.

Thank you,

6 your Honor.
7

Now, the Ninth Circuit also observed that another

8 type of evidence that could possibly prove the innocence of
9 a convicted defendant would be DNA evidence.
10 case, the DNA evidence confirms guilt.

Now, in this

So we don't have any

11 new reliable evidence that would assist Mr. Cooper in that
12 regard.
13

Now, the post-conviction testing revealed that the

14 match of Mr. Cooper's DNA profile to the

d~op

of blood

15 increases the probability estimates that existed from the
16 serology testing at the time of trial.

At this point in

17 time, it's known that the possibility of the DNA profile
18 from the drop of blood known as A-41 would be estimated to
19 occur at random in the population with a frequency of
20 approximately one in 310 billion for African-Americans, one
21 in 270 billion for Caucasians, and one in 340 billion for
22 Western Hispanics.

So obviously, what was very damning

23 evidence at trial has now become conclusive confirmation of
24 Mr. Cooper's guilt.
25

THE COURT:

Is the match to A-41 one in 300
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1 million or billion?
2

MS. WILKENS:

3

THE COURT:

4

MS. WILKENS:

S

THE COURT:

6

MS. WILKENS:

Billion.
With a 'B' ?
Yes.

Yes, your Honor.

For African-Americans?
Yes.

One in 310 billion for

7 African-Americans, one in 270 billion for Caucasians, and
8 one in 340 billion for Western Hispanics.
9

The post-conviction DNA testing additionally

10 confirmed that the saliva from the two cigarette butts also
11 contained Mr. Cooper's DNA.

There was also a match to Mr.

12 Cooper's DNA profile on the T-shirt.

It's now known that

13 the T-shirt found near the Canyon Corral Bar has blood that
14 matches the DNA profiles of both the victims and Mr. Cooper.
15

Now, as I indicated, Cooper completely ignores all

16 of this overwhelming circumstantial evidence of his guilt,
17 and it is incumbent upon him to address the totality of the
18 evidence presented at trial within the context of any
19 evidence of innocence that he might present.
20

Mr. Cooper doesn't really present evidence.

21 presents theories.

He

He has his multiple assailant theory.

22 And what he cites in support of his mUltiple assailant
23 theory are the statements of Joshua Ryen.

And he distorts

24 Josh's statements to police and calls them eyewitness
25 identification.
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1

This has been litigated since the time of trial,

2 on appeal, and previously by this Court.

It is well

3 understood that Josh was near death, eight years old.' trying
4 to assist law enforcement, and so he, having seen three
5 Hispanics looking for work at the family ranch earlier in
6 the day surmised that they might be involved.

It is very

7 clear -- and the California Supreme Court noted it in its
8 decision -- that Josh did not see anyone's face.
9 one shadow in his parents' bedroom.

Josh saw

So nothing attributable

10 to Josh Ryen remotely supports the notion that there must
11 have been multiple assailants.
12

NOw, the daily log is not an indication that

13 current counsel needs discovery.

Their comment is an

14 indication that, once again, they don't appreciate that this
15 litigation in this case has gone on for 23 years.

And it's

16 gone on before they came to the case, and there has been
17 many proceedings, much evidence taken, and there are all
18 sorts of legal presumptions and legal standards that apply.
19

So when the Defense receives something at trial in

20 discovery and confirms it on the record - 21

THE COURT:

22

MS. WILKENS:

To the trial judge.
Yes.

It is not incumbent upon the

23 State 23 years later to bring a witness in to say that they,
24 in fact, provided the discovery.
25

THE COURT:

What about the microfiche issue?
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1

MS. WILKENS:

2 lunch recess.

Your Honor, we did inquire over the

At this time, if you were to go to the

3 headquarters and request all microfiche files on the Kevin
4 Cooper case, it would be in there.

However, I cannot

5 represent to the Court that it was there when Mr. Ingels
6 went there in 1998 because it's entirely possible that,
7 having checked today, it was put in there· because Mr. Kochis
8 requested the information recently.
9

What happens is, microfiche is separately

10 maintained relating to daily logs, independent of cases.

So

11 there may have been certain dates from the daily logs that
12 were a part of the Cooper files that would have been in
13 there since the time they first transferred the documents to
14 microfiche and could have been there when Mr. Ingels went
15 and looked, but it's also equally possible that when Mr.
16 Ingels identified a specific case and wanted the microfiche
17 for that case, he might have had to ask just to see daily
18 logs unrelated to cases for that time period.
19

THE COURT:

Is there a daily log of June 7 that

20 references the tan shirt?
21

MS. WILKENS:

22

THE COURT:

No.
Is there any daily log that references

23 a tan shirt?
24

MS. WILKENS:

No, your Honor.

And those -- we

25 have -- we have put that -- I believe that's before the
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1 Court, the 7th.

Is the daily log from the 7th --

THE COURT:

2

We were trying to -- so you· think it's

3 the 7th?
4

MR. ALEXANDER:

5

MR. HILE:

It was.

Your Honor, our understanding is that

6 the T-shirt was found on the 7th of June, but we haven't

7 seen a daily log for the 7th to see whether it shows up on
8 the daily log.

9
10

MR. ALEXANDER:
MS. WILKENS:

In the Field -- in the
This isn't coming out of my time, is

11 it, your Honor?
12

MR. ALEXANDER:

Yeah, it is, and I'm going to

13 be -14

MS. WILKENS:

No, you're not.

15

MR. ALEXANDER:

16

THE COURT:

I'm kidding.

I'm just kidding.

Well, why don't we let her proceed,

17 and then
18

MR. ALEXANDER:

Okay.

I was just saying, your

19 Honor, that in the Fields report, he says that -- there's a
20 report that he prepared when he recovered it, and it says it
21 was found on the 7th.
22

MS. WILKENS:

Your Honor, I'll address that.

And

23 I'm sure Mr. Alexander can address it in rebuttal, if he
24 chooses to.
25

So again, with respect to the mUltiple assailant
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1 theory, the key point is that Cooper presents no new or
2 reliable evidence that would suggest that more than one
3 person is involved.

He mentions Doctor Root.

Yes, Doctor

4 Root initially, based on the horrific nature of the crimes,
5 suspected perhaps multiple assailants.

But Doctor Root's

6 professional opinion was that it did not require multiple
7 assailants.

And all of the injuries were consistent with

8 having been inflicted by a lone assailant.

Doctor Root was,

9 in fact, impeached while he testified at trial with his
10 earlier notion.

So this is not something that can be

11 revisited in any context, let alone actual innocence.
12

Now, interestingly enough, one of the key points

13 cited by Cooper in support of his multiple assailant theory
14 is the level of distribution of the tennis shoes.

He

15 indicates that the evidence at trial showed no distribution
16 beyond California prisons, and somehow that supports the
17 multiple assailant theory.

I frankly concede I'm

18 alluding -- I don't get it.

But we know that the jury knew

19 it wasn't just California prisons.

The records in front of

20 the jury, the sales records showed military, forestry
21 service.

It was State and Federal Government institutions.

22

And this was a point that Defense counsel brought

23 out in his argument.

He noted that the distribution wasn't

24 simply to penal institutions.

So, you know, even though I

25 don't get the connection as to multiple assailants, the
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1 theory is not true.

It was never suggested that the shoes

2 only went to prisoners in California.
3

Now, the shoes are important in the sense that

4 there were three shoe prints that were recovered following
5 the crimes.

This is a ph9tograph of the shoe prints left at

6 the hideout house.

And what we had was a print at the

7 hideout house, full print
8

THE COURT:

The hideout house where Kevin Cooper

9 was?

10

MS. WILKENS:

Yes.

11 room of the hideout house.

And this is inside the game
And then we have another shoe

12 print on the spa cover outside the Ryen master bedroom.

Not

13 as textbook in appearance as this, but nevertheless, judging
14 by the experts on both sides, matching.

And then inside the

15 master bedroom on a bed sheet is a partial shoe print in
16 blood.

And expert testimony at trial indicated that the

17 same shoe made these prints.
18

And what's truly important about the shoe evidence

19 is not whether or not it was a shoe that was only

20 distributed in California.

The important point is that

21 Kevin Cooper admitted to wearing the same model of shoe and
22 size when he escaped.
23

THE COURT:

24

MS. WILKENS:

At trial?
At trial.

He admitted it.

And

25 since this is an extraordinary and equitable remedy, we also
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1 know that he discussed it at length with Mr. Forbush, and
2 there's a transcript in there.

And he explained his -- his

3 discussion with Mr. Forbush was that he got it another way
4 than Mr. Taylor.
5 Dude shoe.

But he never denied having the Pro Ked

He just took exception to Mr. Taylor saying

6 that's where he got it.

So that was something that was

7 focused on at the time of trial.
Now, the other multiple assailant theory and

8

9 third-party culpability theory is the bar patrons.

And we

10 have a contention that even though the trial jury focused on
11 the bar patrons and even though the Defense chose those as
12 what to put forward to try to engender reasonable doubt,
13 counsel now says the jury didn't have all the evidence
14 because the bar patrons were not only strangers, they were
15 also bloody.
16

And they also had a police officer respond to the

17 bar because of their disruptive behavior, et cetera, et
18 cetera.
19 bar.

And they say that an officer was dispatched to the

Well, this is a continuing evolution of a claim

20 because none of Cooper's own witnesses or anyone else places
21 an officer in that bar that night.
22

THE COURT:

23

MS. WILKENS:

We simply have --

The Court agrees.
Right.

We simply have Mrs. Slonaker

24 indicating that she was leaving to go out a back door,
25 looked out a front door, saw a uniform.

Doesn't match San
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1 Bernardino Sheriff's Office.

This is all we have.

And so

2 certainly not showing a disturbance, not showing that anyone
3 was sent to the bar.

None of the employees that

n~ght

felt

4 there was any need to summon the authorities, nor do they
5 place an officer inside the bar.
Now, counsel indicates that, while understandably

6

7 there are some differences in testimony concerning
8 immaterial facts or failures of recollection over 20 years
9 ago, the essential facts confirm the presence of three men
10 involving at least one with blood-stained coveralls.
11

Well, there's no evidence of blood-stained

12 coveralls at the bar.

And he cites as a source Christine

13 Slonaker, Mary Mellon-Wolfe, Lance Stark and Detective
14 Wilson.

So now he's going to try to tie the bar patrons to

15 the bloody coveralls that Diana Roper found.
16

Well, the problem with that is, even the four

17 people he's identifying as allowing him to make a
18 representation that there were blood-stained coveralls in
19 that bar don't support it.

Christine Slonaker said she saw

20 two men, one in T-shirt and Levi's and the other in
21 coveralls.

But what was interesting, she said the coveralls

22 had buckles.

So we can't be sure that these are the

23 zippered coveralls described by Diana Roper, even in style,
24 let alone one in the same.
25

Now, Christine Slonaker said the man that she saw
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1 with blood had blood allover on his arms,

face and shirt.

2 So we don't have her putting any blood on the coveralls with
3 buckles.

Now, Mary Mellon-Wolfe, she saw three men, one of

4 whom had spots of blood on his face and his shirt.
5 describes him as wearing jeans.

She

No mention of coveralls on

6 the man with blood.
7

Lance Stark very clearly described Farmer John

8 denim overalls.
9 people he saw.

And he never placed blood on any of the
He thought they were -- he thought he was

10 possibly looking at mud, grease or manure.
11

THE COURT:

So two of the three had jeans t and one

12 doesntt say that has buckles.
13

MS. WILKENS:

Right.

And even the one -- even the

14 coveralls with the buckles are not the man that she
15 describes as having blood.
16

Now t of courset there is a difficulty with Ms.

17 Slonaker because it was a very dramatic story where everyone
18 was covered in blood t and then it dissipates over time.
19 whatts really telling iS
20 evidence isntt there.

t

But

when you mention that -- the

The response from counsel waSt thatts

21 for the jury to decide whether or not there were bloody
22 coveralls in the bar.

Wellt of course wetre dealing with a

23 hypothetical jury here.
24

And so the test is not, oh t well, the jury didntt

25 have the benefit of it.

Why would this show prejudice in
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1 the context of a jury trial?

There is no evidence even now

2 to tie coveralls to the bar or to bloody coveralls.

So this

3 is the kind of arguments that are being presented, and
4 they're just pulled out of thin air.
S

THE COURT:

On the flip side, you do have the

6 match to Cooper from A-41, one in 310 billion.
7

MS. WILKENS:

Exactly.

And we know even from the

8 evidence at trial, even their own expert agreed, you had to
9 exclude Caucasians and Hispanics as the source of A-41.
10 This is a point they never deal with.

Because apparently

11 they think it's sufficient to simply say that it was
12 planted, and then it goes away.
13

THE COURT:

14

MS. WILKENS:

15 finding the bodies.

A-41 was discovered on June 7th?
It was discovered within hours of

The criminalist arrived at the scene,

16 and it was collected in their first visit.

They can't put a

17 precise time, but it was during that initials visit.
18 was within hours of the discovery of the bodies.

So it

And it

19 completely eliminates any Caucasians or Western Hispanics.
20

So if we're going to have a massive law

21 enforcement conspiracy, they have already decided after
22 discovering the bodies that it's going to be a person of
23 black heritage.

It's simply incredible.

24

Now

25

THE COURT:

What about the semen discovery?

The
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1 blanket was seized shertly thereafter as well.
2

MS. WILKENS:

Well, the semen -- the semen en the

3 blanket was in the cleset he slept.

So. that's what

4 ultimately cenvinced him to' be candid with the jury and
5 acknewledge that he,

in fact, did sleep in the closet.

And

6 so -7

THE COURT:

But the blanket was seized, I believe,

8 on -- found early en.
9

MS. WILKENS:

It was early on when they realized

10 that someene had intruded upon the hideeut heuse.

Exactly.

11 And so., you knew, it's so. -- it's so. ridic.uleus to' think
12 that law enfercement weuld be engaged in a massive
13 censpiracy at the inceptien.

It's fascinating that anyene

14 weuld expect anyene to' believe that peeple who. devete their
15 lives to law enforcement wouldn't care abeut apprehending
16 the true killer.

Anyene will do.

17 dangerous killer is at large.

It's fine if seme

It deesn't make any sense.

18 It never has, and it never will.
19

New, it's curious because counsel indicates that

20 his witnesses were the closest to' the three men.

They were

21 in the best pesitien to' see whether or net they had bleed.
22 I respectfully disagree.

I think the waitress who. waited en

23 them and served them beers was remarkably close to' them.
24 And she also. is semeene who. was interviewed clese in time to'
25 the crimes.

She'S someene we knew who was at the bar when
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1 the murders
2

act~ally

occurred.

And your Honor inquired about Mr. Stark and how he

3 might be confused as to the night he was there.

Because

4 they were citing Mr. Stark's corroboration of an incident
5 where Ms. Slonaker and Ms. Mellon-Wolfe were being pestered
6 by unruly patrons.

That doesn't mean it happened the night

7 of the murders.
8

But he suggests it does because Ms. Slonaker and

9 Ms. Mellon-Wolfe say they're there.

So if they say they

10 were there, then Mr. Stark must be mistaken.

Well, I would

11 suggest that it's entirely possible they weren't in the bar
12 that night.

It could have been another night.

Because

13 they're describing -- he's describing Farmer John denim
14 overalls, and Ms. Slonaker is talking about somebody with
15 buckles.
16

So they may have had an incident at the bar.

17 Someone may have been rude.

And Mr. Stark certainly

18 corroborates rude behavior, but the problem is, every
19 witness we've presented was known to have been at the bar
20 because they came forward or were contacted close in time.
21 So there's a distinction between our witnesses and Cooper's
22 in that we have confirmation they were there.
23

The other distinction is, none of our witnesses

24 placed blood on these bar patrons.

And obviously, that was

25 a focus and a concern for a community that had been shaken
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1 by a brutal murder.
2

So it doesn/t make any sense.

Now, when you ask about the slip of paper showing

3 Mr. Stark's name and his number, their response is that we

4 haven't authenticated it or explained it or delved into it.
5 Well, quite frankly, it was in the Defense trial file that
6 they lodged with this court in 1997.
7 it was in the Defense trial file.

So that tells me that

And that's not my burden

8 to then come forward and explain how it got there, what they
9 did with it.

The point is, they knew they had been turned

10 over the name Lance Stark.
11

THE COURT:

And that does have implications.

I'm looking -- on the issue of A-41, I

12 was looking at the notes from -- from'the Defense, and it's
13 to -- a letter to Doctor Ed Blake from the trial counsel,

14 David Negus.
15

MS. WILKENS:

16

THE COURT:

Yes.
And he says that A-41 was scraped off

17 on June 6th, 1983 at 12:25, and the green blanket with semen
18 on it was found on June 7, 1983 between 2058 and 2109, and
19 it has the semen stains on it.

Now, obviously, they

20 couldn't plant the semen stains before they got Kevin Cooper
21 arrested.
22

MS. WILKENS:

No.

There would be no way to plant

23 that.
24

Now, the other thing that's troubling is they are

25 citing Detective Wilson in'support of bloody coveralls.

And
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1 Det'ective Wilson is of the opinion that he heard rumors
2 close in time that there were bar patrons with blood on
3 them.

It was inconsistent with every investigation that was

4 being conducted by the police at that time and certainly
5 inconsistent with the investigation by the Defense.
6

So somehow this rumor has been transformed into

7 coveralls as well.

And so it's not reliable evidence, it's

8 not information in the sense that it's someone reporting
9 something.

It's merely rumors.

And one of the problems

10 with these cases is when something goes on for 23 years,
11 often people hear things over time and then decide that they
12 heard them 20 years ago.
13 with blood.

There's no evidence of bar patrons

There was no information provided to law

14 enforcement that would support an innocence claim or even a
15 Brady claim.
16

And again, the bar shirt that was the focal point

17 of trying to get the jury to think about the bar patrons and
18 their possible involvement, we now know that that has
19 Cooper's blood on it with the victims'.

So the case against

20 the bar patrons has not gotten any better.

In·fact, it's

21 gotten worse.
22

And there's the same problem with the multiple

23 theory as to the three Hispanic males who they attribute to
24 Josh's eyewitness identification.

Yes, it's true Josh did

25 identify them as having been at the ranch.

That's the only
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1 eyewitness identification.

But again, A-41 could not have

2 been left by an Hispanic.
3

And also, I should probably mention again that

4 with respect to all of these multiple-assailant theories, we
5 would also have to get past the implausibility of anyone

6 else having committed the crimes in light of the proximity

7 and the timing of the murders.
8
9 Furrow.

The next suspect in Mr. Cooper's mind is Mr.
Well, Mr. Furrow has no motive.

10 He had one then, he has one now.
11

THE COURT:

12

MS. WILKENS:

He has an alibi.

There is --

The rock concert?
Yes.

Yes.

And that was confirmed

13 even 20-plus years later by a former spouse of another
14 individual who was there, who I would suggest has no reason
15 to assist Mr. Furrow.

And there's just no evidence

16 whatsoever connecting Mr. Furrow to the Ryen/Hughes murders.
17

Diana Roper and her visions and whatever was

18 driving her, you know, to make these comments -- I mean, if
19 you want to assess Diana Roper and the connection to the
20 coveralls and to Furrow and the murders, listen to her story
21 about the hatchet.

We know for sure that even if Lee Furrow

22 had a hatchet and even if it went missing after the murders,
23 we know it's not the murder weapon.
24

And so these are the kinds of things --

25

THE COURT:

And the hatchet that is the murder
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1 weapon was --

2

MS. WILKENS:

3

THE COURT:

Came from the hideout house.
-- came from the hideout house where

4 Kevin Cooper was, and the sheet came from the bedroom where
5 Kevin Cooper was.
6

MS. WILKENS:

Exactly.

And these are the kinds of

7 things that must be considered and must be overcome by any
8 new and reliable evidence.

And again, we're not dealing

9 with new evidence because this has been known for some time.
10

Now, Kenneth Koon.

This is the next individual.

11 Kenneth Koon was a mental patient who indicated that he
12 overheard

I'm sorry.

A mental patient indicated he

13 overheard Kevin -- Kenneth Koon confess to the Ryen/Hughes
14 murders.

Well, this was known to Defense counsel at the

15 time of trial.

This was investigated by the Defense.

16 was investigated by the prosecution.
17 was chosen not to present.

It

Not surprisingly, it

And this is not affirmative

18 evidence of innocence.
19

There's actually a reference to Albert Anthony

20 Ruiz as supporting an actual innocence claim.
21 relating hearsay.
22 anything.

Mr. Ruiz was

He has no firsthand information of

And again, all of this has to be considered in

23 relation to the evidence that makes it implausible that
24 anyone else committed this crime.
25

So they then turn from discussing what they
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· 1 consider to be potential suspects to discrediting the
2 evidence.

And this is how they intend. to address the

3 overwhelming evidence of guilt.
4 T-shirt.

First planting blood on the

Well, I don't -- I don't know where to begin

5 there, so maybe. I'll just do that next.
6 evidence of planting.
7 Defense at trial,

8

But there's no

And the T-shirt was used by the

not the prosecution.

But one of the frustrations about the planting

9 claim -- and it's just indicative of how this case has been
10 litigated.

The allegation began because the evidence that

11 was checked out prior to the agreed-upon DNA testing, Cooper
12 got it in mind that Dan Gregonis checked it out and planted
13 blood.

And we went into State Court, we litigated it, and

14 guess what?
15

Dan Gregonis didn't have access to the shirt.

But the tampering claim doesn't go away.

And

16 that's ridiculous because what was next to nothing becomes
17 even less so when you just start making some vague
18 allegation of tampering.
19 about credibility.

And it shows me there's no concern

And if there's no concern about

20 credibility and what you bring forward and how you pursue
21 it, that's a pretty good indication that you don't have
22 anything.

Because if you did, you'd bring it forward at the

23 first opportunity, and you would want to preserve your
24 credibility with whatever court you were trying to convince
25 that you had an extraordinary situation where someone was
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1 actually innocent.
2

And we don't have that in this case.

Instead, we have a vague allegation that

3 supposedly someone could plant a minute amount of blood and
4 wait for Nobel Prize-winning science and even anticipate
5 that Mr. Cooper's sentence would not have been carried out
6 with any degree of swiftness and that you could be able to
7 demand such testing when the Nobel Prize-winning science
8 became available.
9

So it's just a ludicrous claim.

They also say you plant the drop of blood.

How

10 could you do that within hours of finding the bodies?
11 ridiculous.

And there was extensive serology testing before

12 Mr. Cooper was ever apprehended.
13 occur?
14

It's

How did this planting

It doesn't make any sense.
Now, the shoe print.

There's a suggestion that,

15 well, Mr. Baird must have taken another shoe that he had at
16 the lab that was the same brand and model as issued at the
17 prison to Mr. Cooper, and he must have made that print on
18 the bed sheet.

Well, did he also go back to the crime scene

19 and make the print at the hideout house on the spa cover?
20 mean, was everybody in on this?

I

Was Mr. Baird walking

21 around with a shoe making prints while everyone is looking
22 for evidence of a killer?
23

This is ridiculous.

There were multiple criminalists involved in the

24 collection of evidence, and we're having people creating
25 shoe prints that match the print that was supposedly
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1 manufactured at the lab?
2

It doesn't make any sense.

Now, what we have is an actual innocence claim

3 that rests with the notion that every Defense attorney
4 that's assisted Mr. Cooper, from Mr. Negus through Mr.
5 Amidon through Mr. McGuigan
6

THE COURT:

Mr. Mauer (phonetic).

7

MS. WILKENS:

Yes.

They're all incompetent.

Only

8 current counsel have Mr. Cooper's best interests at heart.
9 Only current counsel can get to the root of things.

And

10 also, all of the Defense experts,. they're all incompetent.
11 Every Defense expert they've ever called upon is not any
12 good anymore.
13

And all of the law enforcement personnel are

14 corrupt.

And all the prosecutors from two separate agencies

15 are corrupt.

And all the judges turn a blind eye to it.

16 Everyone is at fault except for Kevin Cooper.

Well, you

17 can't accept that because look at the evidence of what Kevin
18 Cooper did.
19

And there'S just nothing here.

And I thought it was very telling that there's an

20 afterthought in support of their innocence.

They mentioned

21 the Court could reconsider Mr. Cooper's penalty on a theory
22 of lingering doubt.

So if you don't think that what they've

23 presented is sufficient to show his innocence of the crimes,
24 then you could take a second look at his penalty and reweigh
25 it and undo it.
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1

Well, the problem with that is, of course, a legal

2 one, which they don't acknowledge or discuss.

When you get

3 to a successive habeas petition, any concept of innocence as
4 to penalty only goes to eligibility.

And Mr. Cooper was

5 eligible for the death penalty because he killed more than
6 one person.

So if you have multiple murders supporting.your

7 eligibility for the death penalty and your innocence
8 evidence isn't enough to undo your convictions for those
9 multiple murders, it's not really going to present lingering
10 doubt -- it's not really going to present an issue as to
11 eligibility.
12

Now, you can never revisit the appropriateness of

13 a penalty at this procedural juncture.

You can only revisit

14 actual innocence of your eligibility for the death penalty.
15 Supreme Court
16

THE COURT:

Is that the difference between -- we

17 discussed yesterday the Ninth Circuit remanded a case by
18 saying it considered lingering doubt and then avoided the
19 penalty, or'alternatively they do another penalty phase.
20 Are you saying this is different because this is a
21 successive petition?
22

MS. WILKENS:

Well, you -- you read the Boyd

23 opinion yesterday, and I didn't have time.

But it is

24 possible to find error in a penalty phase based upon a
25 lingering doubt concept.

But it might be a direct appeal,
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1 it might be a first-rqund habeas.

I would have to -- and I

2 do plan on reading Boyd, but -3

THE COURT:

You may want to look at that because

4 Petitioner dOes raise -- raised as an alternative lingering
5 doubt.

And so you may want to take a look at that.

6

MS. WILKENS:

Yeah.

I didn't -- I didn't know if

7 there was a freestanding actual innocence as to penalty in

8 Boyd.

I know that the actual innocence in the guilt phase

9 was not accepted.

The claim was not accepted in Boyd.

But

10 I'm not positive of the reasons for the reversal.
11

THE COURT:

They said that the trial counsel did

12 an ineffective job in the penalty phase.

That in this case

13 has already been -14

MS. WILKENS:

15

THE COURT:

16 with.

Ah, okay.
That in this case was already dealt

Mr. Negus testified at the first evidentiary hearing

17 that one of the reasons he didn't go into some of the issues
18 is because Mr. Cooper had escaped 12 times.
19

MS. WILKENS:

20

THE COURT:

Right.
And obviously, the issue of his prior

21 rape, which was very similar circumstances to this, was
22 presented.

And then I do know that, at least at the trial,

23 nobody brought up the additional rape while he was escaped
24 from the Chino in San Bernardino at knife-point for the
25 woman who was.--
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1

MS. WILKENS:

2

THE COURT:

3

MS. WILKENS:

4

THE COURT:

Correct.

-- adjacent to his boat
Right, in Santa Barbara.

- - that he had escaped on.

And so

5 there was an additional aggravating fact that, had they
6 elected to go that way, then certainly a jury hearing prior
7 rape and another rape, allegation of another rape could be
8 very damaging to Mr. Cooper.
9

MS. WILKENS:

Well, that's true.

That's true.

10 Any lingering-doubt concept would encompass the greater
11 showing that could be made in the penalty phase.

And since

12 your Honor has mentioned that the reversal in the penalty
13 phase was for ineffective assistance of counsel in Boyd, I
14 now understand that what it would have been is, in assessing
15 the prejudice prong for ineffective assistance of counsel,
16 they would have considered how would it have turned out if
17 he had presented the lingering doubt.
18

But what Mr. Cooper is trying to do here is he's

19 not saying ineffective assistance of counsel with respect to
20 the penalty phase.

He's saying that he's entitled to

21 revisit his penalty phase because he's actually innocent.
22 And that comes within a Herrera type analysis.
23

And in Thompson, the United States Supreme Court

24 made it clear only eligibility for the death penalty is
25 something that you get into in the context of just
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1 innocence.

So if you're jU$t saying "I'm innocent, I'm

2 innocent of penalty," you may only look at eligibility.

If

3 you want to say, "My defense attorney was deficient because
4 he didn't present the case he should have on lingering
5 doubt," then that can be considered.
6

THE COURT:

In some of the -- their last three

7 claims, they kind of do that.
8

MS. WILKENS:

Well, they -- actually, they

9 don't -- they don't discuss -- they did not raise it in the
10 context of penalty.

They raised it in the context of

11 ineffective assistance of counsel in the guilt phase.

They

12 certainly could have extended it to the penalty and probably
13 will when they get up shortly.
14

And again, even if this Court could reconsider

15 penalty, frankly -- you know, Mr. Cooper sat there for 44
16 hours.

He knew he was going into a home with a family.

17 Their lives clearly meant nothing to him.

I cannot conceive

18 of the horrific deaths that these victims experienced, and I
19 cannot -- I cannot believe that any reasonable juror would
20 not find death appropriate.

And certainly you cannot say

21 that no reasonable juror would find death appropriate, which
22 would be the appropriate standard.
23

Doug and Peggy Ryen died knowing they couldn't

24 save their children and another child who had been entrusted
25 to them.

I cannot think of a worse death, and I cannot
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1 conceive of a jury reaching a different result based on
2 anything that Mr. Cooper has presented to this Court.
3

Now, the warden -- the warden Brady claim.

Mr.

4 Cooper has decided that he does not have to make the
5 necessary showing to be heard before this Court because he's
6 under the misimpression that since this Court didn't
7 summarily dismiss the claim once the answer was filed, it's
8 no longer incumbent upon him to explain why it took him so
9 long to get here.
10

And he cites no authority because there is none.

11 The procedural bars that are in place are designed to
12 curtail abuse, abuse of the system, which is precisely the
13 type of abuse that took place in the eleventh hour of Mr.
14 Cooper's case.

And it's incumbent upon Mr. Cooper to

15 explain where he's been.

16

Another novel argument that Mr. Cooper advances

17 is, it doesn't matter whether he knew about the warden's
18 information in 2001 or he found out about it in 2004 because
19 he had already finished litigating his first habeas
20 petition.

Well, that kind of ignores the point as to why

21 people are supposed to come forward.
22

And I distinctly recall this Court advising

23 counsel in the weeks before Mr. Cooper's scheduled execution
24 that,

IIPlease bring whatever claims you have to whatever

25 court you choose at the earliest opportunity so that they
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1 can be seriously considered and appropriately litigated."
2 Well, when someone chooses not to do that, the message to
3 the Court is,

"We don't have anything we want you to

4 scrutinize."
So when you-tell the Ninth Circuit that you just

5

6 found out about something, they are led to believe that you
7 have come to them at the earliest opportunity, and therefore
8 they are going to take your claim more seriously than they
9 otherwise would, knowing that you sat on it for several
10 years.
11

Now, the Ninth Circuit really had a misimpression

12 about the warden's supposed information.

And that is

13 attributable to the volume of filings and material they had
14 to review.

The en banc panel had no prior familiarity with

15 this case whatsoever, so they were tasked with a virtually
16 impossible task because Mr. Cooper chose to make it that
17 way.
18

So when you read the Ninth Circuit opinion, it

19 says that if Warden Carroll had been put on the stand, and
20 if the jury had believed her, the jury would not know that
21 Mr. Cooper was almost certainly not wearing the Pro Ked
22 shoes.
23

Then the next reference is, if the -THE COURT:

We do know that Mr. Cooper testified

24 at trial he was wearing Pro Ked shoes.
25

MS. WILKENS:

He admitted he was wearing the
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1 shoes.

And then they say, if the information in warden

2 Carroll's declaration is true, it is necessarily true that
3 Mr. Taylor could not have handed out Pro Ked shoes to
4 Cooper.

There is a clear inference that they believed that

5 these types of shoes were not available at ClM.

And when I

6 went back and read. the papers, you could see where the
7 information from Warden Carroll was very vague.

It really

8 wasn't all that clear.
9

So here we stand over a year later, and we know

10 there has never been and never could be suggested that CIM
11 didn't have these shoes to give Mr. Cooper.

And we know

12 that Mr. Cooper admitted that he was wearing them at the
13 time of his escape.

So what is the significance of the

14 level of distribution of these shoes?

It is so de minimis

15 compared to all of the evidence we've discussed about Mr.
16 Cooper's proximity, the timing and the fact that he admits
17 to wearing a shoe from that manufacturer, that particular
18 brand and the same size.
19

And so this has all been a very gross miscarriage

20 of justice that was deliberately pursued through
21 manipulation and tactics that Congress and the courts have
22 tried to overcome by putting in place requirements,
23 requirements that Mr. Cooper thinks he need not address with
24 this Court because you didn't summarily dismiss his petition
25 and turn him away.

And since you didn't summarily dismiss
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1 his petition, you found out that he knew about it in 2001
2 and a lot of other information.
3

Now, he.says that we've conceded that the warden

4 conducted an inquiry.

We've conceded no such thing.

We

5 cross-examined Warden Carroll, and she admitted on cross
6 examination that her reference to a. personal inquiry in her
7 declaration was, quote, an overstatement.

What happened is,

8 Warden Carroll -- her whole concept begins with
9 misinformation.

She reads the newspaper and gets it in her

10 head that the prosecution is saying these were prison11 manufactured shoes.

The prosecution never said that.

12 don't even know if the newspapers said that.

I.

She may have

13 read prison-issued and decided it was prison-manufactured.
14 So her inquiry begins with misinformation.

15
16 is like,

And then it was very interesting because counsel
"Well, those are her official files.

17 an official thing."

This wasn't

Well, why is the Ninth Circuit being

18 told about inquiries by a warden?

She doesn't even ask the

19 people who are assisting law enforcement in the
20 investigation.

She doesn't even call for her own purchasing

21 records.

And nobody has confirmed anything she said.

22

And the bottom line is, even if she did call up,

23 whoever took the call, you know, would know we're not saying
24 they're prison-issued.
25 Defense and say,

Are you supposed to go to the

"Warden Carroll is confused and she thinks
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1 that we're contending these are prison issues, and she told
2 us they're not, so we want you to know that"?

I mean, it

3 doesn't make any sense.
4

And then this is another evolving claim where

5 "apparently credibility doesn't matter at all.

They say

6 that .- - they say that the catalogue shows that anybody who
7 would like to buy these shoes could buy them.
8 not a retail catalogue.

Well, it's

It's a wholesale catalogue.

So

9 just because it's in your catalogue doesn't mean that
10 anybody wants that shoe besides institutions.
11

And what they don't tell you is, in Mr. Newberry's

12 testimony, he referenced the catalogue, and he said it had
13 been in there for 10 to 15 years.
14 wants to buy it to sell retail.

It doesn't mean anybody
And then they say that Mr.

15 Newberry's testimony was overstated.

~nd

the reason his

16 testimony -- we know his testimony is overstated is because
17 of Mr. Luck's testimony.
18

Well, Mr. Luck reviewed Mr. Newberry's testimony.

19 He reviewed the exhibits.
20 him.

He said it all looked right to

And then they're like, "Well, if Mr. Luck can assure

21 this Court that no shoe was sold retail" -- that's right.
22 Mr. Luck, from his personal knowledge 20 plus years later
23 cannot guarantee this Court that there wasn't a sale to a
24 small retailer because he wouldn't know that.

He was in

25 charge of major retailers.
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1

And so he personally couldn't rule it out.

2 doesn't mean it happened.

It doesn't mean that Mr.

3 Newberry's testimony is in question.
4 records are inaccurate.

It

It doesn't mean those

And I won't belabor it because it

5 doesn't really matter because Kevin Cooper was 126 yards
6 away in the same brand and size of shoes.
7

.So to say that it's material exculpatory evidence

8 if there's a possibility that someone bought it in a store,
9 a small retail store -- that's not material exculpatory
10 evidence, and it's indicative of how far we've strayed from
11 the salient evidence in the case.
12

I couldn't believe it, but counsel said the only

13 way to tie these shoes to Mr. Cooper was if they're
14 available at the prison.

He got them at the prison.

And

15 it's not the only way to tie him to these crimes, let alone
16 the shoes.

17

Now, the coveralls.

In the context of their Brady

18 claim -- and this is extremely important to bear in mind.
19 They are not allowed to revisit the destruction of the
20 coveralls in general.

They are only allowed to revisit the

21 implications from the disposition report that was not turned
22 over.
23

And they're saying that they get to address the

24 policies and practices of the Sheriff's Department.

They

25 want to put Debbie Eckley on the stand, and they want to
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1 know, did you follow this policy, did you follow that
2 policy?

Well, you let him do it, and he said no.

And they

3 just don't like the answer.
4

But this

5 overs.

wa~

explored at trial.

You don't get do-

You don't get to reopen things that were known to

6 the befense, explored by the Defense and before the jury
7 just because you found a disposition report.

Now, they said

8 the importance of the disposition report was that it showed
9 someone else was involved in the decision.
10 allowed them to explore that.

And the Court

But that's all they get to

11 explore.
12

And so now it's like, "Well, you know, your Honor,

13 we need more time because they haven't produced the evidence
14 tag."

What has that got to do with whether or not the

15 initials on that disposition report show that Debbie Eckley
16 was untruthful in saying he did it all by himself?
17 nothing to do with it.

It has

They want us to produce the ledger.

18 Well, they need to go over to the trial court and spend more
19 time in the exhibit room than they already have because the
20 ledger is in evidence.

A copy of the ledger is in evidence.

21 Because Defense trial counsel was focused on the ledger.
22 They did want to know if the coveralls had been tested.
23
24 time.

These are not questions being raised for the first
It may be new to them, but it's not new to this case,

25 and it's not appropriate.

It's not an appropriate inquiry
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1 whatsoever.

They say there's a question if the coveralls

2 went for testing.

No, that question was answered at trial.

3 And they're not allowed to revisit it because of the
4 disposition reports discovery.

That's not how it works.

5 You don't get to just entirely revisit a case because a
6 small piece of the puzzle in terms of the record-keeping on
7 the coveralls wasn't turned over.

a

NOW, the blue shirt.

The blue shirt is a classic

9 example of why you have a trial, why it's important and why,
10 when you're 23 years later, you don't get to have the law
11 enforcement go around and try to answer your questions about
12 the blue shirt.

As your Honor noted, there's no reference

13 in the daily logs to the collection of the tan shirt.
14

And unfortunately, the officer who collected the

15 shirt is dead, but what are the odds of the same officer
16 picking up a shirt in the same general vicinity with -17 possibly with blood on it?

And this is why Mr. Kochis said

18 frankly there never was a blue shirt.

And frequently

19 because of audio or just the person calling it in, you can't
20 lQok at a dispatch log and decide that whatever is down
21 there is exactly what was collected.
22

But our position has been and will always be

23 and it's a legally appropriate position -- the log was
24 turned over to the Defense.

If the Defense wanted us to run

25 around and explain the blue shirt to them, they had every
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1 opportunity to do so.

And you don't come
corne into a Federal

2 Court 23 years after the fact, when people have died, and
3 expect them to do this.
4 procedures.
5

That's why we have all these

That's why there's all this case law.

And Laurel Epler -- as your Honor knows, there is

6 a taped interview where it was very careful not to provide
7 her with any information whatsoever, and it was very clear
8 she had no recollection.

And only after the conclusion of

9 that interview were photos of the shirt that was discovered
10 and picked up by the officer -- only then were those photos
11 sent to her to see if it would at all jog her memory.
12

So there's no impropriety whatsoever.

13 black and white photos because it's 1983.
14 conspiracy.

They're

It's not a

We didn't photograph it because we knew that

15 after we threw away the blue shirt, you know, we would try
16 to make it look like a tan shirt.

I mean, this is just

17 getting ridiculous.
18

And Laurel Epler -- I mean, frankly, she went from

19 no recollection to vivid recollection.
20 credible.

It's simply not

And again, it illustrates the problem with 'trying

21 to look into things long after the events in question.
22

The Hispanic gang, the Hispanic jail inmates.

23 I'll simply say A-41, it's not credible evidence.
24

VV-2.

This is a claim that there was tampering

25 with Cooper's blood reference sample.

It's not evidence.

Echo Reporting, Inc.

105
1 Why would anyone tamper with a reference sample?
2 like you can't get another one.

It's not

I mean, what is the motive

3 for tampering with a reference sample?
THE COURT:

4

Well, also, it was -- I thought it was

5 agreed that the hair was never going to be Kevin Cooper.

By

6 visual microscopic examination, it was not African-American.
7

MS. WILKENS:

8

THE COURT:

Absolutely.
We didn't need to spend a lot of

9 money --

10

MS. WILKENS:

11

THE COURT:

No.

--

on the mitochondrial for the

12 purpose of determining whether it was Kevin Cooper's hair or
13 not.

It was a given that it was not going to be.

14 even ask for it

I didn't

- -

15

MS. WILKENS:

16

THE COURT:

17

MS. WILKENS:

No.
-- be sent.
No.

That was actually our fault,

18 and I hope you don't bill us for the extra analysis on it,
19 but

20

THE COURT:

21

MS. WILKENS:

22

THE COURT:

No, but there --- we didn't -I agree with Petitioner that some

23 complications, which are major in this case, have come from
24 the problems that we've had on the 6-G and then -25

MS. WILKENS:

Well, and again --
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1

THE COURT:

going into a tangent on the

2 reference sample that wasn't even supposed to be
3

MS. WILKENS:

Right.

And again, that was because

4 they -- Doctor Melton, she didn't know.

She didn't know it

5 wasn't relevant to the inquiry'being conducted.

So her

6 report recommends further testing because she doesn't have a
7 good reference sample from Mr. Cooper.
8 running, we need more testing.

They're off and

And so that -- and then, of

9 course, you don't understand it wasn't a hair.

It's like

10 no, you understand perfectly.
11

But the problem with 6-G, quite candidly, your

12 Honor, is we have zealously adhered to the agreement.

And

13 so we were working from notes and photographs when normally
14 you would look at the shirt before making a representation
15 to a court.

So that's one of the problems with the constant

16 accusations in this case.
17

You know, you take all of these precautions so

18 that they don't have more accusations to make.
19 what?

But you know

It doesn't work because Mr. Kazemi will get up and

20 tell you that Mr. Myers pulled a fast one because he went
21 back east, and there wasn't a stain 6-G.
22 Mr. Myers would

n~ver

Well, obviously

do anything like that.

23 he was working solely from notes.

It was because

And so, you know, that's

24 one of the problems with this case.
25

NOW,

the cigarette butts is another example of
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1 dismissing former experts and really not staying with a
2 consistent framework.

Doctor Blake could readily explain to

3 this Court how ludicrous their accusations are about
4 cigarette butts, but they don't want Doctor Blake anymore.
5 And they have been exploiting by saying, oh, the cigarette
6 butt is folding itself, it's growing, it's -- you know, it's
7 this and that.
8
9 Wraxall

When you look at the photographs taken by Mr.
and again, Mr. Wraxall did not look -- do any

10 testing in 2001.
11 documented it.

I think counsel misspoke.
He clearly spread it but.

12 spread it out to measure it.

Mr. Wraxall
He chose to

When it came into DOJ, it was

13 photographed in its container and not touched, perhaps out
14 of an abundance of caution.

But you can see that it is

15 folded.
16

And the other thing they do is they'll present a

17 photograph that's a different scale.

And then they'll put

18 it -- a bad black and white copy in and go, "Oh, these
19 cigarette butts, they keep disappearing and appearing."
20 it's just nonsense.

And

And it's the kind of thing that you do

21 when you throw too many things against the wall 20 years
22 after the fact.

And it's just not -- it's not fair, and

23 it's not appropriate.
24

Same thing with V-17.

You see Mr. Wraxall's black

25 and white photo again, a product of the era, not a
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1 conspiracy that it's in black and white.

And then you see

2 the color photographs by DOJ, and there's no disparity
3 evident.

4

THE COURT:

What I would like you to do with the

5 photographs of the shirt is, once you get them produced, to
6 submit them to counsel and to the Court, and then also take
7 those same photographs and then do an overlay of the
8 photograph that has previously -- whether it's a photograph
9 or not, the picture of the shirt where the prior testing
10 was -11

MS. WILKENS:

12

THE COURT:

Yes.
-- and then overlay the current

13 testing.
14

MS. WILKENS:

Okay.

This is a photograph of the

15 samples and the stain that were selected from the shirt for
16 the EDTA testing that was ordered by this Court.

And this

17 again shows the changing positions of Cooper, the complete
18 lack of credibility when you discuss the EDTA testing.
19 Because we've gone from a quick definitive test in the
20 eleventh hour to coming before this Court where a very
21 thorough tutorial explored the concerns.
22

And the DOJ scientist told this Court that there

23 were no known methods that would be suitable for the
24 marginal situation presented in this case.

We have a think

25 blood smear on a 20-plus-year-old garment.

And we -- we
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1 indicated that choosing appropriate substrates would be
2 highly problematic and would not reliably account for the
3 background in this highly varied substrate.
4

But, you know, Doctor Ballard came in here, and

5 everything was very simple, there were no problems, it's no
6 big deal.

And all of a sudden, after the Court allows them

7to have testimony by their own expert that doesn't support
8 their claim, well, suddenly, you know, further work needs to
9 be done, we need to have input into the process, you know,

10 maybe there will be some 'further testing or maybe some
11 changes in the protocol as we go along.
12

Your Honor, they're asking you to fund a science

13 grant here.

And this is not what was represented to the

14 Ninth Circuit.

It's not what was represented to you in the

15 science tutorial.

They come forward with the Simpson case.

16 That was 10 years ago, and they're telling you it's new.
17 Well, relatively new, but I'm wondering why this hasn't
18 evolved.
19

THE COURT:

So far, that's why I asked recently

20 for them to update the issue on Daubert, to tell me where
21 has this ever been admitted.

And I don't think that the

22 Ninth Circuit -- and certainly I did not understand that the
23 only place, to my knowledge, it's ever been admitted is in
24 the O.J. Simpson case and the Pompey case.
25

MS. WILKENS:

Right.
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1

THE COURT:

2

MS. WILKENS:

3 appeal.

4

Pompey, Doctor Ballard is criticized.
Well, the admissibility is in

It's not even final.
THE COURT:

And the other

And in O.J., there was no

--

the State

5 Court test is Kelly-Frye, but there wasn't a challenge to

6 it.

7

MS. WILKENS:

8

THE COURT:

No.
So to present to this Court a

9 situation where the Court is experimenting on untested and
10 inadmissible matters is really not appropriate.
11

MS. WILKENS:

Well, the other thing too that I

12 keep reflecting on is, they don't even want the Court
13 involved in the process.

If they're not given carte

14 blanche, then it's, "Oh, well, we can't participate."
15

And the thing that is ridiculous is they said they

16 had to see the shirt in order to refine the protocol.

Well,

17 if presumptive blood testing is so well known to be done,
18 certainly that would have found its way into the protocol.
19 So they didn't even attempt to put into that protocol
20 anything.
21 shirt."
22

And,

"Oh, it's because we didn't get to see the

That's ridiculous.
And to suggest that lawyers crafted that protocol,

23 I mean, that's ridiculous.
24 speaks for Doctor Blake.

I mean, Mr. Alexander frequently
He's more than content to have

25 Doctor Blake talk to this Court through him.

He just
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1 doesn't want him actually communicating with the Court.
2

And he wants to resurrect Doctor Siuzdak results.

3 That is so disingenuous and that is so lacking in
4 credibility.

And Doctor Ballard, very straightforward.

5 Here's how you -- you know, you throw the dice and see where
6 they land.

Well, when they don't land where they want,

7 suddenly there's more declarations from Doctor Ballard.

And

8 that confirms the concerns this Court initially expressed.
9 Because you don't expect that from an independent expert
10 who's qualified and reputable.
11

And one of the things that's frustrating too is

12 the mitochondrial DNA testing.

We want more.

Do they

13 understand what kind of testing you would get if you were
14 trying to solve this horrible crime in the first instance?
15 You would not be going through the carpet sweepings.
16

I mean, they went into the Ninth Circuit -- and

17 this was very dramatic.

They showed a little girl's hand,

18 and they showed strands, and they focused on her until they
19 talked the Ninth Circuit into saying, you know what?
20 him modern technology.
21 technology.
22

Give

Give him the benefit of modern

And so we did.

And they've gone from Jessica's hand to

23 literally -- it's in their papers.

I remember it.

24 from Jessica's hands to everybody's hands.

We went

And then it was

25 like, well, you know, we need to go through those carpet
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1 sweepings too.

Well, you'd think they wouldn't ask because

2 it just underscores what a game this all is.

You wouldn't

3 go through the carpet sweepings even if you didn't know who
4 did it.

You don't have that kind of time, you donrt have

5 that kind of money.
6

And Mr. Cooper expects this Court to continue to

7 put him at the front of the line for modern technology when
8 there are crimes that have yet to be solved because people
9 are waiting for this technology.
10 Jessica's hair.

This is Jessica.

You look at the hair in her hand.

That's
You look

11 at these victims, and you understand just instinctually what
12 Doctor Thornton discovered through thorough examination
13 under the techniques of the time.
14

And it was very interesting because you can tell a

15 lot about hair.

You're not just looking at the color.

16 You're looking at a lot of different characteristics.
17 Doctor Thornton said,
18 the victims.
19 hair.

II

III

And

can't distinguish these hairs from

Now, all of the victims have light-colored

And so this Court, in response to the concern

20 expressed by the Ninth Circuit, which they probably wouldn't
21 have had if it had been brought to them in a timely
22 manner -- this Court gave Mr. Cooper as much modern
23 technology as he would get if we were trying to solve this
24 crime in the first instance.
25

Didn't even insist on roots.

Law enforcement cannot waste time and money on
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1 expensive forensic analysis when there's no forensic value
2 to the hair.

Yet Mr. Cooper would like to have a whack at

3 the carpet sweepings.
4 ridiculous.

I mean, the arguments are so

And again, it confirms there's nothing here or

5 they would not expend their credibility in the way that they
6 have.
7
8 blood.

Everything is a conspiracy.

The UU series of

Oh, they stopped testing because it didn't -- it

9 didn't point to Mr. Cooper.

Well, you know what?

When

10 you've got hundreds of blood samples to test and you start
11 testing the UU series and you find out you can't
12 differentiate the victims, you move on.

And that's what the

13 notes said, that's what Mr. Wraxall's notes said.
14 Defense has known that since the time of trial.

The
Again, no

15 concern about credibility.
16

Now, the ineffective assistance of counsel claims

17 are particularly specious.

This Court has seen Mr. Negus.

18 He is an extraordinarily gifted attorney.
19 year preparing for this trial.
20 he is very skilled.

He spent one full

And that's a long time.

And

He went through extensive hearings

21 where he raked over the collection and preservation of
22 evidence.

He is an excellent attorney.

And to suggest that

23 he fell beneath the constitutional minimum is ludicrous.
24

And besides, where were these claims when this

25 Court was considering Mr. Negus' competence in 1997?

They
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1 could have all been brought.
2 not being brought forward.

There's no excuse for their
And the claim that Mr. Negus was

3 deficient for not bringing his hair claim

no competent

4 attorney would bring forward a claim that is easily refuted
5 by expert testimony, that focuses the jury on the horrible
6 way in which the victims died.
7

Why would an experienced, capable defense attorney

8 suggest that a little girl being attacked in the dark of
9 night would be able to pull hair from her assailant's head?
10 This was not even a fair fight for Doug Ryen.

And to

11 suggest that you go in front of a jury and make a ridiculous
12 argument like that that only allows the prosecution to come
13 back in and focus on how these people died is ridiculous.
14 And so again, when you look at the claims that have been
15 brought and how ridiculous they are, you can have great

16 confidence that there's nothing here.
17

And so what we would ask the Court to do is we

18 would ask the Court to say enough is enough.

We've had 23

19 years of litigating Mr. Cooper's guilt, and it's time to
20 stop scrutinizing a trial that was clearly fair, that has
21 been repeatedly reviewed.

Just because counsel are new to

22 this case, we don't have to satisfy them, we don't have to
23 bring them everything to look at personally.

Apparently,

24 they can't even look at what they have because it's in
25 different offices.
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1

This case is of such complexity and it is so

2 voluminous, and they just want to make it more voluminous.
3 They want to make it more complex.

One of my frustrations

4 is, I don't want to waste this Court's time answering every
5 misstatement they make.

Sometimes I'll c9rrect them, and

6 the next day they say it again.
7

Just so -- in case someone looks on that page of

8 the record, they might think it's so.

And these tactics are

9 not acceptable, but they're also not going to get them

10 anywhere because look at the evidence.
11 the proximity.

Look at the timing,

No one else could have committed this crime.

12 It is -- it is absolutely implausible.

And I say that

13 because I don't know any other quite way to describe the
14 likelihood of someone else committing these crimes.
15
16 entirety.

But we ask this Court to deny the petition in its
We ask for alternative findings.

We don't

17 believe simply because the Court didn't summarily dismiss
18 everything on day one that this Court can't find that Mr.
19 Cooper is procedurally barred and also, in the alternative,

20 reject the merits of the claim.
21 It's judicial economy.

This is done all the time.

It facilities review.

Mr. Cooper

22 was very late in coming to this court, and he should not.
23 have been heard.
24

THE COURT:

What is your position with respect to

25 whether you wish to preserve for the record that under and
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1 above the -- whether the en banc court gets to weigh in at
2 all?
3

MS. WILKENS:

Oh, will it return to the panel or

11 position that the three-judge panel then ends it under the
12 law?
13

MS. WILKENS:

14 our position.

Yes.

Yes.

That was our -- that was

And when this case returns to the Ninth

15 Circuit, it's our position it would return to the three16 judge panel.
17

That would be the appropriate --

THE COURT:

And are you the saying that under the

18 law, that the Ninth Circuit en banc has no jurisdiction?
19

MS. WILKENS:

That was our position.

And

20 unfortunately, we didn't have any vehicle by which to make
21 that point.

Because when the court determined to take it en

22 banc -- and they relied on a prior case where they had done
23 the same thing, and we didn't, you know, appeal that case,
24 and so it's an open question as to whether or not they have
25 the authority to do that.

And it is a mix

there's mixed
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1 results throughout the circuits in terms of whether it's
2 appropriate for an en banc court to take over a gatekeeper
3 decision.
4

But our
THE COURT:

And are there any cases on successive

5 petitions on that or not?
6

MS. WILKENS:

7 Ninth Circuit.

Yes, there are.

There are decisions.

Sixth Circuit and

So it is our position

8 that i t - - that we should have never gone to the en banc
9 decision.

We should have never come here.

But even -- even

10 accepting their role, the problem is, when they came back
11 before this Court, it hadn't gotten any better.

And so the

12 law is very clear that even though the Ninth Circuit made
13 the gatekeeper decision, it is made anew.
14

The procedural bars of 2244, you

ar~

not precluded

15 from finding that his tennis shoe claim is foreclosed.

That

16 is a preliminary determination that's made by the Ninth
17 Circuit.

Whether it's made by the three-judge panel or in

18 this particular instance by an en banc panel, it's only a
19 preliminary determination.

It is the responsibility of the

20 District Court after a gatekeeper authorization to then
21 review all of the claims.
22

And the Ninth Circuit makes it clear that they may

23 be heard on all claims, but just because they found -- just
24 because they gave permission to come back on that tennis
25 shoe claim doesn't foreclose this Court from reaching a
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1 different conclusion because this Court has the benefit of
2 not acting under the time constraints that were present.
3 And Congress didn't even contemplate that as the final
4 disposition of that question.
5

It is a preliminary determination that is made

6 whether or not they come back.
7 question from this Court.

It doesn't remove the

It's the providence and

8 responsibility of this Court to decide.
9 much more information on that point.

And this Court has

But even if there

10 wasn't new evidence, you know, showing they knew it in 2001,
11 this Court still gets to decide in the first instance, is
12 Mr. Cooper entitled to be heard at all, was there undue
13 delay, is there excuse for the undue delay.

Those

14 procedural bars are all considered in the first instance by
15 this Court.
16

THE COURT:

Can you just briefly address the

17 discovery motion pending in State Court?
18
,19

MS. WILKENS:

Yes, your Honor.

We have

we have

a date scheduled for Thursday where Mr. Cooper is requesting

20 discovery under a state statute.

The statute was attended

21 ironically to avoid delay and piecemeal litigation.

The

22 California legislature decided that if we would facilitate
23 recreating discovery for habeas counsel so that they would
24 have the benefit of everything that had actual'ly been
25 provided to the defense at trial or anything that could have
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1 been obtained by the defense at trial, we wouldn't have
2 situations where we would come back over and over again and
3 drag cases out for say 23 years.
4
5 Kennedy

So Mr. Cooper ironically went over to Judge
i~

the eleventh hour and wanted to file his actual

6 innocence claim in a petition, and he also wanted the
7 benefit of this discovery statute that had been passed a
8 year earlier.

And Judge Kennedy declined to consider it and

9 urged them to go with great haste to the California Supreme
10 Court.
11

So they waited 11 days, and they finally made it

12 to the California Supreme Court.

The only change they made

13 was to complain about Judge Kennedy not filing their
14 petition.

So I don't know if that's what they did in the

15 intervening time, but they didn't file their discovery
16 motion with the California Supreme Court.

Even though it's

17 clearly cognizable in the Supreme Court, even though Judge
18 Kennedy told them to, they just didn't do it.
19

So then they wait until now, after this Court has

20 denied them discovery and -21

THE COURT:

22

MS. WILKENS:

23

THE COURT:

I haven't denied -- I've done -Partial,yeah.
Partial.

And what I've done is, on a

24 claim-by-claim basis
25

MS. WILKENS:

Right.

And we did --
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1

THE COURT:

Something is legitimate, it comes.

If

2 there's something that needs to be done, then we have

MS. WILKENS:

3

Right.

4 partial grant, partial denial.

We did -- we did say,
But what you didn't give

5 them, they're going to go and ask for under the statute, and
6 they're going to do that on Thursday.
THE COURT:

7

I think that's pretty troublesome to

8 the Court on the timing of this because Petitioner has had
9 this case for a year and -- Petitioner's current counsel,
10 and Judge Kennedy's decision was in 2002, I believe.
11

MS. WILKENS:

12

THE COURT:

2003.
2003.

And he conducted a full post-

13 conviction evidentiary hearing and then had jurisdiction
14 over the case, and then ruled upon the discovery request at
15 that time.
16

MS. WILKENS:

17

THE COURT:

Correct.
There is nothing that has been

18 developed here that would lead this Court to grant the
19 blanket request that Petitioner seeks.
20

MS. WILKENS:

No.

21 proceeding is all about.

It misapprehends what this

They just want to start from

22 scratch because -23

THE COURT:

24

MS. WILKENS:

25 frankly,

Exactly.
-- they're new to this.

And

they/renot --
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1

THE COURT:

2

MS. WILKENS:

3

THE COURT:

4

MS. WILKENS:

They're civil lawyers.
That's right.
According to discovery.
Yes.

~dI

don't'think it's any

5 accident that they started to bring in civil practitioners
6 at a certain point in time because this is becoming a
7 frequent occurrence.

But they're not exactly subtle about

8 the gamesmanship because the timing of the request is really
9 not appropriate in terms of this proceeding, and it's not
10 appropriate in terms of the State Court either.
11

THE COURT:

Are you opposed to reviewing the

12 information on the property tag and if -- to checking out
13 whether there is any disposition report for any alleged blue
14 shirt?
15

MS. WILKENS:

16 we'll never stop.

Oh, absolutely, your Honor, because

Because whatever we get -- you know, they

17 want to root through the files, think of the fun they could
18 have.

I mean, look at how they look at things.

We have no

19 legal obligation to do so, and they have no entitlement
20 whatsoever.
21 ago.

I mean, this man slaughtered a family 23 years

We cannot -- they're not even allowed to have relief

22 on technicality.
23

The defense attorney explored the destruction of

24 the coveralls.

He explored whether they had been tested.

25 If he didn't put the evidence tag -- the property tag into
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1 evidence, so be it.
2 been done.

He could have.

All of this could have

Is it ineffective assistance of counsel?

3 Clearly not.

Because it doesn't have anything to do with

4 anything.
5

He's talking about how he's showing beyond a

6 reasonable doubt that the explanation for the destruction of
7 the coveralls -- we're getting so far afield.

This is about

8 did Kevin Cooper did this, did he have a fair trial.

And

9 there's all these other constraints that are in place
10 because we're doing this for the third time.

Your Honor is

11 extremely familiar with this case.
12

And that's why they went into the Ninth Circuit

13 and got in front of an en banc panel that doesn't know
14 everything about the case, because that's the only way you
15 could confuse things sufficiently -16

THE COURT:

Well, it left them with an impossible

17 task.
18

MS. WILKENS:

19

THE COURT:

Deliberately.
So that two weeks before I had a

20 status conference before the execution date to urge people
21 to do it in a logical fashion, it was represented that it
22 wasn't going to come to me, but that if it didn't come to
23 me, that whoever -- the trial court had to do it as soon as
24 possible so that there could be a full and fair review and
25 not leave it for the Appellate Court to have it at the last
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1 minute.

And so the three-judge panel made their decision,

I

2 believe by Sunday.
3

MS. WILKENS:

4

THE COURT:

Yes, Sunday night.
And -- Sunday, leaving 11 members of

5 the Ninth Circuit dispersed in various locales on a Sunday
6 with an execution
7

MS. WILKENS:

8 considering it.

.And they didn/t even know they were

They hadn't even made the decision to

9 consider it until Monday morning.
10 problem here.
11 Honor.

And, you know, that's the

They don't want a full and fair hearing

I mean, listen to their request.

I

your

They want to be

12 here forever because it works for Mr. Cooper.

But it

13 doesn/t work for justice.
14

I mean, the Hughes and the Ryens deferred to our

15 judicial system.
16 system.

Their community deferred to our judicial

If our judicial system does not have the ability or

17 the inclination to carry out what is a very just sentence,
18 you will not have a society that ·will turn to our system.
19 It truly is a situation of enough is enough.

It's never

20 going to be enough for them.
21

THE COURT:

Do you have any -- on the issue of

22 whether the victims or victims' representatives wish to
23 address the Court?
24

I believe -- is that --

MS. WILKENS:

Yes.

25 Court's invitation to speak.

They have all accepted the
And did you want me to address
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1 their objections or -2

THE COURT:

Oh, the objections are noted.

3

MS. WILKENS:

Thank you.

No, they are all

4 prepared to address the Court.
5

THE COURT:

All right.

Well, then I think one was

6 coming at 2:30.
7

MS. WILKENS:

We have two here.

Mr. and Mrs.

8 Hughes are present, and Joshua will be here shortly.
9

THE COURT:

And how about Mr. and Mrs. Hughes now?

10

MS. WILKENS:

11

MR. HILE:

Thank you, your Honor.

Your Honor, our objection was noted for

12 the record?
13

THE COURT:

14

MR. HILE:

15

MR. HUGHES:

It's noted for the record.
Thank you, your Honor.
I'm trying to figure out why

16 I'm here and what I should say.

why

I sat here for all of today

17 and listened to the wrangling back and. forth, the

18 recollections of what happened that day.
19 know, I was the one that found everybody.
20 second.
21

And as many of you
Just give me a

And that's very hard to forget.
The way I feel, I'm totally frustrated at this

22 point that we're going on our 23rd year, we're little more
23 than a month to the date that I lost my son, that the Ryens
24 were murdered, that I found Josh with his neck slit laying
25 in his parents' bedroom, mother naked on the floor, father
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1 up against the bed and my son.
To me and everything that r know, there has been a

2

3 preponderance of ·evidence pointing to the guilt of Mr.
4 Cooper.

I'm not testifying.

5 opinion.

I'm just saying that's my

I feel it's time for this to end.

6 up with this every day.

We have to put

I have to relive it.

Every time I

7 come to court, I hear something else, it makes me remember.
8 And I think it's time to end this, to take the fact that he
9 has been proven guilty.
10

Let's get on with this.

This idea of testing, I've heard nothing myself

11 that's new.

My knowledge isn't anywhere near the level of

12 the individuals in this room, but my family suffered,
13 continues to suffer.

Poor Josh lost everything.

14 would ask that we be as expedient as possible.
15

THE COURT:

16

MS. HUGHES:

17 son.

And I
Thank you.

State.your name.
I'm Marianne Hughes.

Chris was my

It's been almost 22 years, and yet it seems like

18 yesterday.

I can still remember Josh and Chris on their

19 bikes going up the street, excited, turning around, waving
20 because they

~ere

having a sleep-over.

I can remember the

21 next morning waking up because Chris was supposed to be back
22 in time to go to church.

And I can remember being mad

23 because he was late.
24

And then being mad turned worrying, and then

25 afraid, where were they, and sending my husband up there.

Echo Reporting, Inc.

126
1 Standing in my driveway watching fire engines and police
2 cars go by and knowing that something is really wrong.

I

3 can remember my husband Bill coming down in a car and

4 getting out and saying, "They're all dead.
5 Arid I said,
6

"Chris."

One is alive."

Arid he said, "No, Chris is dead."

I can remember a funeral,
funeral t a white coffin, a little

7 boy that was only in 5th grade and cameras in our face and a
8 preliminary hearing that went on for I think 16 weeks, three

9 days of just autopsy pictures.

II

never got to see my son.

10 The last time I got to see was a picture of my son laying on
11 an autopsy table.
12

I remember a trial down in San Diego and being

13 pregnant during part of that trial, having a son whose
14 middle name is Christopher after the brother he never got to
15 know.

Another son who was only six when this all happened

16 and is 28 today and still to this day misses his brother.
17

After the trial was over and we knew that Kevin

18 Cooper was guilty,
guiltYt we kind of -- we were quiet.

We didn't

19 want -- we waited for the justice system that we believed in
20 to run through its course and for justice finally to happen
21 for my son and for the Ryen family.

And it didn't happen

22 and it didn't happen and it didn't happen.
23

And then finally, all of a sudden it was set, and

24 there was going to be an execution.

It was February 10th.

25 Something somebody knew, February 10th was my birthday.

A
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1 hell of a birthday up in San Quentin.
2 were at the hotel.

And we sat there.

We

A few hours before, all of a sudden we

3 were told it was off and we were going back to court again.
4

And the impression that the Ninth Circuit seemed

5 to give is that this is just a few simple tests to make sure
6 that we really had the right person.

But now we're 14

7 months down the line, and there still hasn't been any
8 justice for my son.
9

Christopher was 11 years old.

10 little boy.
11 school.

He was a beautiful

He swam on a swim team, went to a Catholic

He wanted to be in the Olympics.

12 to S.C. and be on S.C.'s swim team.

He wanted to go

He had friends that

13 loved him and a family that loved him.

But because of Kevin

14 Cooper, he never got to go to high school, he never got to
15 go to a prom, have a girlfriend, graduate, go to college,
16 fall in love, get married, have children of his own.
17

All I can do is beg this Court to please let this

18 hell finally end for my family.

I'm the one that gave

19 permission to Christopher to go out that day to the Ryen
20 family to spend the night.

I'm the one that sent my husband

21 up to find them massacred.

And I know in my mind that I'm

22 not guilty, that Kevin Cooper is, but I'll never forgive
23 myself for sending them all up there.

And I just beg the

24 Court to please finally let justice be there for us.

Thank

25 you.
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1

THE COURT:

2

MS. WILKENS:

3 certain for Josh.

Thank you.
Your Honor, we had indicated a time

He was going to be here at 2:45, but I

4 don't believe he's arrived yet.

5

THE COURT:

Okay.

Why don't we take our afternoon

6 recess break, and then we'll resume at 2:45.

7
8

MS. WILKENS:

Thank you, your Honor.

(Proceedings recessed briefly.)

9
10

THE COURT:

Welcome back.

MS. WILKENS:

Thank you, your Honor.

Mr. Joshua

11 Ryen is here with his attorney, Milt Silverman.
12

THE COURT:

13

MR. SILVERMAN:

14 Josh Ryen's friend.

Thank you.

Welcome.

Your Honor, I'm Milt Silverman,

I'm also a lawyer.

In 23 years, this

15 is the first time any court' has asked to hear from Josh, and
16 he feels honored and privileged to have been asked, but it's

17 going to be very difficult for him, and I don't know if he

18 is going to get through this.

He has very carefully

19 prepared a statement that he's going to read to the Court.
20

Since the statement concerns his family and since

21 he's going to be talking about them, he wanted the Court to
22 see them.

And if the Court is so inclined, I've brought the

23 copy for counsel and
24

THE COURT:

And I think we can put it up on the

25 ELMO.
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1
2 Court.

MR. SILVERMAN:

We'll leave a copy also for the

And if it -- I told him if he can't get through

3 this, which he may not be able to, and he falters, I'm not
4 going to let him suffer.

I'm going to finish reading it for

5 him, and then with your kind permission, when he's done,
6 without further adieu, we will just turn around and go, if
7 that's acceptable.
8

Your Honor, this is Josh Ryen, and this is his

9 statement.
10

MR. RYEN:

The first time I met Kevin Cooper, I

11 was eight years old and he slit my throat.
12 hatchet and put a hole in my skull.

He hit me with a

He stabbed me twice,

13 which broke my ribs and collapsed one lung.

I lived only

14 because I stuck four fingers in my neck to slow the
15 bleeding.

But I was too weak to move.

I laid there 11

16 hours looking at my mother, who was right beside me.
17

I know now he carne through the sliding glass door

18 and attacked my dad first.

He was lying on the bed and was.

19 struck in the dark without warning with a hatchet and a
20 knife.

He was hit as many times because there was a lot of

21 blood on the wall on his side of the bed.
22

My mother screamed.

23 and started hitting her.

Cooper carne around the bed

Somehow my dad was able to come to

24 her defense and tried to save her.

There was a life-and-

25 death struggle between the bed and the closet, but Cooper
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1 bludgeoned my father to death with a knife and hatchet,
2 stabbing him 26 times and axing him 11.

One of the blows

3 severed his finger, and it landed in the closet.

My mother

4 tried to get away, but he caught her at the bottom of the
5 bed and stabbed her 25 times and axed her seven.
6

All of us kids were drawn to the room by mother's

7 screams.

Jessica was killed in the doorway with five axe

8 blows and 46 stabs.

I won't say how many times my best

9 friend Chris was stabbed and axed, not because it isn't
10 important, but because I don.' t want to hurt his family in
11 any way, and they are here.
12

After Cooper killed everyone and thought he had

13 killed me, he went over to my sister, lifted her shirt and
14 drew things on her stomach with a knife.

Then he walked

15 down the hallway, opened the refrigerator and had a beer.

I

16 guess killing so many people can make a man thirsty.
I don't want to be here.

17

I came because lowe my

18 family, who can't speak for themselves.

But by coming,

I

19 acknowledge and validate the existence of Kevin Cooper, who
20 should have been blotted from the face of the earth a long
21 time ago.
22 me.
23 dies.
24

By coming here, it shows that he still controls

I will be free, my life will start the day Kevin Cooper
I want to be rid of him, but he won't go away.
I've been trying to get away from him since I was

25 eight years old, and I can't escape.

He haunts me and
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1 follows me.

For over 20 years, all I've heard is Kevin

2 Cooper this and Kevin Cooper that.
3 innocent.

Kevin Cooper said he was framed.

4 says DNA will clear him.
5 planted.

Kevin Cooper says he's
Kevin Cooper

Kevin Cooper says the blood was

Kevin Cooper says the tennis shoes aren't his.

6 Kevin Cooper says three guys did it.
7 police planted evidence.

Kevin Cooper says the

Kevin Cooper gets another stay

8 from another court and sends everyone off on another wild
9 goose chase.
10

The Court says there isn't any harm when Kevin

11 Cooper gets another stay and another hearing.

This just

12 shows how they don't care about me, because every time he
13 gets another delay, I am harmed and have to relive the
14 murders allover again.
15

Every time Kevin Cooper opens his mouth, everyone

16 wants to know what I think, what I have to say, how I'm
17 feeling, and the whole nightmare floods allover me again.
18 The barbecue, me begging to let Chris spend the night, me in
19 my bed, Chris on the floor beside me.

My mother screams,

20 Chris gone, dark house, hallway, bushy hair, everything
21 black, morn cut to pieces, saturated in blood, the nauseating
22 smell of blood, 11 hours unable to move, light filtering in,
23 Chris's father at the window, the horror on his face, sounds
24 of the front door splintering, my pajamas being cut off,
25 people trying to save me, the rap, rap of the helicopter
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1 blades, shouted questions, everything fading to black.
2

Every time Cooper claims he's innocent and sends

3 people scurrying off on another wild goose chase, I have to
4 relive the murders allover again.

It runs like a horror

5 movie over and over again and never stop because he never
6 shuts up.

He puts P.R. people on national television who

7 say outrageous things and then wants -- and then the press
8 wants to know what I think.
9

What I think is that I would like to be rid of

10 Kevin Cooper.

I would like for him to go away.

11 like to never heard from Kevin Cooper again.

I would

I would like

12 Kevin Cooper to pay for what he did.
13

I dread happy times like Christmas and

14 Thanksgiving.

If I go to friends' houses on holidays, I

15 look at all the mothers and fathers and children and
16 grandchildren and get sad because I have no one.

Kevin

17 Cooper took them from me.
18

I get terrified when I go in any dark place like a

19 house before the lights are on.
20 flashbacks and shadows.
21 terrible things.

I hear screams and see

Even with the lights on, I see

After I was stabbed and axed, I was too

22 weak to move and stared at my mother all night.

I smelled

23 the overpowering smell of fresh blood and knew everyone had
24 been slaughtered.
25

Every day when I comb my hair, I feel the hole
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1 where he buried the hatchet in my head.

And when I look in

2 the mirror, I see the scar where he cut my throat from ear
3 to ear and I put four fingers in to stop the bleeding, which
4 they say saved my life.
5

Every year I lose hearing in my left ear where he

6 buried the knife.

Helicopters give me flashbacks of the

7 life flight and my Incredible Hulks being cut off by
8 paramedics.

Bushy hair reminds me of the killer.

9 reminds me of the quiet before the screams.
10 everywhere.
11

Silence

Cooper is

There is no escaping him.

I feel guilty and responsible to the Hughes family

12 because I begged them to let Chris spend the night.
13 had not done that, he wouldn't have died.

If I

I apologize to

14 them, and especially Mr. Hughes, for having to find us and
15 see his own son like that.
16

I thank the judge who gave my grandma custody of

17 me because she took good care and loves me very much.

I am

18 grateful to the ocean for giving me peace because when I go
19 there, I know my mother and father and sister's ashes are
20 spread there.
21

Kevin Cooper has movie stars like Jesse Jackson

22 rallying for him, people carrying signs, lighting candles,
23 saying prayers.

To them and you, I say I was eight when he

24 slit my throat.

It was dark, and I couldn't see.

Through

25 night and day I lay there trying to get up and flee.
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1

He killed my mother, father, friend and started

2 stalking me.
3 away.

I try to run and flee from him, but cannot get

While he demands petitions and claims some fresh

4 absurdity, justice has no ear for me, no cares about my
5 pilot.

While crowds pray for the killer and light candles

6 in the night, to those who long for justice and love truth,
7 what sets men free, when you pray your prayers

t~night,

8 please remember me.
9

THE COURT:

Mr. Hile or Mr. Alexander, whoever I

10 you have 45 minutes.
11

MR. ALEXANDER:

12 like this, of course.

I've never followed anything quite

There is nothing to be said with

13 regard to what we've just heard except in a strange way in
14 whether they care or don't care or not.

This may sound odd,

15 but I feel as deeply for those families as anybody else.
16

I have a family.

I have -- as does Mr. Hile.

17 I've got an older son who is about Mr. Kazemi's age.

And

I

18 think for all of us, as hard as it may be for the victims'
19 families to believe or understand , there is great emotion
20 for revenge.

There is great concern that someone pay for

21 these crimes.
22

But the conviction of Kevin Cooper has been a very

23 troubling one and not a matter that we undertook lightly.
24 But for as long as I've been involved, that long, 2003 when
25 I took a long time to look at it, so many people, not just

Echo Reporting, Inc.

135
1 those opposed to the death penalty -- this, to me, is not a
2 death,penalty case.

It's an innocence case.

3 expressed so many doubts, so many curiosities.

They've
And not just

4 the rabblerousers.
5

One of the people that impressed me the most,

6 candidly, was Doctor Howell, Mary Howell, the mother of the
7 victims.

And I don't know her view today, but I know she's

8 expressed her view publicly, and I don't know what it is
9 today.
10

So we all got involved because we do believe very

11 seriously that had the evidence that we brought forth and
12 presented to a jury -- and I'm talking about the new
13 evidence.

I'm not arguing about the evidence presented to

14 the jury or the extent to which it is simply inaccurate.

We

15 know and the trial judge even commented that the criminalist
16 working on the case botched the case in so many ways.

Even

17 he said he could have done a better job.
18

Young sheriff's deputies and detectives, frankly

19 over their heads in documenting this complex and horrific
20 crime scene, were overwhelmed, made mistakes in handling
21 this crime investigation.

But of course, the pressure to

22 find and convict someone was staggering.
23

It's impossible to now address all of the points

24 in the time we're allotted.

Mr. Kazemi is going to do some

25 of that, but I was not about to let him come up here after
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1 that and have him have to speak.
2

For our part, there are some things that are

3 important points to make.

I'm candidly somewhat offended

4 and very frustrated that anybody suggests that we tried to
5 pull the wool over the eyes of the Ninth Circuit, as we've
6 been accused.

We proceeded, based on the good-faith

7 information of experts,. that there was reason to do testing.
8 We proceeded based on eyewitness accounts, Ms. Slonaker and
9 Ms. Wolfe at the time about these men in the bar.
10

The other side has somehow made the coveralls

11 incident our fault, but those coveralls were -- if they were
12 destroyed, were destroyed with the Defense never even
13 knowing about them.

And other leads were not followed up

14 because they focused on Kevin Cooper.
15

Now, with regard to the Ninth Circuit, we did not

16 ask for an en banc hearing.

The en banc hearing was

17 initiated by one of the judges of the Ninth Circuit.

We

18 waited like anyone else to see if the case caused .them
19 concerns on some issues.
20

And the initial step is out of the 26 active

21 judges, you need a majority.

We were told -- I don't know

22 if it's accurate or not -- we got 19 or 20 votes.
23 we got -- and then it goes to 11.
24 well aware.

And then

This is as your Honor is

Your Honor's comments about coming here first

25 and doing everything! if we could have, we would have.

Our
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1 understanding, what we -- I think the law prescribes -2 prescribes, not proscribes -- is that we get permission to
3 raise these claims.

And we went through the Ninth Circuit

4 hoping that ultimately we would get here, not in an effort
5 not to get here.

So with those preliminary comments, I'm going to

6

7 let Mr. Kazemi respond to -- to complete his statement on
8

the testing ·and to allow him to address what I believe are

9 some incorrect impressions or conclusions that thls Court

10 may have come to as to certain of the facts, A, relating to
11 A-41 -- because it has never been our contention that the
12 tampering of A-41 was somehow done by the 6th of June.

Mr.

13 Kazemi will explain that.
14

And also, the misimpression that's been created

15 that Kevin Cooper admitted that he wore the shoes that were
16 in the house.

Mr. Kazemi will address that so you'll

17 understand exactly what our point is.
18

In this proceeding, we have gone as far as the

19 Court will allow us to go, and we would hope that the Court

20 will allow us to proceed with the pending matters involving
21 the cigarettes in A-41 so that we can have a full hearing on
22 all of our claims.
23

THE COURT:

24

MR. KAZEMI:

25 way first.

I

Okay.

Mr. Kazemi.

I'll get the easy stuff out of the

spoke with Doctor Ballard during lunch, and he
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1 confirmed that his measurements are nanograms per
2 milliliter, and to convert to nanograms from microliter, you
3 just divide by 1,000.

I'm going to do this this weekend,

4 confirm the results with Doctor Ballard, and then submit
5 something on Monday.
6

THE COURT:

But then when we divide by 1,000, the

7 numbers become even lower, and so then the numbers do not
8 they don't support it now, but they even further don't
9 support it because they -- they -- he talked at the tutorial
10 about nanograms per microliter, not nanograms per
11 milliliter.

And if you divide by 1,000, then you have much,

12 much, much lower numbers.
13

Then even with respect to the EDTA control where

14 we added it with the purple top to blood, the numbers should
15 then be a million three hundred.

And so if you -- I think

16 that the numbers then don't -- as far as. the one that's
17 1900, divide that by 1,000.
18

MR. KAZEMI:

The result he found for the positive

19 control?
20

THE COURT:

21

MR. KAZEMI:

22 Ballard, but that was

Correct.
I can double-check with Doctor
I'm pretty sure that was pretty

23 reliable positive control result.

I think Respondent agreed

24 that Doctor Ballard did accurately find the positive and
25 negative controls.
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THE COURT:

1

Right.

But if you divide the numbers,

2 as you're saying, to get the concentration, then you have a
3 lower number than we had
MR. KAZEMI:

4

I agree.

I agree.

I'll confirm with

5 Doctor Ballard.
6

THE COURT:

7

MR. KAZEMI:

Thank you.
I wanted to address one comment made

8 regarding Mr. Cooper admitting, according to Respondent,
9 that he was wearing the Pro Ked Dudes.

Mr. Cooper admitted

10 wearing Pro Keds that were Exhibit 120.

And I've been over

11 to the San Diego evidence locker, and it's on the record as
12 well.

Exhibit 120 is not a pair of Pro Ked Dudes.

It's a

13 different pair of Pro Keds, kind of a goofy yellow pairs,
14 and the treads are completely different than the Dude
15 treads.
16 that.

So I just wanted to set the record straight on
Exhibit 120 is not a pair of Pro Ked Dudes.

17

Regarding A-41, I wanted to confirm a time line

18 which the Court began to discuss.
19 correct.

And the dates were

A-41 was recovered on June 6th, 1983.

The blanket

20 at the Lease house with the semen stain on it was recovered,
21 I believe, on June 7th.

But the important point there to

22 realize is that when that blanket was recovered, Daniel
23 Gregonis now had the serology type that he realized he had
24 to match A-41 to.

They. knew they were trying to link

25 whoever was in the Lease house -- and in this case, Mr.
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1 Cooper has admitted he was in the Lease house -- to A-41.
2

They have the serology type from the semen stain

3 on the blanket, and that's when Daniel Gregonis begins his
4 testing on A-41..

Even so, he still was unable to find an

5 exact match between the A-41 serology results and the
6 serology results from the semen stain.

7

Then on August 1st, 1983, W-2, the blood sample

8 from Mr. Cooper, is taken.

Greg.onis then admits

and he

9 admitted this at trial - - the testimony confirms this - 10 that he ran side-by-side comparisons of A-41 and VV-2, and
11 he also admitted that that was an inappropriate testing
12 technique.
13

It was only after he had run those side-by-side

14 comparisons that he finally confirmed what he stated was the
15 serology type for A-41.

So he wasn't able to confirm the

16 serology type for A-41 until he knew for certain what he
17 wanted that serology type to look like.
18

NOW,

moving past trial, in 1999, Daniel Gregonis

19 checked on the status of A-41 pursuant to a request from I
20 believe the District Attorney's Office prior to the DNA
21 testing that was going to be completed.

He stated that he

22 never opened the glassine (sic) envelope containing A-41.
23 And this was all alleged in our petition, but if you look at
24 the glassine envelope that was photographed by the
25 Department of Justice in 2001 or 2002, you can see that the
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1 envelope has been opened and resealed, and Daniel Gregonis'
2 initials and the date are on that resealed envelope.
3

THE COURT:

What do I do with Judge Kennedy's

4 findings?
5

MR. KAZEMI:

Judge Kennedy's findings -- well,

6 Judge Kennedy didn't have -- I don't believe he came up with
7 a finding on that particular point, but the record in Judge
8 Kennedy's court does support that Daniel Gregonis lied about
9 whether he opened the glassine envelope containing A-41.
10

THE COURT:

Didn't Judge Kennedy make a finding

11 that there was no contamination of the evidence?
12

MR. KAZEMI:

Well, if he did, then it may have

13 been incorrect, because the seal does indicate that Daniel
14 Gregonis opened and resealed the envelope, even though he
15 testified in June of 2003 that he had never done so.
16

Moreover, the lab clerks at San Bernardino

17 testified that Daniel Gregonis had checked our A-41 for a
18 24-hour period, which seems sort of unusual if the only
19 reason he was checking A-41 out was to determine whether it
20 was there or not.
21

So I just wanted to clarify that as well.

With regard to the T-shirt, Respondent claims that

22 there could not have been any tampering with the T-shirt
23 before trial.

First of all, we have never contended that

24 the only possible time tampering could have occurred was
25 before trial.

And based on what I've just told you about
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1 Daniel Gregonis opening and resealing A-41, it's not
2 implausible to think that the T-shirt may have been tampered
3 with after trial.
4

More importantly, there is evidence to support

5 that tampering may have occurred before trial.
6 we know about the T-shirt before trial.

Here's what

Daniel Gregonis'

7 initial records and photographs of the T-shirt have never
8 been turned over in their entirety to Petitioner.

And I

9 notice I've gone through all of our photographs we have in

10 our files.

And maybe there was some mixup in the transfer

11 between Amidon and McGuigan and us, but a 'lot of the
12 photographs I'm seeing right now, I've never seen before.
13 So those photographs have never been turned over to us at
14 least.
15

We have never seen the complete documentation of

16 the T-shirt at that time.

Descriptions concerning the

17 staining on the T-shirt have changed over time.
18 descriptions say one stain.
19 stains.
20

Initial

Later we've heard about more

The DOJ described multiple stains on the T-shirt.
We also know that Daniel Gregonis' testing on the

21 T-shirt prior to August 10th, 1983 was only positive for
22 Doug Ryenis blood.

They did not find Petitioner's blood on

23 the T-shirt at that time.

Then the T-shirt was checked out

24 for a five-month period to Gary Woods, November 29th through
25 April 25th.

After the T-shirt comes back during that five-
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1 month period when it's unaccounted for, now Petitioner's
2 blood is on the T-shirt.
3

'Now, here's what we know about San Bernardino's

4 handling of evidence in this case in general.

Deputy

5 Eckley's testimony on April 1st indicates that they did
6 improperly dispose of the coveralls.

I just discussed the

7 problems with the handling of A-41 prior to trial and Daniel
8 Gregonis' improper testing of A-41.

One of the former

9 sheriffs at San Bernardino was caught stealing -- was
10 convicted for stealing guns from the evidence locker.
11 Another criminalist in San Bernardino was caught stealing
12 heroin from the evidence locker.
13

I'm not saying this to just drag people's names

14 through the mud.

My point is, there are a lot of questions

15 about how San Bernardino retained, examined and tested the
16 evidence at that time.

And what we know is that prior to a

17 five-month period during which the T-shirt's whereabouts are
18 unaccounted for, we only have Doug Ryen's blood on the
19 T-shirt.

After that five-month period, Petitioner's blood

20 now appears on the T-shirt.

So contrary to Respondent's

21 assertions, this is not a preposterous tampering theory.
22 The evidence actually supports a tampering theory.
23

Now, moving back to your points regarding the EDTA

24 testing results on the shirt.

Again, presumptive -- when we

25 initially requested -- when we initially designed the
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1 protocol for EDTA testing, we assumed that the stains that
2 would be tested were stains that were previously determined
3 to be blood stains in 2002 by the Department of Justice.
4 Presumptive blood testing was completed on those stains, and
5 they were blood stains.
6

THE COURT:

What about the-- I mean, I agree with

7 you on the areal not for the controls.
8

MR. KAZEMI:

9

THE COURT:

But-And it's clearly -- clearly the

10 Court's directive to come up with a protocol that includes
11 cont.rols.

And so as to the controls, there's no possible

12 way that you would know whether it's presumptive blood
13 testing or not.
14

MR. KAZEMI:

15 stains, then l

But as to the -- as to the initials

the Court does agree that we assumed properly

16 that the stains that will be tested were to be blood stains,
17 which was relevant to the Ninth Circuit's mandate to test
18 blood stains to determine tampering.
19

Now, I think the more important point and the

20 point that maybe welre missing here is that essentially what
21 Respondent is doing is playing gotcha.

You didn't ask for

22 this before the testing was completed.

Even though Doctor

23 DeForest was the expert who was supposed to help us design
24 this protocol and he was written out of the process, the
25 Respondent --
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1

THE COURT:

He was before

2 designed in June, July and August.

the protocol was
He didn't leave the

3 picture until September, September 3.
4 out of the process.

So he wasn't written

There was -- the Court gave it to

5 counsel, and over a three-month period had an opportunity to
6 develop it.
7

If presumptive blood testing was supposed to --

8 that's so knowledgeable and state of the art, it should have
9 been in there.
10

MR. KAZEMI:

11

THE COURT:

It wasn't suggested by either side.

12

MR. KAZEMI:

In any event, let's say we don't

Well--

13 at the present time, we don't know that the stains that were
14 tested were blood stains because presumptive blood testing
15 was not completed.

Now, is the point to pin Petitioner down

16 to an inconsistency or failure to anticipate a possible
17 problem in the testing protocol or is the point to come up
18 with a fair and full testing protocol to determine
19

THE COURT:

20 have the experts.

You are the lawyers of record.

You

You proposed Doctor Ballard, the only

21 expert in this world that supposedly could do this test.
22 After the Court had severe reservations, they sent other
23 judicially noticed cases about his qualifications and
24 expertise challenging his scientific methodology by other
25 courts.

That's in the record.

The Court issued an order
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1 for you to find somebody else.
2 else.

you couldn't find anybody

You wanted Doctor Ballard.

I gave you Doctor

3 Ballard.

4

We've now done the test.

5 to be simple, easy, complete.

This test was supposed

We've now done the test, and

6 the results do not confirm any tampering.
7

MR. KAZEMI:

Well, we still don't know if the

8 tests were on blood stains.
9 completely irrelevant.

So the tests could possibly be

We also haven't tested for

10 migration, which is a possibility.

It hasn't been done.

11 And we haven't tested for citric and oxalic acid.

Now, I

12 know -13

THE COURT:

Which hasn't been admitted in any

14 court in the country.
15

MR. KAZEMI:

16 Although Respondent

The citric and oxalic testing?
at least Doctor Ballard has confirmed

17 that it's precisely the same scientific technique that tests
18 for EDTA.

It's gas chromato- -- it's liquid chromatography

19 tandem mass spectrometry for EDTA testing.
20

THE COURT:

So now we go in a full circle.

21 to the Ninth Circuit and say we got the simple test.

You go
But

22 when it comes time to do the simple test, you don't do it.
23 Then after we do the so-called simple test, you come back
24 and say, well, now we need DNA testing to find out what we
25 tested.

Because you cannot do the precise test on the
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1 precise areas -- we knew you could not do the precise test
2 on the precise areas that have been previously DNA testing
3 because the chemicals are incompatible.
4

So we have to use a nearby test, which then

5 Petitioner comes forward and says, "Well, how do you know
6 that's Kevin Cooper's blood?"
7 DNA testing.
8 inhibitors.

That means another round of

And also, interestingly, then now there's
By what?

9 EDTA protocol.

By the chemicals suggested by the

So one, the DNA affects the EDTA, but two,

10 which was not told to the Court, the EDTA affects the
11 ability to do DNA testing.
12

MR. KAZEMI;

I don't see that either -- that the

13 DNA affects the ability to do the EDTA testing.

What we've

14 just done is simply EDTA testing and DNA testing on the same
15 substrate.
16

It's possible to do.
THE COURT:

And what -- and what Mark Taylor's

17 report said is that there's inhibitors in the control, and
18 you have to do further testing.
19

MR. KAZEMI:

Well, that doesn't bear -- that

20 doesn't bear as to the possibility of doing EDTA testing.
21 The inhibitor issue is a different issue.

The inhibitor

22 issue is, we found some genetic material in the control
23 samples.

Let's see if we can flesh that genetic material

24 out and come up with a complete profile.

That's separate

25 from the EDTA testing issue.
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1

When we went to the Ninth Circuit, we said there's

2 a simple test that can establish whether there's been
3 tampering.

We based that on the premise that we knew where

4 Petitioner's DNA was on the shirt, and we knew that that DNA
5 was deposited by blood.

It wasn't until August of 2004 that

6 Respondent first raised this issue that the DNA testing that
7 had been completed used an EDTA buffer which rendered all of
8 those results invalid and unsuitable for the testing that we
9 had now requested.
10

So when we went to the Ninth Circuit --

THE COURT:

No, but you have the -- you have

11 Doctor Blake is at your -- Doctor Blake was the expert for
12 the Defense.

Doctor Blake knows exactly what kind of buffer

13 was used in the DNA testing.

Doctor Blake was in

14 communication with Petitioner's counsel.

Doctor Blake

15 participated in the development of the protocol.
16

For you to just say, "We didn't know anything

17 about it" is really not accurate, according to the record
18 that the Court knows.

In any event, the testing that we've

19 done hasn't confirmed it.
20

MR. KAZEMI:

21

THE COURT:

22

MR. KAZEMI:

23 incomplete.

Right.
It has not shown any tampering.
The testing that we have done is

We don't even know if what's tested is blood.

24 Again, we can wrangle over whether Petitioner should have
25 put this in the protocol initially or should have assumed
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1 that trained forensic scientists would know to test -- to do
2 presumptive blood testing or that we had assumed that the
3 tests would be on stains that were deposited by blood.

4 don't know those things.

We

But the bottom line now is, the

5 testing that's been completed, we don't even know if it's
6 blood that was tested.

7 blood,

8

And if we don't know that it's

then the tampering testing is irrelevant.
We also haven't tested for citric and oxalic acid.

9 And Doctor Ballard submitted in his declaration that he
10 doesn't believe it's possible to come up with a conclusion
11 as to the tampering claim without first testing for citric
12 and oxalic acid.
13

Now, Respondent has raised the point that

14 citric -- there's nothing on the record indicating that
15 Petitioner's blood had been preserved with citric or oxalic
16 acid.
17

THE COURT:

18

MR. KAZEMI:

Before the DNA testing.
.Right, before' the DNA testing.

And

19 citric acid was used in 2002 after Mr. Myers had already
20 developed a genetic profile for the samples.
21

THE COURT:

Right.

So it's not before.

It's

22 after.
23

MR. KAZEMI:

I'm not disagreeing with you here.

24 Before the DNA testing was completed, Respondent claims
25 there's nothing on the record indicating that citric or
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1 oxalic acid testing had been completed.

But again, what we

2 know about the T-shirt is that there are serious questions
3 as to its chain of custody, and we know that before those -4 before a five-month period where the T-shirt was unaccounted
5 for occurred, Petitioner's blood was not on the T-shirt, and
6 after that period, Petitioner's blood was on the T-shirt.

7

And we also know that San Bernardino has

8 repeatedly committed errors in the preservation and testing
9 of evidence in this case, and they've also committed
10 numerous material errors regarding production of documents
11 related to this case.

It's just -- it's pretty risky to

12 rely on their document retention records and just assume
13 that citric and oxalic acid were never used.
14

But the bottom line here is that testing can be

15 conducted to flesh out the testing that's already been done
16 and get more accurate results.

We can do presumptive

17 testing, we can test for inhibitors, and we can test for
18 migration.
19

The best -- the best-case scenario would be for

20 Respondent's experts to work together with Petitioner's
21 experts to design a testing protocol after examining the
22 shirt and get this over with once and for all.

We could

23 work together on this, set up a protocol, let them do their
24 job as scientists and ultimately decide this issue.

And

25 that's all the Petitioner is asking for.
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1

THE COURT:

2

MR. ALEXANDER:

3 have time.

Response?
Can r just -

-

I

don't know if I

r just have one quick thing to add.

4

THE COURT:

What is the time?

5

THE CLERK:

Petitioner has 21 more minutes.

6

THE COURT:

All right.

7

MR. ALEXANDER:

Thank you.

r wanted to make one

8 other point with regard to the gym shoes that r think may
9 have been overlooked in this discussion, and that is the
10 prosecution and now the Attorney General theory with.regard
11 to the gym shoes is that these -- as you can tell by the
12 prints put up there, that these were new shoes . . And the
13 testimony that was brought out is that they were not new
14 shoes, but Mr. Mason, the person who actually gave the shoes
15 to Mr. Cooper, testified that these were old shoes.
16

THE COURT:

17

MR. ALEXANDER:

18 right.

But he testified at trial.
He did testify at trial.

All

But so that everybody --

19

THE COURT:

And so

20

MR. ALEXANDER:

is so clear with regard to the

21 shoes, not only were· they not the shoes that Mr. Cooper was
22 handed out, but the shoes they're relying upon, whereas the
23 shoe that Mr. Baird had in his -- in his office was a new
24 shoe.
25

The other point is that at no time during the
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1 trial, neither in the opening arguments or the closing
2 arguments, was it ever -- was the jury ever told that those
3 shoes were available in retail outlets.

Whether they're

4 available to the military, that's all well and good.

And

5 whether they're available for the Forest Department, that's
6 all well and good.

The argument was made that those shoes

7 could only be obtained, at least relevant to this, from the
8 prison.

That is a false statement that was a central point

9 of the arguments and obviously a very key· point.
10

And my final comment that I -- that I wanted to

11 make is, Ms. Wilkens very effectively put this in a real12 world context and spoke very much about implausibility of
13 this and implausibility of that.

And to put this in a real-

14 world context, this is a case where the issue of guilt was
15 deliberated by the jury for a seven-day period of time.
16 This was not a slam dunk, you know, why do we need to spend
17 a lot of time on this.
18

And when all of that was done, the comments of two

19 of the jurors or one specifically public statement was, had
20 there been one less piece of evidence, Mr. Cooper would have
21 been a free man.

And then Mr. -- or Ms. Doxey (phonetic)

22 said, "In my mind, they had barely enough evidence."

So

23 notwithstanding the comments that Ms. Wilkens may have made
24 and that others may have made, this was indeed a very, very
25 close case of conviction and not an overwhelming case of
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1 conviction.
2

And I submit to you on the actual innocence claim,

3 as well as on the Brady claims, that the evidence that we
4 have brought forward would have cast this case in an
5 entirely different light.
6 not have been convicted.
7

THE COURT:

8

Mr. Hile.

9

MR. HILE:

And therefore, Mr. Cooper would
Thank you, your Honor.

Thank you.

Ms. Wilkens.

Yes, your Honor.

I'm going to cede the

10 time left to Mr. Kazemi.
11

THE CLERK:

12

MR. KAZEMI:

Nineteen minutes left.
I'll only take a minute or two.

Just

13 with regard to VV-2, I just want to be -- make this clear.
14 There seems to be possibly a misunderstanding.

VV-2, which

15 is the sample that Doctor Melton tested and found the
16 mixture in, it's Petitioner's blood sample.
17 hair sample.

I wasn't sure if the Court was clear on that.

18

THE COURT:

19

MR. KAZEMI:

20 consumed.

It is not a

And it's consumed.
Actually, I'm not sure that is

Doctor Melton's sample was consumed, but I don't

21 know -- and I can't tell based on Doctor Melton's report
22 whether all of VV-2 is consumed.
23

THE COURT:

24

MR. KAZEMI:

In other words

Doctor Melton's sample was consumed.
Right.

But that doesn't necessarily

25 mean that there isn't more VV-2 in San Bernardino or at the
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1 DOJ that could be tested.

And the reason this is important

2 is that if VV-2 turns out to be contaminated, this does call
3 into question SBO's handling of the evidence in this case,
4 including the initial blood sample that came from
5 Petitioner.
Now, Respondent has made the argument that VV-2

6

7 was not found to be contaminated until Doctor Melton tested
8 it in 2004, but it was found to be a pure sample in 1983
9 or

I believe it was, and also in 2002.

Regarding 1983,

10 obviously the testing was not as sophisticated as it is
11 today.

And regarding 2002, that testing was done by

12 Respondent's experts, so it does seem a bit of a coincidence
13 that the first time an expert not working on behalf of law
14 enforcement tested VV-2, it did turn out to be a
15 contaminated sample.
16

And secondly, Respondent continues to argue that

17 Petitioner's tampering theory regarding the T-shirt is
18 absurd because it would have required him -- because it
19 suggests that a tiny amount of blood was planted on the
20 T-shirt.

A-41 was a tiny amount of blood.

And in 1983,

21 that tiny amount of blood did yield a complete serology
22 result, according to Daniel ·Gregonis.
23

The second point I'd like to make regarding that

24 is that just as there are questions regarding the handling
25 of A-41 in 1999 by Daniel Gregonis, there are similar
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1 questions regarding the handling of the T-shirt at that

2 time.

And finally, there could have been more thana tiny

3 amount of blood planted on the T-shirt in 1983, but much of
4 that blood could have been consumed in the testing that was
5 conducted in 2002, meaning that the tiny traces of blood
6 left on the T-shirt does not mean only those tiny traces
7 were planted in 1983.

Much of that blood may have already

8 been consumed in testing done in 1983 and in 2002.
THE COURT:

9

Ms. Wilkens.

10

Mr. Hile, anything else?

11

MR. HILE:

12

MS. WILKENS:

13

With respect to the suggestion that blood on the

No.

No, your Honor.
Thank you/ your Honor.

14 T-shirt was consumed in post-conviction testing, that
15 doesn't make a lot of sense in terms of our point about
16 faint smears of blood.
17 documented.

The condition of the shirt was fully

So our point remains very salient that it makes

18 no sense.
19

I don't understand the point that since it was

20 possible to do serology testing on a drop of blood, somehow
21 the quantity of blood on the T-shirt could have conceivably
22 yielded something or be perceived to yield something in
23 1983.
24

That's not really accurate.
I listened very carefully to counsel because I

25 want to know when the tampering occurred, and I'm still very

Echo Reporting, Inc.

156
1 unclear on that.
2 tampering.

And they speak about evidence of

There is no evidence of tampering.

3 pulling things out of thin air.

They are

And it's very difficult to

4 respond to just saying, well, there was tampering.
5

And for example, we're supposed to test for citric

6 and oxalic acids because Doctor Ballard says we need to.
7 Well, there was no collection of Mr. Cooper's blood using
8 those preservatives, so I don't know why we need to do that.
9

And when you look at -- when you look at counsel's

10 argument, they want to test for migration.

I distinctly

11 recall the lack of interest in the concept of migration at
12 the science tutorial.

I recall being mocked for having

13 expressed concern about it.

So now suddenly it's something

14 we need to test for.
15

And I can represent to the Court that VV-2 was

16 completely consumed by Doctor Melton.

Doctor Melton was

17 shipped the remainder of that particular blood reference
18 sample, and she consumed it, and it's reflected in her
19 report.

So we don't have any more of that particular

20 reference sample.
21

NOw, to suggest that this relates back to 1983 and

22 the San Bernardino Sheriff's Department's handling of the
23 reference sample is unfounded.

And also, the suggestion

24 that it would affect the testing, the serology testing in
25 1983 is equally unfounded.

I think any suggestion that
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1 Doctor Blake would not notice that the DNA results in 2001
2 did not comport with the serology and the reference sample
3 of Mr. Cooper in 1983 is ludicrous and rather insulting to
4 Doctor Blake.
5

This Court heard from Doctor Blake and I think can

6 appreciate his attention to detail and precision.

The

7 Defense was involved in all of the testing at trial and all
8 of the post-conviction testing, and that is very
9 significant, and you cannot distance yourself from that kind
10 of involvement.
11

Now, I believe Mr. Alexander said the Defense

12 never knew about the coveralls until after they were
13 destroyed.

This is the kind of thing that creates

14 difficulty in this record.

The existence of the coveralls

15 was known to the Defense before they were destroyed.

The

16 report by Deputy Eckley was given to Defense counsel at the
17 preliminary hearing.
18

What the Defense didn't know was that they were

19 going to be destroyed.

So when Mr. Alexander says the

20 Defense never knew about them until they were destroyed, we
21 start to create an impression that's not true.

What's true

22 is, the Defense had no interest in the coveralls until they
23 were destroyed without their knowledge.
24 became interested.

That's when they

But to say they didn't know about it is

25 inaccurate.

Echo Reporting, Inc.

158
1

Now, Mr. Alexander wants Mr. Gregonis to come and

2 explain his analysis of the testing of A-41.
3 already done at trial.

That was

All the criticism of Mr. Gregonis

4 was fleshed out at trial.

And Doctor Blake didn't have a

5 problem with what Mr. Gregonis did in terms of the results.
6

So again, their own imminently qualified expert is

7 not of the opinion that what Mr. Gregonis did supports a
8 tampering theory or a planting theory or any other problem
9 in terms of that evidence.

So again, we have something that

10 was fully litigated at trial and which their own expert does
11 not have a problem with it.
12

Now, they complain that the photographs have not

13 been turned over to them until now.

They're seeing

14 photographs they've never seen before.

I cannot tell you

15 the number of times that I have personally provided DOJ
16 discovery to current counsel, not to mention that we have
17 been in full compliance with the joint DNA agreement at all
18 times.

So I don't know how many CD-Roms I have to send

19 before I don't hear III've never seen that. before. II
20

Now, with respect to the comparison we did with

21 the cigarette butts, Mr. Wraxall's photos are in the Defense
22 file.

They're not very good copies.

I'll give you that.

23 But they have certainly seen these photos before.
24

NOW, the gym shoes.

25 is now saying new shoes.

Mr. Alexander says the A.G.

I'm not saying any such thing.
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1 The issue as to whether the shoes were near new or new or
2 used, this was all explored at trial, and there's no excuse
3 for revisiting it.

I have not said or done anything that

4 would invited further scrutiny.

And even if I did, it's not

5 an excuse to engage in relitigation.

6

Counsel for Cooper doesn't want a second bite at

7 the apple.

They want a third, fourth, fifth and sixth.

8 I've never seen any legal support for any request that's
9 been made because there isn't any.

10

Now, once again, characterizes -- even after

11 hearing argument this morning, characterizes the jury was
12 never told these shoes were available to retail outlets.
13 That's true.

Available to retail outlets.

14 ordered them from the catalogue.
15 could go and buy them retail.
16 words.

That doesn't mean anybody

I mean, look at the choice of

The jury was never told these shoes were available

17 to retail outlets.
18 irrelevant.
19

Could have

Well, that's true.

It's also

What difference does it make?

Mr. Alexander wants us to consider this case in a

20 real-world context.

It's a close case because, according to

21 Mr. Alexander, a jury deliberated for seven days.
22 we've already explored that.
23 explored that.

Well,

The California Supreme Court

There were an inordinate number of exhibits

24 in this case.
25

Mr. Negus did an extraordinary job of advocacy.
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1 He criticized the San Bernardi~o Sheriff's Office up one

2 side and down the other.
3 supposed to be done.

He did it at trial where it's

But current counsel would still like

4 to once again go through the investigation conducted by the
5 San Bernardino Sheriff's Department.

The law doesn't permit

6 it.

7

And then Mr. Alexander cites to the comments of

8 jurors to suggest that the case was close.
9 are irrelevant.

Those comments

They were irrelevant when they were made,

10 they're irrelevant to the decision of this Court, and I
11 might add that the jurors'

letters that were sent to Ms.

12 Eckley are equally irrelevant.
13

We have come before this Court seeking justice.

14 We have asked for nothing more, and we're asking for nothing
15 less.

Counsel for Cooper has suggested a conspiracy of such

16 wide scope that it can't conceivably exist.

I've had no

17 explanation of how any of this could transpire reasonably.
18 There is no concrete theory, let alone evidence.
19

Under these circumstances, it is not appropriate

20 to characterize this case as one about innocence.

I noticed

21 when Mr. Alexander got back up, despite all the evidence
22 that I presented here this morning, he said, "I'm not going
23 to talk about the evidence at trial."
24

How true.

He hasn't.

If there'S no further questions, your Honor, I'll

25 submit.
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1

THE COURT:

Thank you.

2

Before the Court is the successive petition.

The

3 Court has reviewed the petition and heard arguments of
4 counsel.

The Court has heard -- has received extensive

5 briefing on all issues before the Court, and the Court
6 wishes to again compliment the parties for all the
7 presentations here today and in past proceedings.
8

In a capital case, it's a tribute to our system of

9 justice that a defendant faced with a capital sentence has
10 the knowledge that his or her case will be carefully
11 scrutinized at all levels, both at the state and federal
12 level.

For federal habeas claims, it is not for the Court

13 to review the sufficiency of the evidence at trial, it's for
14 the Court to review those claims that are cognizable on
15 federal habeas review.
16

After the Court has considered all of these issues

17 that are weighty, the Court denies the successive petition.
18 Technically, on Claims 1 through Claims 9, the Court denies
19 the claims on the merits, and the Court will also do a
20 memorandum of decision deciding if any are appropriate to
21 also alternatively bar on procedural default terms or any
22 other. theory.
23

As far as the Claim 1, it's appropriate to begin

24 there because that's the claim of actual innocence.
25 Court then references the evidence at trial.

And the

Also, the
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1 Court references the evidence noted in the statement of
2 facts by the California Supreme Court.
3

The California Supreme Court thought that there

4 was sufficient evidence to uphold the conviction, and on
5 numerous occasions has also declined to grant any habeas
6 relief on its own.
7

The Court notes that Mr. Cooper had escaped from

8 the CIM and admitted to being at the hideout house.

As the

9 picture suggests -- shown to us by Respondent indicates, the
10 hideout house was very close to the Ryen home.
11 Significantly, Kevin Cooper testified at trial that he was
12 in the hideout house, and the hideout house was the location
13 for the hatchet.

More significantly, the sheath for the

14 hatchet, the murder weapon -- one of the murder weapons, was
15 in the bedroom that Kevin Cooper was in.
16

After the murders, Kevin Cooper consumed a beer

17 and then left that beer can in between the Ryen house and
18 the hideout house, as indicated by the photo.

Sadly, the

19 blanket that had fibers from the hideout house where Kevin
20 Cooper was had the semen on it, but similar fibers from that
21 blanket were found underneath the nightgown of Jessica Ryen.
22 The burs and the fibers are reflected in the photos shown by
23 the Respondent.

The robe also that contained the blood was

24 found and connects Mr. Cooper to the Ryen and the hideout
25 house.
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1

Post-conviction testing was done by reputable

2 experts for the Defense.

'Christopher Plourd is a nationally

3 recognized expert on DNA.

Doctor Edward Blake is nationally

4 recognized and actually, I believe, according to the
5 information supplied in the record, thought that the post6 conviction DNA would exonerate Kevin Cooper.
7

And so, pursuant to the joint forensic agreement,

8 testing agreement, the post-conviction DNA testing was done
9 with the best experts available, and the results are
10 astounding, confirming the guilt of Kevin Cooper.

The A-41

11 major donor -- major donor profile is estimated to occur at
12 random in the population with a frequency of approximately
13 one in 310 billion for African-Americans.

That's proof far

14 beyond a reasonable doubt.
15

That wasn't the only piece of evidence that

16 matched up with Kevin Cooper.
17 post-conviction DNA reports.

And those are outlined in the
However, when presented with

18 an issue so weighty as life or death, it is appropriate for
19 the Court to take another look at the evidence.

And so

20 obviously, the Ninth Circuit, presented on the eve of the
21 execution with a variety of information, elected to have
22 this Court condu'ct two additional tests.

And the Court has

23 then heard from approximately 40 witnesses additionally.
24

After reviewing all of that information, the Court

25 concludes that the two testing procedures that were done do
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1 not support actual innocence at all and do not" support the
2 claim of manipulation of the evidence.
3

First the mitochondrial DNA.

The Ninth Circuit

4 was unaware because of the time frame of the extensive
o~

5 workup by Doctor Edward Blake

the hair analysis, nor

6 because of the time frame involved was probably not aware
7 that. no one was contending that the hair in Jessica's hand
8 was hair from Kevin Cooper.

That could be done by

9 microscopically visual analysis and did not need the
10 mitochondrial DNA.
11

But nevertheless, the Court embarked upon the

12 mitochondrial DNA testing and received a tutorial on that
13 issue and then a report from Doctor Melton.

The theory was

14 that little Jessica Ryen somehow plucked her assailants hair
15 so that the roots from the assailant's hair should be in
16 existence in her hand.
17

We went beyond that.

The Court went beyond that

18 and actually then permitted mitochondrial DNA testing of 10
19 sample hairs picked by Doctor DeForest to try to pick the
20 best hairs for the mitochondrial DNA.

And at the suggestion

21 of Doctor Melton, Doctor Melton included a control sample.
22 The control sample was the dog hair with blood.
23 Significantly, why did she include a dog hair with blood?
24 Because she wanted to know if the test was being run
25 appropriately.

That comes into play further when we get
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1

into the EDTA testing.

2

So after the selection of the hair samples was

3 done and it was sent over to Doctor Melton for the
4 mitochondrial testing, she did the testing, sent a report to
5 the court, and the report says Jessica Ryen, Peggy Ryen and
6 Josh Ryen and their maternal relatives are not excluded as
7 the donors of all human hairs.

That's to be expected

8 because this was hair from -- hairs from their residence.
9 And so the theory that the assailant's root was available in
10 Jessica's hand has been refuted.
11
12 analysis.

So we've completed Phase 1, the mitochondrial hair
And while the Defense claimed that this would be

13 simple and cost-effective, technically the costs, which are
14 known to the Ninth Circuit, do not support the fact that
15 they are

that they are inexpensive in any respect.

For

16 10 hairs to be examined, it costs approximately $5,000 per
17 hair.
18

And so if -- if -- after all of Doctor Blake's

19 work and all of Doctor Melton's work, if the Ninth Circuit
20 deems it appropriate to do further hairs where no roots have
21 been identified, it should carefully weigh the cost benefit
22 to the results to be obtained.
23

Next we turn to the next issue that the Ninth

24 Circuit wanted the Court to go into, and that is the EDTA
25 testing.

Now, the Court does not believe that the Ninth
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1 Circuit, because of the time frame, appreciated that there
2 was a viable Daubert issue with respect to the EDTA testing.
3 One would think, with all of the DNA work that has been done
4 in the nation and with all of the cases that involve blood
5 or hair or other evidence, that there would be more than two
6 cases in the nation where EDTA testing has been admitted in
7 court.
8

Sadly, the standard that was used is the O.J.

9 Simpson trial.

And I have read the testimony from the O.J.

10 Simpson trial, and in the O.J. Simpson trial, one, there was
11 never any challenge on Kelly Fry, the State Court standard
12 to the admission of the evidence.

And two, even the person

13 who spoke talked about positive and negative controls.

And

14 there was resistance to the Court's suggestion of positive
15 and negative controls at the time the protocol was being
16 developed.
17

Nevertheless, over a three-month period, even

18 expanded if we talk about the tutorial and all of the
19 information that went into the development of the test, the
20 Court came up with an EDTA testing order.

The Court notes

21 that it directed counsel for Petitioner to come up with a
22 proposed protocol for anticoagulant testing, which was filed
23 with this Court on June 4th, 2004.
24

The Court invited the Respondent to respond, and

25 the Respondent indicated that the proposed protocol was way
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1 too overbroad.

The Court agreed with that.

And so the

2 Court then directed, after receiving the Respondent's
3 response, for the Petitioner to provide a revised protocol
4 for anticoagulant testing, which was done on July 13th.
5

The Court had a hearing concerning the proposal,

6 and also got a response from the Respondent on July 27th,
7 and then the Court issued an EDTA testing order on August
8 27th, 2004.
9

In these cases, it is common that the Petitioner

10 may want to do far more and the Respondent may want to do
11 far less, and it's up to the Court to then decide what is
12 appropriate and reasonable under these circumstances.
13

After hearing all of the information, the Court,

14 in good faith, adopted an EDTA testing order that it felt
15 would be sufficient for the Court's purposes.

And the Court

16 came up with that order, sent it out to counsel, had a
17 status conference with counsel concerning Doctor DeForest's
18 proposed schedule, found out that Doctor DeForest had some
19 time constraints, was willing to work with Doctor DeForest
20 on his time constraints.
21

The Court notes that Doctor DeForest, in a letter

22 of July 20, 2004 said, III believe the proposed protocol is
23 unusually detailed."

He does go further and says, "does not

24 more than" -- "and does that more than adequately, given the
25 uncertainty that exists until we actually see the T-shirt."
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1

Because Respondent

because Petitioner's theory

2 is that any blood that shows up on the T-shirt that is Kevin
3 Cooper's blood must have been planted, the Court elected to
4 start with one area rather than test 20 areas, only to -- 20
5 or 30 or however many areas, pick one area and see what the
6 results are, without prejudice to a request for further
7 testing.
8

So we were -- we were ready to do that when I

9 received a letter from Doctor DeForest September 3 that
10 says, "Unless I have the freedom and flexibility to design a
11 sampling protocol in conjunction with the criminalist
12 representing the prosecution, I do not wish to continue.
13

II

We then had a status conference -- held a status

14 conference and substituted in Selmark, a reputable national
15 lab that actually Mr. Alexander had contacted earlier on in
16 the proceeding to do the extraction process.
17

Selmark and Steve Myers then proceeded to do the

18 EDTA testing, and the area that had been selected by the
19 Court, 6-G, was not available for testing.

Petitioner

20 then -- the Court then directed Selmark and Doctor Myers,
21 Steven Myers -- he's not doctor

to come up with an

22 additional area to test, which was done, blind testing, half
23 sent to Doctor Siuzdak, half sent to Doctor Ballard, and to
24 do it in a blind fashion so that the vials were coded so
25 that neither side would know who got what stain.
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1

Plus, of the -- there was the stain area, five

2 control areas, and then a positive and negative control, a
3 T-shirt -- separate T-shirt where purple top to -- EDTA
4 blood was planted on the shirt, and a shirt where there was
5 no blood whatsoever, and a blank reagent.

The blank reagent

6 is significant for the results that we received because it
7 was a given, a standard that the blank reagent has no EDTA
8 in it.
9

This is where Doctor Melton's procedure was very

10 helpful because she said, "I want to have a dog hair.
11 not supposed to find a dog hair.

I'm

If I find a dog hair in my

12 testing, then I may know that I've got a problem with my
13 testing."

And so when the results went out for the testing

14 to be done both by Doctor.Siuzdak and Doctor Ballard, they
15 did their results, sent them to the Court.

And

16 unfortunately, Doctor Siuzdak's had EDTA in the blank
17 reagent.
18 is flawed.

So obviously, Doctor Siuzdak's testing procedure
It'S a given.

It's -- there can't be EDTA in

19 the blank reagent.
20

Doctor Ballard's, as we've now clarified, his

21 results are expressed in nanograms per milliliter.
22 tutorial, he talked about nanograms per microliter.

At the
The

23 significance of that is that the numbers actually have to be
24 divided by 1,000, so they come down to even lower levels
25 than were given before.
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1

But I took a look at the chart by Doctor Lee of

2 the results of the EDTA testing, and this is without
3 reference to the concentrations.
4 you to the chart.

The -- and I can reference

It does not show any tampering.

And so

5 we took. the protocol as given by Petitioner as represented
6 to be a very easy test to do and have found that, one, would
7 not be so easy, but two, there are significant potential
8 problems with the contamination.
9

And so it's only been admitted in two cases.

I

10 don't think that this Court wants the standard to be the
11 O.J. Simpson case.

But nevertheless, the Court has then on

12 the merits concluded that the planting theory is not
13 supported by the EDTA testing results.

Alternatively, now

14 that the Court has been familiar with this for over a year,
15 the Court alternatively feels very strongly that in the
16 context of this case, that the EDTA testing does not meet
17 the standards for Daubert.

Two places in the United States,

18 inadequate peer review, Doctor Ballard wanting to keep his
19 protocol secret.

And so the Court concludes that there is a

20 Daubert problem with the scientific reliability.
21

And how interesting how these cases begin and end,

22 because the original judge who had this case, my beloved
23 colleague Judge Gillam, was the trial judge on the Daubert
24 case.

And when he got ill and passed away, I then inherited

25 the Cooper case.

And so the Court concludes that there is a
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1 significant problem.
2

Now, separately on the issue of 841, I did not

3 make up the testimony that A-41 was very minute or almost
4 consumed.

I can take judicial notice of that finding by the

5 California Supreme Court and its

d~cision

way, way, way

6 before any issue concerning EDTA testing was going to be
7 developed.

The California Supreme Court opinion notes that

8 A-41 has a very minute amount.

The notes that are done f+om

9 the post-conviction testing also note that it was dry
10 powder.

And this was done prior to anyone being concerned

11 about how are we going to do testing on A-41.
12

And so -- then finally, the Court believes that

13 given the small amount, the Court is -- and the destructive
14 testing that is involved, the Court does not believe that
15 it's appropriate under the record that we have now to
16 subject A-41 to unproven junk science.
17

Now, can theoretically EDTA be tested?

Yes.

I

18 think we all agreed on that, and we went out and tried to do
19 it, and we came back with the results that don't support
20 Petitioner's theory.

Now, maybe in hindsight, had the Court

21 been told that perhaps in the control areas we could do
22 presumptive blood testing, perhaps that would have been
23 something I would have included, had it ever been suggested
24 to the Court.
25

But it wasn't suggested to the Court.

And this was a process that was developed on our
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1 adversarial level from the Court asking counsel in
2 consultation with their scientists to develop.

And I do

3 believe the record will reflect that Mr. Alexander
4 represented to the Court that he had been in contact with
5 Doctor Blake concerning the development of this protocol, I
6 believe, and that certainly the Court would have expected
7 I do recall that we had an issue concerning the appropriate
8 solution to use because Doctor Siuzdak wanted one kind and
9 Doctor Ballard wanted a different kind, and we had to corne
10 up with -- Doctor Siuzdak's initial proposal had to be
11 revised.

Now, that was in consultation with the experts.

12 That wasn't done by lawyers.

I can assure the parties of

13 that.
14

And so on the two tests that we've done, they've

15 been done.
16 more tests.

Obviously, Petitioner wants many, many, many
Respondent wants no more tests.

The Court

17 believes under the status of the record at this time,
18 further EDTA testing or this
19 is not warranted.

or any other type of testing

Specifically on the citric acid, the

20 Court notes that there was no collection of blood prior to
21 2002, and the DNA testing was done before that time, so
22 there'S really no reason to go into that.

And even perhaps

23 more importantly, it's never been admitted in any trial.

So

24 the Court declines to do further testing, and all further
25 testing requests are denied.
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1

Then we've also had the benefit of many people

2 that have testified, an interesting collection of witnesses,
3 I must say.

The -- on the issue of the shoes, the Court

4 notes that in the answer, Exhibit 81, the Court notes that
5 Midge Carroll phoned David Negus, the trial counsel, and
6 that his trial notes indicated subpoena for 9-23-83.
7 was the trial.

That

Midge Carroll, superintendent of CIM, and

8 Regina Stevens, ClM, plus Sergeant Billy Arthur.

And then

9 the further notes indicate exaggerations about the prison
10 tennis shoes.
11

So I think it is an overstatement to conclude that

12 the testimony that the Court has now received -- it
13 indicates a material Brady issue or a material problem with
14 prosecutorial misconduct.
15 evidence.

The shoe contracts are in

They are expensive.

And the jury had them that

16 would show that it was not just exclusively from CIM or
17 correctional institutions, but these are the actual shoe
18 contracts concerning the Keds Corporation.
19

The legal standard for whether the Court concludes

20 that there is a problem with a misstatement to the jury
21 about the state of the evidence has been addressed by the
22 United States Supreme Court.

And under that standard, even

23 if there was a technical misstatement by counsel at final
24 argument about whether these shoes theoretically could have
25 been available on a nationwide basis, the Court does not
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1 believe that it meets the standard for reversal.
2

The Court also comments that Midge Carroll gave

3 all of her information to Petitioner in 1998.

So for her to

4 come and appear to the public as if this was brand new
5 information on the eve of the execution was inaccurate.

The

6 evidence elicited from her at our hearing indicates that she
7 saw an article.

The only article that is in all of

the

8 article concerning the shoes that was in her notebooks that
9 she so meticulously kept referenced,
10 be same kind."

"Shoe prints appear to

And it said that they were prison issue.

11 And she said at the time that she thought that they were

12 trying to contend that these were prison manufactured, and
13 they were clearly not prison manufactured, and that she did
14 an investigation.
15

Now, she didn't personally do any

inves~igation.

16 The Court does note with interest that, out of all of the
17 meticulous notebooks that she kept, there was nothing by her
18 to indicate that she made any phone call to anyone on the
19 prosecution team, and it's clear from the records that she
20 did call the Defense.
21

If this -- if this article of December 12th, 1984

22 was material, the Court also notes that on December 15th,
23 Mr. Forbush is at the institution talking to individuals to
24 undermine the testimony or anticipated testimony of James
25 Taylor.

And so he was there at the institution.

Nobody was
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1 hiding anything from Mr. Forbush, Mr. Negus or the Defense
2 team.
3

And then on the -- if a prosecutor makes an

4 inappropriate statement, the Supreme Court has held that
5 inappropriate statements by a prosecuting attorney,

6 particularly during closing argument, are covered under
7 Donnelly vs. D. Cristofaro, 416 U.S. 637, 1974.
8

Improper jury arguments by the State do not

9 present a claim of constitutional magnitude unless it is' so
10 prejudicial that petitioner's trial was rendered
11 fundamentally unfair within the meaning of the Fourth
12 Amendment due process clause.

In this instance, given the

13 fact -- the way that the testimony was presented, Mr.
14 Newberry focused on the California Correctional Institutions
15 actually getting the Pro Ked Dude cases -- shoes.

That's

16 confirmed by the contracts, and that's -- it was a
17 credibility issue for the jury to weigh the testimony of
18 I believe it was Mr. Mason -- over the testimony of Mr.
19 Taylor.
20

Next, on the issue of the other individuals from

21 the institution that testified.
22 believe her name is Donnie.
23 warrant.

What a nice individual.

I

She's the one that missed the

The warrant, the detainer was in the file for

24 Kevin Cooper.

He, of course, lied about his name and was

25 convicted of or was arrested for burglary in Los Angeles
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1 under the name of David Troutman, but the. detainer was
2 actually lodged in the file saying David Troutman, aka Kevin
3 Cooper, and the detainer actually said that he was under a
4 custodial arrangement for the rape, kidnap, mayhem, making
5 terrorist threats out of Pennsylvania.
6

He had brutally raped an individual in

7 Pennsylvania, when all she did, just like Christopher
8 Hughes, was come to a house looking for a friend.

And he,

9 who was there to rob -- to take the vehicle, had a
10 screwdriver, trying to hot-wire the car, but instead decided
11 to kidnap this young teen, take her out to an abandoned
12 area, a wooded park, brutally rape her with a screwdriver
13 held to her head threatening to kill her.
14
15 of CIM.

Now, tragically, this information was in the file
And so obviously, this nice institutional

16 corrections person who examined him who missed this document
17 in their file would naturally hopefully want somebody else
18 to be responsible other than putting the burden on her or
19 her institution for the institutional failure to properly
20 classify Mr. Kevin Cooper as a security threat.
21

Remember that David Negus testified at the first

22 evidentiary hearing that Mr. Cooper, including the escape
23 from CIM and the hospital, mental hospital in Pennsylvania,
24 had actually escaped approximately 12 times from custody.
25

So the Court has heard the information about the

Echo Reporting, Inc.

177
1 individual wanting further clarification about the
2 chiropractic break-in.

In the evidentiary hearing, the

3 Court heard from the Defense investigator that actually
4 explored that earlier and concluded that there was no true
5 similarity to this incident.

And so the Court believes that

6 her testimony does not warrant habeas relief.
7

We heard -testimony from another individual who

8 testified that an inmate perhaps had information about some
9 people in San Bernardino, but the Court is satisfied that
10 his testimony is incorrect.

His recollection is obviously

11 flawed because he claimed that two other people were there
12 at the time, and we heard the testimony from the other
13 people, and they wouldn't -- they couldn't possibly have
14 been there at the time.

So while well-meaning, his

15 information is obviously incorrect and not sufficient to
16 support a change by this Court of a valid State Court
17 conviction.
18

Next, the Canyon Corral Bar patrons.

We heard a

19 variety of witnesses in this respect, and one will-never
20 really know what happened going back 23 years.

It's -- for

21 those people that did not come forward at the time,
22 obviously there's dramatic conflicts in their own testimony.
23 The motivations for one wishing to call Arnie, namely the
24 Governor, after reading about this information, can be
25 questioned.
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1

But nevertheless, the Court concludes that because

2 the post-conviction DNA evidence and other trial evidence so
3 strongly implicate Kevin Cooper, that nothing about somebody
4 showing up at a bar with some blood on their shirt
5 necessarily means that they then brutally murdered this
6 family when Kevin Cooper was next door and was at the Ryen
7 residence and had the murder weapon.
8

So while the

test~mony

has been interesting, the

9 Court also gives the most weight to those people who were
10 there at the time, the bartender who testified at trial and
11 then who testified at post-conviction proceeding right
12 before he's going into major surgery for lung cancer.

He

13 has absolutely no motivation to distort or change his
14 testimony, and the Court concluded that his testimony was
15 very credible.
16

Similarly, the waitress who actually waited on the

17 bar patrons.

The Court finds that their testimony is

18 that her testimony is very credible.
19

With respect to the other individuals, the Court

20 concludes, while interesting, there are conflicts in their
21 testimony, and the Court concludes that it does not amount
22 to a Brady violation and does not amount to any
23 constitutional issue that would warrant habeas relief.
24

I mentioned the issue about the chiropractic

25 office, and that's been covered.
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On the issue of the claim of contamination of the

1

2 evidence, the Court turns to the coveralls.

The coveralls

3 were brought in extensively at the time of the pretrial and
4 trial.

The trial judge had the opportunity to see Mr.

5 Eckley's testimony.

And in a capital case, even after the

6 jury returns a capital sentence, the trial judge then has to
7 separately weigh whether the capital sentence is warranted.
8
9 trial.

He heard Deputy Eckley testify at the time of
And the fact that there is a disposition report,

10 later we brought in the individual whose initials were on
11 it, and he didn't

suppor~

Petitioner's theory that he

12 conspired with Deputy Eckley to then dispose of the
13 property.
14

Now, do I wish that we would have retained this

15 property?

Obviously.

16 property available.
17 knew of it.

It would be better to have the
It was disposed of, and the trial judge

The Defense knew of it.

And the credibility of

18 Mr. Eckley was pursued in front of a jury, who could then
19 evaluate whether his testimony made any sense or sounded
20 convincing to them.

And obviously, it was not sufficient

21 reasonable doubt for the jury to have disregarded all the
22 other evidence that was placed in front of them.

So as to

23 the bloody coveralls, the Court denies any request for
24 habeas relief.
25

The Court also notes that it was -- there's some
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1 ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised in the last
2 three grounds of the claims.

Mr. Negus was extraordinarily

3 effective and was very good.

He knew about Diana Roper.

4 knew about the coveralls.

He

Wouldn't it be better for him

5 strategically to question the deputy who destroyed the
6 evidence at the time of the preliminary hearing and had the
7 jury evaluate that testimony as opposed to putting on a meth
8 addict, Diana Roper, who had been jilted by her boyfriend,
9 Lee Furrow, when Lee Furrow was -- had an alibi at a rock
10 concert?
11
12 on.

She might not be the most credible witness.to put
That's a strategy call that every trial counsel has to

13 make, and he made a strategy call at that time that Eckley's
14 testimony, destruction of evidence by the San Bernardino
15 Sheriff's Office was probably the best way to go.
And so Diana Roper is not available.

16
17 deceased.
18 testimony.

She's

There were significant problems with her
The Court declines to find any ineffective

19 assistance of counsel because of anything that Mr. Negus did

20 or didn't do.

21

Similarly, on not connecting the bloody coveralls

22 to Mr. Furrow, remember A-41 is an African-American blood
23 type.

So that Lee Furrow is not African-American.

The

24 overwhelming proof confirmed by the post-conviction DNA
25 testing indicates that Kevin Cooper is responsible for these
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1 murders.
2

I will issue a memorandum decision that will cover

3 in more detail the information that the Court has elicited.
4 The Court again wants to compliment the law firm of Orrick,
5 Herrington, David Alexander, Mr. Hile, Ali Kazemi that have
6 put so much of your time and effort into this presentation
7 and into this case.
8

As I said, the issue of capital -- capital case

9 determination, that's a very serious one that's debated at a
10 policy level by many people.
11 death penalty.
12 trial judge.

Many people are opposed to the

Many people like the death penalty.
I express no opinion on it.

I am a

I have given

13 considerable thought to the issue of lingering doubt.

Now,

14 in -- this, on your briefing further to the Ninth Circuit,
15 may be examined in more detail.
16

Now, Ms. Wilkens says that the issue of lingering

17 doubt is not available to change or commute the penalty
18 phase, execution into life without parole.

And I considered

19 whether the cumulative nature of the various things that
20 have been raised are sufficient to then have this Court make
21 a determination that under the Doctrine of Lingering Doubt,
22 penalty phase doctrine, where the evidence is not -- the
23 evidence of doubt is not sufficient to avoid a guilt
24

conviction~

whether the penalty should be reduced to life

25 without. parole.
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1

The Court concludes under the law, that the Court

2 has taken an oath to apply that it is not up to the Court to
3 make up new law.

And so the Court believes that under the

4 lingering doubt theory, at present, that's inadequate for
5 this Court to substitute a judgment of a valid State Court
6 judgment that has concluded that the death penalty is
7 appropriate for Mr. Cooper.
8

I do recognize that the victims who came today are

9 technically under the federal law -- it's not mandated or
10 it's analogous they're not required to speak.

But I did

11 think for completion of the record, it is helpful for any
12 reviewing court to at least hear their statements about
13 their views of the matter.

And so the Court recognizes your

14 objections, but believes that because it's a case of major
15 importance, that it's appropriate to give the victims a say.
16 And it was not a significant period of time, but it does
17 complete the record for the reviewing court.
18

So in sum, the Court concludes that it denies the

19 supplemental habeas petition, reaffirms the capital case
20 judgment and denies all pending additional requests.
21

As far as the discovery request to the State

22 Court, the Respondent may take the position that that is a
23 moot point, given the current procedural status of this
24 because nothing is pending before them, and the Ninth
25 Circuit would then simply be reviewing the record of this
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1 Court.
The Court will corne out with a written order.

2

And

3 I again want to thank all of the parties for participating
4 in this important procedure.
5

Thank you.

We're in recess.

(Proceedings concluded.)
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